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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENT S

This Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the “Magment’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” section imit& of this report, and other materials accompagytms Annual
Report orForm 10-K contain forwardeoking statements within the meaning of and safedr provided by Sectic
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as daterand Section 27A of the Securities Act of 188&mended.
We attempt, whenever possible, to identify theseafal- looking statements by words such as “intehtisill,”
“plans,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “may,” “estimates,” “believes,” “should,” “projects,” or “continue,” or the
negative of those words and other comparable w@dsilarly, statements that describe our businésgegy,
goals, prospects, opportunities, outlook, objecjy@ans or intentions are also forwelooking statements. These
statements may relate to, but are not limited xpeetations of future operating results or finahgarformance,
capital expenditures, introduction of new producégjulatory compliance, plans for growth, expeatednomic
conditions, and future operations, as well as agstions relating to the foregoing.

”ou

These statements are based on current expectatimhassumptions regarding future events and busines
performance and involve known and unknown risksetainties and other factors that may cause actwants ol
results to be materially different from any futeneents or results expressed or implied by thederstents. These
factors include those set forth in the followingalission and within Item 1“Risk Factors” of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K and elsewhere within this report.

You should not place undue reliance on these fa@oking statements, which apply only as of the détais
Annual Report olForm 10-K. You should carefully review the risktéas described in other documents that we file
from time to time with the U.S. Securities and Bxgfe Commission, or SEC. Except as required byicgipe law,
including the rules and regulations of the SEC,deenot plan to publicly update or revise any forddwoking
statements, whether as a result of any new infaomatuture events or otherwise, other than throtigi filing of
periodic reports in accordance with the Securitie&change Act of 1934, as amenc




PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

We provide a leading digital marketing intelligemtatform that helps our customers make betterrmésl
business decisions and implement more effectivigadligusiness strategies. Our products and solsitidfer our
customers deep insights into consumer behavidydimg objective, detailed information regardinggs of their
online properties and those of their competitoosipted with information on consumer demographiaatiristics,
attitudes, lifestyles and offline behavior.

Our digital marketing intelligence platform is coriged of proprietary databases and a computational
infrastructure that measures, analyzes and reporthgital activity. The foundation of our platforimdata collected
from our comScore panel of approximately two millimternet users worldwide, which is comprised efgons and
households with at least one computer being agtivelasured by us within the previous thirty-dayigubthat have
granted us explicit permission to confidentiallyasare their Internet usage patterns, online artdinasffline
buying behavior and other activities. By applyimtyanced statistical methodologies to our panel, deggproject
consumers’ online behavior for the total online gplagion and a wide variety of user categories. Beigig in
Summer 2009, the panel information has been congitad by comScore Media Metrix 360, a “Unified Dadi
Measurementsolution to digital audience measurement that ldgrahel and server methodologies into an app!
that provided a direct linkage and reconciliati@vieen server and panel measurement.

We deliver our digital marketing intelligence thgéuour comScore Media Metrix product family andotigh
our comScore Marketing Solutions products. MedidarMaelivers digital media intelligence by prowvigj an
independent, third-party measurement of the sigkabior and characteristics of Web site and ordiheertising
network audiences among home, work, mobile andeusity Internet users as well as insight into tfiectiveness
of online advertising. Our Marketing Solutions puats combine the proprietary information gatheredifthe
comScore panel with the vertical industry expertifeomScore analysts to deliver digital marketimglligence,
including the measurement of online advertising@&ffeness, customized for specific industries.tyyecally
deliver our Media Metrix products electronicallytire form of weekly, monthly or quarterly repoi@istomers can
access current and historical Media Metrix dataamalyze these data anytime online. Our Marketinigtfdns
products are typically delivered on a monthly, geidy or ad hoc basis through electronic report @malyses.

Industry Background
Growth of Digital Commerce, Content, Advertising difCommunications

The Internet is a global digital medium for comnegrcontent, advertising and communications. Accay do
IDC, more than 1.6 billion devices worldwide wesed to access the Internet in 2009, including Rhile
phones, and online videogame consoles. By 2013pthknumber of devices accessing the Interngtdfected to
increase to more than 2.7 billion. As the onlinpydation continues to grow, the Internet is inciegly becoming a
tool for research and commerce and for distribuéind consuming media. According to eMarketer, tobaj
business-to-consumer eCommerce market is projéctgbw from approximately $600 billion in 2007 $%.1
trillion in 2011. According to Jupiter Research%86f online users in the United States researdmefpurchases
using the Internet, making the Internet an impdrté@annel for both online and offline merchantsn€loners are
also using the Internet to access an increasingiatd digital content across media formats inahgdvideo, music
text and games. According to IDC, global onlineeddevenue is expected to reach $12 billion by 2@4th more
than $9 billion coming from the U.S. market.

As consumers increasingly use the Internet to rekeend make purchases and to consume digital media
advertisers are shifting more of their marketingdpets to digital channels. Despite the size and/tjrof the digital
marketing sector, the shift of traditional adventigspending to the Internet has yet to match ate of consumption
of online media. According to Forrester Researgoretitied “U.S. Interactive Marketing Forecast,

2009-2014,” interactive marketing is projected &an$55 billion, representing 21% of all marketspgnd in 2014
as marketers are expected to shift dollars away fraditional media and toward search marketingpldiy




advertising, email marketing, social media, and ilealarketing. As advertisers spend more of theirkating
budgets to reach Internet users, we believe tigitatimarketing will continue to grow.

In addition to the growth in online commerce, comt@nd marketing, a number of new digital techn@s@nd
devices are emerging that enable users to accatnt@nd communicate in new ways. Internet-enatoieklile
phones allow users to access digital content ssigames, music, video and news on their mobilecdsvihrough a
wireless connection to the Internet. By 2013, ID&tasts that worldwide shipments of converged laalgvices,
also known as smartphones, will surpass 390 millioits, growing at a compound annual growth rate09% for
the 2009-2013 forecast period. Other digital comications technologies such as voice over Internabpol
(VolP) utilize the Internet network infrastructumeenable efficient and cosffective personal communications si
as chat and VolP-based telephony. According tonlefies, the worldwide number of VolP subscribengrigected
to exceed 225 million by 2013. Delivery of digitalevision services over a network infrastructusang Internet
Protocol, or IPTV, has a number of advantages owrventional television, including two-way commuations,
digital content and features, and interactivitycéiding to Infonetics, the worldwide number of IPEWbscribers is
projected to grow to 155 million by 2013. We bebdhese and other new digital media and communitsitilevice
and services offer a similar opportunity as thennét for us to measure and analyze user behavior.

Importance of Digital Marketing Intelligence

The interactive nature of digital media such asltiternet on computers and mobile devices enahlsmesses
to access a wealth of user information that wasiaily unavailable through offline audience meamest and
marketing intelligence techniques. Digital mediayide businesses with the opportunity to measutaildd user
activity, such as how users interact with Web pag@ent; to assess how users respond to onlineeatirggk such as
which online ads users click on to pursue a traim#cand to analyze how audiences and user beheeiopare
across various Web sites. This type of detailed data can be combined with demographic, attitudind
transactional information to develop a deeper ustdading of user behavior, attributes and prefergndnlike
offline media such as television and radio, whiehegyally only allow for the passive measuremenmelzitive
audience size, digital media enable businessestitely understand the link between digital contealvertising an
user behavior.

We believe that the growth in the online and digitedia markets for digital commerce, content, atisiag
and communications creates an unprecedented opgrtar businesses to acquire a deeper understgrafiboth
their customers and their competitive market positBusinesses can use accurate, relevant andiobjduital
marketing intelligence to develop and validate &gtegies and improve performance. For exampkb, avdeep
understanding of the size, demographic compos#imhother characteristics of its audience, an erdontent
provider can better communicate the value of iience to potential advertisers. With detailed mston the
effectiveness of an online advertising campaigntaona that campaign influences online and offlinechasing
behavior, a business can refine its marketingaitiés. With insight into market share and custobsdravior and
preferences, a business can understand not onlythaligital business is performing relative todtsmpetitors but
also the drivers behind such performance. Moredmetising the appropriate digital marketing ingaince,
businesses can refine their digital content, corsmeadvertising and communications initiativesribance the
effectiveness and return on investment of theirket@mg spending, enabling them to build more susfeés
businesses.

Challenges in Providing Digital Marketing Intelligece

While the interactive and dynamic nature of digitedrkets creates the opportunity for businessgaitodeep
insights into user behavior and competitive stagdihere are a number of issues unique to thenate¢hat make it
challenging for companies to provide digital maimgtintelligence. Compared to offline media suchedsvision or
radio, the markets for digital media are signifittamore fragmented, complex and dynamic. As of &eber 31,
2009, we believe that there were approximately A@global Web sites that each receive at leas0B00ynique
visitors per month, as compared to only a few heddhannels typically available with standard digiable or
satellite television and broadcast or satelliteaatihe complexities of online user activity ané tireadth of digital




content and advertising make providing digital nedirkg intelligence a technically challenging anghty data-
intensive process.

Digital media continues to develop at a rapid paoe includes numerous formats such as textual ognte
streaming and downloadable video and music, instestsaging, VolP telephony, online gaming and erbigjital
advertising also includes multiple formats suclliaplay, search, rich media and video. Detailed as#vity such
as viewing, clicking or downloading various compotseof a Web page across digital media or intamngatiith
various advertising formats creates a substantiauat of data that must be captured on a continbasss. The da
must also be cleansed for quality, relevancy angpy protection and be organized to enable congsatioi obtain
relevant digital marketing intelligence. This cagtof audience data can prove extremely challengimen it
involves millions of Internet users with varyingndegraphic characteristics accessing tens of thalssahiWeb site
across diverse geographies. In addition, the omggdé@velopment of digital media programming langsaayed
technologies contributes to the challenge of adelyraneasuring user activity. For example, onlinéljshers and
advertisers have started to use Asynchronous Jepa8ond XML, or AJAX, a development technique thdows
Web applications to quickly make incremental upsatéhout having to refresh the entire Web pagmrRo
AJAX, marketers relied heavily on page view statssto plan and evaluate their online media spaepghograms.
With AJAX, we believe marketers are beginning tesfion the definition of, and need for, page vieavs] are
seeking alternative metrics for measuring the usagkeffectiveness of online media. To maintairir thedevance,
audience and media measurement technologies megstdexe with the continued evolution and increasing
complexity of digital media.

Need for Accuracy and ReliabilityRelevant digital marketing intelligence requieegess to accurate and
reliable global data that measure online user igtiExisting data collection methodologies, indhuglthose that
rely on third party sources, surveys or panels fgnificant challenges and limitations. Surveypanel
methodologies must measure a sufficiently largerapdesentative sample size of Internet usersdorately
capture data that is statistically projectablehlbroader Internet population. In addition, thterinational
composition of Internet audiences requires a getucally dispersed sample to accurately capturbajldigital
activity. Digital marketing intelligence that demksnon third-party sources to obtain Internet autbamsage data has
the potential to be biased, may be constrainethéylata that the third party is capable of capgyr@amd may be
limited in its application. For example, a solutibiat relies on data supplied by an Internet serpiovider, or ISP,
may show a bias toward the demographic composditiather characteristics of that ISP’s users. Wiebe that a
meaningful digital media sourcing methodology miesbased on data sourced from a large, representitibal
sample of online users that can be parsed, enhamieed and analyzed; must evolve rapidly and exsilfle to
adapt to changing technologies; and must be aljeotdde actionable digital marketing intelligertbat can be ust
to improve business decision-making.

Need for Third-Party Objectivity.We believe that the availability of objectiverthiparty data that measure
digital audience size, behavior, demographic aftithdinal characteristics represents a key fagtahe continued
growth of digital content, advertising and commefas is similar to offline media markets, suchelsvision and
radio, whose development was significantly enharmyethe introduction of third-party audience measoent
ratings that provided a basis for the pricing ofextising in those media. As the buying and selbhgnline
advertising continues to grow, we believe that camgs on both sides of the advertising transaatidin
increasingly seek third-party marketing intelligerio assess the value and effectiveness of digidia. In
addition, as advertisers work with Web site puldishto target online advertising campaigns to reaspecific
demographic or behavioral user profile, the neeafgective audience and user information, unbidsedither
party to the transaction, will become increasirigiportant.

Need for Competitive Informationln addition to the scope, complexity and rapidlation of online digital
media, the lack of data on competitors makes ficdit for companies to gain a comprehensive vidwser
behavior beyond their own digital businesses. Wiiteducts and tools exist that enable companiesderstand
user activity on their own Web sites, these proslaceé unable to provide a view of digital audieactvity on other
Web sites or offline. In order for publishers, mateks, merchants and service providers to bemefit ficcurate and
comprehensive digital marketing intelligence thegd to understand user activity on Web sites atcheskternet
and how online consumer behavior translates irftmefactions.




The comScore Digital Marketing Intelligence Platfom

We provide a leading digital marketing intelligenaatform that enables our customers to devise and
implement more effective digital business strateg®@ur platform is comprised of proprietary datasssnd a
computational infrastructure that measures, analgpel reports digital activity from our global pbok
approximately two million Internet users. This plinéormation is complemented by a Unified Digitdeasuremer
solution to digital audience measurement. Unifiegital Measurement blends panel and server metlogits into
solution that provides a direct linkage and reckatton between server and panel measurement. ée adir
customers deep insights into consumer behavioh@n éwn online properties and those of their cotibqes,
including objective, detailed information on usatemographic characteristics, attitudes, lifestgied multi-
channel buying activity. We also provide industpesific metrics to our customers.

We deliver our digital marketing intelligence thgbuour comScore Media Metrix product family, comf&co
Marketing Solutions products and mobile media mesment products. Media Metrix provides intelligerce
digital media usage, including a measurement osibe behavior and characteristics of the audefareindividual
Web sites and advertising networks within the gldtzeme, work and university Internet user populadias well as
insight into the effectiveness of online advertisi®ur Marketing Solutions products combine theppegary
information gathered from our user panel with teetical industry expertise of comScore analystdeiver digital
marketing intelligence customized for specific intties. Media Metrix and Marketing Solutions protuare
typically delivered electronically in the form oépodic reports, through customized analyses oganerally
available online via a user interface on the com&bdeb site.

Key attributes of our platform include:

< Panel of global Internet user Our ability to provide digital marketing intelbgce is based on information
continuously gathered from a broad cross-secticappfoximately two million Internet users worldwidéo
have granted us explicit permission to confidehtialeasure their Internet usage patterns, onligkecantain
offline buying behavior and other activities. Thghuour proprietary technology, we measure detdilesine
audience activity across the spectrum of digitatent and marketing channels. Many comScore paselis
also participate in online survey research thaturap and integrates demographic, attitudinalstyie and
product preference information with Internet bebawdata. The global nature of our Internet panabées us
to provide digital marketing intelligence for ov@0 individual countries. Our global capability ialwable to
companies based in international markets as wedl awulti-national companies that want to better
understand their global Internet audiences anéffieetiveness of their global digital businessiatives. Thit
panel information is complemented by a Unified BigMeasurement solution to digital audience
measurement. Unified Digital Measurement blendspand server methodologies into a solution that
provides a direct linkage and reconciliation betwserver and panel measurem:

» Census data collection and measureme@®ur Unified Digital Measurement solution combimpamel
measurement of people and audience demographicawitmprehensive and accurate representatiore of th
consumption of a site’s media, which is accomplishg site owners including comScore “beacons” or
reporting pixels on all of their site content. Cesisneasurement using web beacons reports evegr st
that the site owner would register from all loca@nd devices, allows for full representationhefse
audiences and devices, and fully reconciles Meditrid site audience measurement with publisherterna
server logs or web analytics metri

» Scalable technology infrastructureWe developed our databases and computationabindicture to support
the growth in online activity among our global Imtet panel and the increasing complexity of digitahtent
formats, advertising channels and communicationiegions. The design of our technology infrastuuetis
based on distributed processing and data captuimaments that allow for the collection and orgaation
of vast amounts of data on online activity, inchglusage of proprietary networks such as AOL, irtsta
messaging and audio and video streaming. Our degdhfrastructure currently captures approximately
11.7 billion URL records each week from our glolmdérnet panel, resulting in over 52 billion URLrsdse52
terabytes of data collected by our platform eacintind/Ne believe that our efficient and scalabldétedogy
infrastructure allows us to operate and expandata collection infrastructure or




cost-effective basis. In recognition of the scdleur data collection and warehousing technology have
received multiple awards, including the 2001, 2@6d 2005 Winter Corporation Grand Prize for Databas
Size on a Windows NT Platforr

« In addition to the ability to scale linearly andig&ntly in processing panel based data, we h#s@ added
the ability to scale quickly and efficiently in tkapport of our Media Metrix 360 effort. In ApriD@9, we
were capturing more than 10 billion tracking evgrgs month outside of the panel. In January 20E0, w
captured more than 193 billion tracking events idetsf the panel to support the processing for édetrix
360. While supporting this large growth in trackiements we also reduced the processing time foredaig
this data to our clients in our comScore Direct webrface to a few hours after event recordal

Benefits of our platform include:

« Advanced digital marketing intelligenc We use our proprietary technology to compile \amsbunts of data
on Internet user activity and to organize the dattadiscrete, measurable elements that can betased
provide actionable insights to our customers. Weebe that our digital marketing intelligence ptatin
enables companies to gain a deeper understandthgiofligital audiences, which allows them to éett
assess and improve their company and product-gpeoifnpetitive position. Because our marketing
intelligence is based on a large sample of glomt@rhet users and can incorporate melignnel transaction
data, we are able to provide companies with anrrgthunderstanding of digital audience activitydoaly
their own Web sites and the ability to better assles link between digital marketing and offlineuactivity.
Digital content providers, marketers, advertisiggrecies, merchants and service providers can ase th
insights our platform provides to craft improvedrketing campaigns and strategies and to measure the
effectiveness and return on investment of theiitalignitiatives.

» Objective third-party resource for digital markeagimtelligence. We are an independent company that is not
affiliated with the digital businesses we measure analyze, allowing us to serve as an objectiird-{barty
provider of digital marketing intelligence. Becaumesinesses use our data to plan and evaluateithbgse
and sale of online advertising and to measure ffleeteveness of digital marketing, it is importahtat we
provide unbiased data, marketing intelligence, respand analyses. We deploy advanced statistical
methodologies in building and maintaining the coo8global Internet user panel and utilize provetad
capture, and computational practices in collectiatistically projecting, aggregating and analgzin
information regarding online user activity. We ek that our approach ensures that the insigh{srawgde
are as objective as possible and allows us toefgtitxoducts and services that are of value to ostoeers it
their key business decision-making. We believe tih@tmedia industry views us as a highly recognazsd
credible resource for digital marketing intelligen&or example, between January 1, 2009 and Decediibe
2009, our information on digital activity was citetbre than 113,000 times by third-party media dsitlan
average of approximately 311 citations per day. @ia are regularly cited by well-known media astle
such as the Associated Press, Reuters, BloombBCCThe New York Times and The Wall Street Joul
Moreover, many of the leading Wall Street investhizgamks also purchase and cite our data in thdilighec
research reports prepared by financial analystscthaer Internet businesst

« Vertical industry expertise.We have developed expertise across a varietydofstries to provide digital
marketing intelligence specifically tailored to theeds of our customers operating in specific itrgius
sectors. We have dedicated personnel to addresaitbmotive, consumer packaged goods, entertainment
financial services, media, pharmaceutical, retadhnology, telecommunications and travel secites.
believe that companies across different industraage distinct information and marketing intelligermeeds
related to understanding their digital audienceslauyers, evaluating marketing initiatives and ustinding
company or product-specific competitive positionr Example, a pharmaceutical company may want to
understand how online research by consumers infkenew prescriptions for a particular drug, while
financial services company may want to assessftbetigeness of its online advertising campaignsigning
up new consumers and how this compares to thetefibits competitors. By working with companies in
various industries over the course of multiple geare have developed industry-specific applicatimfinsur
data and our client service representatives haveldiged industry-specific knowledge and expertise t
allow us to deliver relevant and meaningful mangtinsight to our customet




Ease of use and functionalit The comScore digital marketing intelligence matf is designed to be easy
use by our customers. Our Media Metrix productsaaglable through the Internet using a standaogvber.
Media Metrix customers can also run customized nis@mnd refine their analyses using an intuitiveriface
available on our Web site. Our Marketing Solutipnsducts are available either through the Inteondty
using standard software applications such as Midt&sxcel, Microsoft PowerPoint or SPSS analytical
software. Our customers do not need to installtamdil hardware or complex software to access aedour
products

Strategy

Our objective is to be the leading provider of glbdigital marketing intelligence products. We ptarpursue
our objective through internal initiatives and, grafally, through acquisitions and other investraeiihe principal
elements of our strategy are to:

Deepen relationships with current custome We intend to work closely with our customers malgle them
to continuously enhance the value they obtain foumdigital marketing intelligence platform. Manfaur
customers are Fortune 2000 companies that depldtypraumarketing initiatives, and we believe marfyoar
customers would benefit from more extensive usauofproduct offerings to gain additional insightsoi theil
key digital initiatives. We will work to develop drexpand our customer relationships to increase our
customer’ use of our digital marketing intelligence platfor

Grow our customer baseAs the digital media, commerce, marketing and momications sectors continue
to grow, we believe the demand for digital markgiimelligence products will increase. To meet thigeas
in market demand, we intend to invest in saleskatarg and account management initiatives in aorefb
expand our customer base. We intend to offer betteal and industry-specific digital marketing proc
that deliver value to a wide range of potentiatooeers in current and new industry vertici

Expand our digital marketing intelligence platfor We expect to continue to increase our produ@rof§s
through our digital marketing intelligence platfarAs digital markets become more complex, we beligna
companies will require new information and insigitsneasure, understand and evaluate their digital
business initiatives. We intend to develop new igptibns that leverage our digital marketing inggihce
platform to be able to provide the most timely agl@vant information to our custome

Address emerging digital med The extension of digital media and communicatimnisclude new formats
such as content for mobile phones, VolP, IP telemisand next generation gaming consoles creat@s ne
opportunities to measure and analyze emergingadligiedia. We intend to extend our digital marketing
platform to capture, measure and analyze userigciivthese emerging digital media and communaragi
formats. To this end, we acquired M:Metrics in M208.

Extend technology leadersh We believe that the scalability and functionatifyour database and
computational infrastructure provide us with a cefitive advantage in the digital media intelligemearket.
Accordingly, we intend to continue to invest ingasch and development to extend our technology
leadership. We intend to continue to enhance almt@logy platform to improve scalability, perforncananc
cost effectiveness and to expand our product oifst

Build brand awareness through media expos Our digital media, commerce and marketing infdiora
are frequently cited by media outlets. In additiwe, proactively provide them with data and insights we
believe may be relevant to their news reports atides. We believe that media coverage increases
awareness and credibility of the comScore and MiHditix brands and supplements our marketing effort
We intend to continue to work with media outlets;luding news distributors, newspapers, magazines,
television networks, radio stations and online fslidrs, to increase their use of comScore datariteat tha
discusses digital sector activi

Grow internationally. While we are currently in the early stages ofvimg customers with international
services, we believe that a significant opportuakists to provide our product offerings to muiéitional anc
international companies. Approximately half of thaésting comScore Internet user panel res




outside of the United States. We plan to expandsales and marketing and account management peesenc
outside the U.S. as we provide a broader arraygitiadl marketing intelligence products that ardaiad to
local country markets as well as the global matketn In furtherance of that effort, in July 200&
launched World Metrix, a product that measures gloligital media usage. World Metrix is based on a
sample of online users from countries that compajgaroximately 95% of the global Internet populatio

In November 2009, we also completed our acquisitib@ertifica, a leading analyst of Internet traffi
measurement in Latin America. Founded in 2000, ifexthas won the endorsement of the IAB in several
Latin American countries to publish cross siteistias on Internet usage. Based in Santiago, Chile,
Certifica has offices throughout Latin America,limting Mexico, Brazil, Argentina, Colombia and Peru
This acquisition is expected to strengthen ourgmes in the region and enable us to offer hybrid
measurement as part of our Media Metrix 360 initeatising the same state-of-the-art measurement
technologies we use elsewhere in the wc

Our Product Offerings

We deliver our digital marketing intelligence thgtuour comScore Media Metrix product family andbtigh
our comScore Marketing Solutions and mobile audieneasurement products.

comScore Media Metrix

Media Metrix provides its subscribers, consistimignarily of publishers, marketers, advertising agies and
advertising networks, with intelligence on digitaédia usage and a measurement of the size, belzendor
characteristics of the audiences for Web sitesaalv@rtising networks among home, work and univetsiternet
populations. Media Metrix also provides insight®ithe effectiveness of online advertising. Mediativk data can
be used to accurately identify and target key @ndindiences, evaluate the effectiveness of digitaketing and
commerce initiatives, support the selling of onlatertising by publishers, and to identify andleitpelative
competitive standing. The vast majority of our MeMetrix subscribers access selected reports aalgisas throug
the MyMetrix user interface on our Web site.

Our flagship product, Media Metrix, details theioglactivity and site visitation behavior of Intetrusers,
including use of instant messaging, e-mail, anémothgital applications. Beginning in summer 200@dia Metrix
was made available on the Media Metrix 360 Unifiadital Measurement platform, which combines panel
measurement of people and audience demographiesvilil and accurate representation of the consiompf a
site’s media. Our customers subscribe to ongoirgsxcto our digital marketing intelligence repausl analyses,
including:

« comprehensive reports detailing online behaviohfume, work and university audienc

« demographic characteristics of visitors to Wehsséed properties

 buying power metrics that profile Web site audienloased on their online buying behav

« detailed measurement and reporting of online behder 37 countries and over 100 U.S. local mark
* measurement of key ethnic segments, including tiieeHispanic population; ar

* reach and frequency metrics for online advertisiagnpaigns that show the percent of a target auelienc
reached and the frequency of exposure to advegtisessage:

In addition to our core offering, customers canssuibe to the following additional products in tiedia
Metrix product family:

Plan Metrix. Plan Metrix is a product that combines the cardirsly and passively observed Internet
behavior provided by Media Metrix with comprehemsattitude, lifestyle and product usage data ctabbc
through online surveys of our U.S. Internet userghaPlan Metrix provides advertising agencies eatisers
and publishers with multiple views of Web site andies including their online behavior, demographics
lifestyles, attitudes, technology product ownerspi@duct purchases and offline media usage. Ttiatseare
used in the design and evaluation of online mamgetampaigns. For example, an online auto retadlald




use Plan Metrix to help understand which Web sitpsospective automobile purchaser is most likelyisit
prior to making a purchase decision.

World Metrix. We provide insights into worldwide Internet adnhrough our World Metrix product,
which delivers aggregate information about the biehaof online users on a global basis, for appmately 30
individual countries and for regional aggregatisash as Latin America, Europe and Asia Pacific.&s@mple
a content publisher can understand its market sifate global Internet audience using our Worldtite
product.

Video Metrix. Video Metrix provides insights into the viewin§sireaming video by U.S. Internet users.
The product measures a wide range of video playmidormats, including Windows Media, Flash, Realie
and QuickTime. Video Metrix offers site-level meemment and audience ratings by demographics and
time-of-day to assist agencies, advertisers antighgns in designing and implementing media pldas t
include streaming video. For example, an advertlsatris seeking to maximize the exposure of isashing
video ads to its target audience could use VidetriMi help understand on which sites and at wina¢s of
the day its target audience is viewing the mosiasiting video.

Ad Metrix. Available through the Media Metrix client intecky Ad Metrix provides advertisers, agencies
and publishers with a variety of online advertisingtrics relating to impressions, or advertisementa Web
site that reach a target audience. Ad Metrix heitomers determine the impressions delivered tgréding
campaigns across Web sites and online propemtielsiding how many visitors are reached with adsertients
and how often. In addition, Ad Metrix allows custers to determine the demographic profile of theeatising
audience at a particular site, as well as how therme of impressions changes over time on that Eite Ad
Metrix data are consistent with offline media plemgnmetrics such as GRPs, or gross rating poirtsgiw
measure the percent of a target audience thaaéheel with an advertisement weighted by the nurober
exposures. For example, an advertiser might uss@irix to plan the online portion of an advertising
campaign for a sports product on sites that hageipusly successfully delivered advertising impi@ss to a
target demographic audience. A publisher mightAg&/etrix data to measure its share of advertising
impressions relative to competitive publishers.Mektrix was launched in the third quarter of 2007.

Segment Metrix. Segment Metrix is a product that enables mediaersy agencies and advertisers to tt
analyze and report Internet activity on their mogtortant consumer groups. Segment Metrix provities
flexibility to integrate behavioral, geographicnadegraphic and proprietary, client-defined segmauitis our
comScore panel. Agencies and advertisers can ygaebg Metrix to gain better insights into how tack
important target customers and advertisers andisanhe product to better integrate offline marigeti
segmentation schemes with our online panel to aflem to track, analyze and report online behawioa
segmented basis. Segment Metrix was launched ithittequarter of 2007.

comScore Marketer.comScore Marketer is an interactive search igeslice service that enables search
marketers and Web site operators to benchmark plegiormance versus that of their competitors gptihaze
their search marketing efforts. comScore Marke&#pshenhance search strategy by delivering ingigbitpaid
and organic search results, including an analyffssearcher demographics and online behavior. Famgie,
customers can use comScore Marketer to create effarient and cost-effective search campaigns, tifien
better-performing search terms and analyze thenpatitors’ search marketing strategies.

MobiLens. MobilLens provides our customers with market-widggtrics on mobile subscribers, mobile
handset adoption and use, and mobile media congamiptthe U.S. and certain major markets in Europe
MobiLens provides monthly market projections détgilmobile media consumption, the demographic [@sfi
of mobile subscribers, and granular technologyila®bf every handset in active use in the U.S.saamported
European markets.

M:Metrics Mobile Metrix. Mobile Metrix measures the actual behavior ofrtist active segment of
mobile media consumers so customers can evaludiereme demographics, brand reach, frequency and
duration of usage. Mobile Metrix continuously captudetailed information on mobile user behaviaros-
device meters with an opt-in panel of smartphoneer&and delivers it monthly via an intuitive Walkegy.




Ad Metrix Mobile. Ad Metrix Mobile tracks mobile display advertigiim the U.S. and UK to provide
clients with insight into which brands are adventiswith which publishers on the mobile Web.

Some examples of Media Metrix digital marketingelligence measurements and their customer uses are

described in the following table.

Digital Marketing Intelligence Measurement

Site Traffic & Usage Intensity

Quantitative Consumer Information

Online Buying Power

Competitive Intelligence

Reach and Frequency

comScore Marketing Solutions

Examples of Customer Use

rank Web sites based on online usage metrics sighigue visitors,
page views or minutes of u

drill-down to standard or customer-defined sitesaib such as
channels osuk-channels(such as Yahoo! Finance and Yahoo! Spc
analyze statistics over time such as trends invsteors within
demographic segmer

assess which Web site audiences are growing oindeg;|which sites
are most attractive to particular demographic segsner which sites
or digital applications have the highest level shge

identify the source of traffic to a particular Wsite or channel within
a site

profile site users based on life-stage or offliebdwvior such as
panelist-reported TV usage, car ownership, healttditions or offline
purchase:

efficiently identify and target a particular usegment (e.g., people
who say they are likely to buy a car in the nextrsbnths)

guantify the audience overlap between differenscomer segments or
Web sites to identify the number of unique visita@achec

quantify the propensity of a particular Web sit@glience to purchase
certain categories of products (e.g., consumetrelgics) online
compare the standings of Web sites within particodentent
categories, such as finance or health informe

quantify audience size relative to competitorsiuding share of usage
within a category and usage trends across compge

track major competitors, quantify their growth, adentify initiatives
to promote growth and market shi

identify and quantify the size of audiences readhedhdividual Web
sites and determine how often they reach those=aodi

assist with the planning of online advertising caigps that need to
achieve specific reach or frequency objectivesrexyai targeted
audience across multiple Web si

design the most cost-effective media plans thatachieve campaign
objectives for reach and frequer

comScore Marketing Solutions products use our dgloatbase, computational infrastructure and aff of
experienced analytical personnel to help customiesggn more effective marketing strategies thakeiase sales,
reduce costs, deepen customer relationships ainthtdly enhance a customer’s competitive positiie. offer
solutions tailored for specific industry verticalsgluding the automotive, consumer packaged goentgrtainment,
financial services, media, pharmaceutical, retadhnology, telecommunications and travel sectdesy of our
Marketing Solutions products are delivered to stibecs on a recurring schedule such as monthlyuartgrly. In
some cases, we provide customized reports andsasailyat combine our expertise with other propmeta
information to address a specific customer need.




The core information products offered by comScoariéting Solutions include:

Market Share ReportsThese reports track a company’s share of maskateasured by industry-specific
performance metrics. The metrics of choice varyniolustry vertical, including as examples: sharerdine
credit card spending for credit card issuers; sbammline travel spending for travel companiesshare of
subscribers for ISPs. In each case, market shpogtseprovide an ongoing measurement of competitive
performance and insight into the factors drivingrodes in market share.

Competitive Benchmark Report§hese reports allow customers to compare themsébvcompetitors
using various industrgpecific metrics. For example, retailers may lobknatrics such as the rate of conver:
of site visitors to buyers, average order sizeate of repeat purchases among existing customarksBmay
focus on the percentage of bank customers usingeohill payment services, or compare the effectdss of
customer acquisition programs as reflected by #regmtage of leads they acquire that ultimately sig for an
online account. In each case, a customer may dafidebtain best-of-category metrics and use thea a
benchmark to monitor its business performance tres.

Loyalty and Retention AnalysisThese analyses provide an understanding of ttemeto which
consumers are also engaged with competitors, amdifg loyalty drivers to assist customers in caioiy a
higher share of the consumer’s wallet. For examgpteavel company might quantify the potential bass lost
when consumers visit its site, do not completeralpase but then visit a competing site to boolaaetr
reservation. Retention or churn analyses quantiisamer losses to competitors and the key driviesaah
losses. For example, a narrowband Internet seprméder may track the rate of attrition amongcstomer
base, identify which competitors are capturing ¢hlost customers, and analyze the characteristitsedost
customers in order to gain insight into ways toriove retention.

Customer Satisfaction Reportsihese reports are based on panelist responsesviey questionnaires tr
ascertain the degree of satisfaction with variowslpcts or services offered to consumers. Thisimétion is
often integrated with the online usage informatioat we collect from our panelists in order to itifigrwhich
digital media usage activities affect customers$atition. For instance, a sports portal may ussetheports to
determine which features, such as participatinfgiasy sports leagues or viewing streaming vidips caffect
customer satisfaction and loyalty the most.

gSearch. This product is a monthly scorecard of the seararket that provides a comparison of search
activity across portals and major search engintidgelps identify the reach of a search engineldhalty of its
user base, the frequency of search queries, arefféativeness of sponsored links displayed oncéesesult
pages in driving referrals to advertiser sites.ajfeis used by major search engines and adveytgjancies i
planning search campaigns. In August 2007 we retbgSearch 2.0 with new features designed to ingpitsv
accuracy, consistency and comprehensiveness.

Ad Effx Campaign Essentials (formerly Campaign Mgtr This product provides detailed information
about specific online advertising campaigns. Theperts, available through a Web-based interfagscribe
for each advertising image, or “creatiwgithin an advertising campaign, the size and dewrguigc compositiol
of the audience exposed to that particular adeertest, the average number of impressions delivenddther
details regarding ad formats and ad sizes usdtkicampaign. An advertiser, agency or publisheldcase Ad
Effx Campaign Essentials to gain insight into tffeaiveness of an online advertising campaign xanaining
the number of unique users exposed to the campdigmumber of times on average that a uniquewasr
exposed to the campaign and whether the campaéghed the targeted audience demographic.

Ad Effx Brand Lift and Action Lift (formerly Bramdetrix). Ad Effx Brand Lift provides reports showing
the test compared to control effectiveness of apaagm using survepased metrics that we collect from our
Recruit technology. For example, a Brand Lift repoould illustrate the changes in brand awarenagmnt anc
attitudes that were driven by an advertising cagmahd Effx Action Lift measures the lift in the aattiser’s
site visitation and the lift in searching for theabd's trademark. Each report can be customizéioeto
advertisers needs and typically delivered in PowitPExcel and SPSS data files, often with a retur
investment analysis.
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Ad Effx Online Lift and Offline Lift. These services provide an understanding of fieetefeness of

particular advertising campaigns by measuring tileme and offline behavior of a “target group” afraScore
panelists, following their exposure to a particiddwertisement, and comparing their behavior todha
“control group” of comScore panelists who were exgposed to such advertisements. These services allo
marketer to understand the impact of their adviegisampaign and to estimate the return on theestment it
online marketing.

Survey-Based ProductsThese products leverage our ability to administeweys to our panel member:

obtain valuable information that can be seamleissggrated with online behavioral data to provide dients
with additional insights into the drivers of consambehavior.

Customers

As of December 31, 2009, we had 1,273 customezkiding 82 Fortune 500 customers. Our customers
include:

eighteen of the top twenty online properties, basetbtal unique visitors, as ranked by our Medietiix
database for the month of February 2010, includiicyosoft, Yahoo!, AOL and Google

nine of the top ten U.S. Internet service providbesed on publically released d¢

nine of the top ten investment banks, based orajialestment banking fees revenues as of SepteUS
as ranked by Thomson Reuters/Freeman &

45 of the top 50 creative, media and digital agesidbased on Ad Ag
six of the top seven consumer banks, based onUo®aldeposits as of June 30, 2009, as rankedeblfIHC;
all of the top four wireless carriers, based on&Las of December 31, 200

nine of the top ten pharmaceutical companies, basetD08 worldwide sales, as ranked by Biodollars.c
Top 25 Pharma Companies Repr

nine of the top ten credit card issuers, baseatah ¢redit card outstandings as of June 30, 280%anked b
the Nilson Report; an

nine of the top ten consumer package goods comparased on the 2009 Fortune 500

One of our customers, Microsoft Corporation, actedror 12%, 12% and 13% of our revenues in thesyea
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respeactivel

Selling and Marketing

We sell the majority of our products through a dirgales force. Sales of the comScore Media Menixiuct
suite to new clients are managed by sales repasay assigned specifically to new business deveémt. A
separate group of account managers within our sagemization is assigned to manage, renew andasersales to
existing Media Metrix customers. The comScore MankgSolutions sales organization is organizediealty by
industry with account executives dedicated tosglinto the automotive, consumer packaged goodsrtamment,
financial services, media, pharmaceutical, retadhnology, telecommunications and travel sectogsather
industries. Marketing Solutions account executaestasked with both identifying and generating esiness in
specific verticals as well as servicing existingtamers. Our sales and account representativeseexbase salary
and are eligible for bonuses or commissions basgeedormance.

Our marketing communications staff is primarily Gieed on leveraging the use of comScore data aightas
by the media and maximizing the number of time$ ¢banScore is cited as a source of information.B&éeve that
the use of our data by general and industry-spetiédia outlets increases recognition of the comeSband name
and serves to help validate the value of the aralgad products we provide. In order to accomplighgoal, we
seek to maintain relationships with key news distiors, publications, TV networks, reporters arfteomedia
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outlets. We believe that the media views us aglhalyrecognized and credible resource for digitatketing
intelligence. For example, between January 1, 20@BDecember 31, 2009, comScore data were cited than
113,000 times by third-party media outlets, an agerof over 311 citations per day. Moreover, weregalarly
cited by well-known news distributors, publicaticarsd TV networks such as the Associated PresseRgut
Bloomberg, CNBC, The New York Times and The Waik8t Journal. We also target various industry aemfees
and tradeshows as part of our marketing effortes€revents are typically focused on a particuldustry, allowing
us to demonstrate to industry participants theevaluour products to businesses in that industry.

Panel and Methodology

The foundation of our digital marketing intelligenplatform is data collected from our comScore pamieich
includes approximately two million persons worldejavhose online behavior we have explicit permis$o
measure on a continuous, passive basis. We behaveur panel is one of the largest global paakis kind,
delivering a multi-faceted view of digital mediaag® and transactional activity as well as selectfitie activity.
By applying advanced statistical methodologiesuopanel data, we project the behavior of the totdihe
population.

We recruit our panel through a variety of onlinercggment programs that have been tested and cefimee
our inception to ensure a diverse sample thatceffily represents the broader global Internet fadfmn. In
addition, in the United States we enlist a sub-darappanelists through various offline recruitimgthods.
Participants in the comScore research panel reegpackage of benefits that is designed to appeabtroad variet
of user categories. Examples of such benefits deglas of December 2009, free security applicatiich as
encrypted file protection; free general purposdiagpons such as screensavers and games; sweegstalsh
payments; points that may be redeemed for prizespéanting a tree in the name of all new panettatsugh our
“Trees for Knowledge” program. Participants’ datal grivacy are protected by defined privacy pofidieat
safeguard personally-identifiable information. Tbisnbination of recruiting methods allows us to main a panel
large enough to provide statistically representasi@mples in most demographic segments.

We continuously determine the size, demographidsodéimer characteristics of the online populatiomgs
enumeration surveys of tens of thousands of permonsally, whereby respondents are asked a variejyestions
about their Internet use, as well as demographdcotimer descriptive questions about themselvestseid
households. The sample of participants in each eraion survey is selected using a random recguitin
methodology. The result is an up-to-date picturthefpopulation to which the comScore sample is fivejected.
We use the results from the enumeration surveygetght and statistically project the panel datarnsure that the
projected data reflect the characteristics of tiierhet population.

In addition, our Unified Digital Measurement sotiticombines panel measurement of people and awdienc
demographics with a full and accurate represemtaifdhe consumption of a site’s media, which iscaaplished by
site owners including comScore “beacons” or repgrpiixels on all of their site content. Census meament using
web beacons reports every server call that theogiteer would register from all locations and desicalows for ful
representation of these audiences and devicesulydeconciles Media Metrix site audience measueat with
publishers internal server logs or web analyticrice

The move to census measurement has also been edtenohobile under the auspices of the GSM Assodiat
(GSMA), the trade body for mobile operators, arelrtMobile Media Metrics (MMM) initiative to delivea
comprehensive and granular view of the mobile meerGSMA MMM was pioneered and launched by us@uk.
The mobile network operators provide irreversibipaymized census-level data for mobile internegasa
Demographic data, collected with consent from ae®sgntative sample of mobile users, is ascribed et unique
persistent identification number for each anonymaaes in the census data. Wi-Fi traffic, not seethe mobile
network traffic, can be captured in server-sideslogmedia owners and ad networks by beaconingauitiMedia
Metrix 360 products.

Privacy

We believe that a key factor differentiating ougithl marketing intelligence is our ability to tkaand analyze
online usage behavior using the data collected anpanel. Since the founding of our company, axch
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endeavored to undertake such data collection aalgsia responsibly and only with consumer permissio
Participation in our research panel is voluntaryr @olicies require that participants consent toprivacy and data
security practices before our software collecterimiation on the user’s online activity. In additiove provide
panelists with multiple opportunities and methazlsemove themselves from our panel. We limit thpetpf
information that we collect by identifying and &ling certain personal information from the dattected. The
collected data is secured using multiple layenshyfsical and digital security mechanisms. Moreower maintain a
strict policy of not sharing comScore paneliste'somally identifiable information with our custorsekVe believe
that these actions and policies are consistenttw@lAICPA/CICA WebTrust criteria for online privac

Technology and Infrastructure

We have developed a proprietary system for the ameasent of the activity of our global online panghis
system is continuously refined and developed toesidthe changing digital media landscape and &t newv
customer business needs. The system is compridathdfeds of servers that operate using softwaitedru
Microsoft and other technologies. Our technolodyaistructure is operated in two third-party Tiecetlocation
facilities (one in Virginia and the other in Illirg). Our systems have multiple redundancies andtanetured to
ensure the continuation of business operationisdrevent of network failure or if one of our dagmters has been
rendered inoperable. As of December 31, 2009,emhmology team (excluding employees devoted taarebeand
development) was comprised of 199 full-time empésyéor full-time equivalents) working in four difent
geographic locations, who design, develop, mairdaith operate our entire technology infrastructureddition, we
have established a relationship with a third pérty for software development in an economicallyéficial locale
as a means to augment our technology efforts farelie projects.

Our development efforts have spanned all aspeasmbusiness. We have developed a data captuensylsa
operates across our panelists’ computers in al@@&tountries and is used for the real-time captfimnsumer
Internet behavior. We have built a large scaldcieffit and proprietary system for processing masamounts of
data. Typically our systems handle and processidatacess of 190 billion input records per moimBspite the
scale of processing required, these data are dgnavailable on a daily basis for our business. ¥8e have also
developed a highly efficient and scalable systenitfe extraction and tabulation of all online aittds of our
panelists. Likewise, we have created a highly $taldata warehousing environment that allows resdyess and
analysis of the data we collect. This system, baseflybase 1Q, was awarded the 2001, 2003 and Gofxtd Prize
for the largest Microsoft-based decision suppontalrause by the Winter Corporation. In December 20@6were
recognized as a 2007 Technology Pioneer by thed\Ezbnomic Forum. We believe our scalable and kigbkt-
effective systems and processing methods providethsa significant competitive advantage.

Our customers access our digital marketing intefige product offerings through a variety of methods
including MyMetrix, our proprietary, Web-based grs#$ and reporting system, which for the full yeaded
December 31, 2009, was used by over 20,000 actiigue users to produce more than 9.0 million respas
compared to 19,000 active, unique users in 2008.

Research and Development

Our research and development efforts focus onrntharecement of our existing products and the devedop o
new products to meet our customers’ digital marigetntelligence needs across a broad range of indsisind
applications. Because of the rapidly growing anolerg use of the Internet and other digital meidiacommerce,
content, advertising and communications, theseatsffore critical to satisfying our customers’ dechfor relevant
digital marketing intelligence. As of December 3009, we had approximately147 full-time employemsfill-time
equivalents) working on research and developmeitites (excluding employees on our technologyntezted
under “Technology and Infrastructure” above). lliidn, we involve management and operations perslin our
research and development efforts. In 2009, 200880d we spent $17.8 million, $14.8 million and $iillion,
respectively, on research and development.
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Intellectual Property

We rely on a combination of patent, trademark, cighy and trade secret laws in the United Statelscdner
jurisdictions together with confidentiality proceds and contractual provisions to protect our pedary technolog
and our brand. We seek patent protection on inweatihat we consider important to the developméntio
business. We control access to our proprietaryni@olgy and enter into confidentiality and inventassignment
agreements with our employees and consultants @mientiality agreements with other third parties.

Our success depends in part on our ability to @gwphtentable products and obtain, maintain andreaf
patent and trade secret protection for our prodittuding successfully defending these patengsresg any third-
party challenges, both in the United States arattier countries. We may be able to protect ourrteldyies from
unauthorized use by third parties to the extertweaown or have licensed valid and enforceablergator trade
secrets that cover them. However, the degree ofdyirotection of our proprietary rights is uncirtaecause legal
means afford only limited protection and may natately protect our rights or permit us to gaikexp our
competitive advantage.

Currently, we own three U.S. patents. U.S. patel817412 was filed March 22, 2000 and covers, anuthgr
things, techniques for collecting consumer dat&. patent 7,260,837 was filed February 5, 2003cawers various
techniques, such as techniques for collecting iddading to a user’s usage of a computing devehniques for
identifying a user of a computing device, and téghes for monitoring the performance of a netwarkver, and
U.S. patent 7,493,655 was filed February 5, 20@Bamvers, among other things, techniques for ptaaser
identification in header of data packets usableser demographic reporting and collecting usage. d#tder currel
U.S. law, the statutory term for a patent is 20rgdm its earliest effective filing date. Accandly, U.S. patent
7,181,412; 7,260,837; and 7,493,655 are expecterive on March 22, 2020. However, various circtamses,
such as the provisions under U.S. patent law feenderm adjustment and patent term extension,extgnd the
duration of any of these patents. Similarly, vasi@ircumstances may shorten the duration of atlyesfe patents,
such as a change in U.S. law or a need or deaisiaiur part to terminally disclaim a portion of ttatutory term c
any of these patents.

We also currently have twenty-seven U.S. and fore@tent applications pending, and we intend & &t
request that our licensors file, additional pagguplications for patents covering our products. Eesy, patents me
not be issued for any pending or future pendingmagpplications owned by or licensed to us, aaand allowed
under any issued patent or future issued patenedwnlicensed by us may not be valid or suffidiehtoad to
protect our technologies. Any issued patents ovnyedr licensed to us now or in the future may balleinged,
invalidated, held unenforceable or circumvented, e rights under such patents may not provideitsthe
expected benefits. In addition, competitors maygtearound our technology or develop competing ietidgies.
Intellectual property rights may also be unava#gat limited in some foreign countries, which couldke it easier
for competitors to capture or increase their maskatre with respect to related technologies. Altfinowe are not
currently involved in any legal proceedings relaieihtellectual property, we could incur substahtiosts to defen
ourselves in suits brought against us or in saitshich we may assert our patent rights againgrettAn
unfavorable outcome in any such litigation coulsdha material adverse effect on our business andtseof
operations.

In addition to patent and trade secret protectianalso rely on several trademarks and service sitargrotect
our intellectual property assets. We are the owheumerous trademarks and service marks and haplied for
registration of our trademarks and service markbénUnited States and in certain other countdesstablish and
protect our brand names as part of our intelleqiuaperty strategy. Some of our registered margside comScort
Media Metrix and MyMetrix.

Our intellectual property policy is to protect quoducts, technology and processes by assertingliectual
property rights where we believe it is approprite prudent. Any pending or future pending pateptieations
owned by or licensed to us (in the United Statesbooad) may not be allowed or may in the futurelislenged,
invalidated, held unenforceable or circumvented, #ue rights under such patents may not providsitis
competitive advantages. Any significant impairmeihour intellectual property rights could harm duusiness or
our ability to compete. Protecting our intellectpabperty rights is costly and time consuming. Any
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increase in the unauthorized use of our intelldgit@perty could make it more expensive to do besinand harm
our operating results.

There is always the risk that third parties maynelthat we are infringing upon their intellectuabperty rights
and, if successful in proving such claims, we cdiddprevented from selling our products.

For additional, important information related ta dntellectual property, please review the inforimatset forth
in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on FormKQ“Risk Factors — Risks Related to Our Businesd @ur
Technologies.”

Competition

The market for digital marketing intelligence iglhly competitive and evolving rapidly. We competararily
with providers of digital marketing intelligencedarelated analytical products and services. We asopete with
providers of marketing services and solutions, withvey providers, as well as with internal solnsialeveloped by
customers and potential customers. Our principalpzditors include:

* large and small companies that provide data anlysisaf consumers’ online behavior, including Catg
Inc., Google, Inc., Hitwise Pty. Ltd, Quantcastsial Measures and Nielsen/Nielsen Onl

+ online advertising companies that provide measun¢mwiconline ad effectiveness, including aQuantine,,
Google/DoubleClick Inc., ValueClick, Inc. and WPPRoGp pic;

e companies that provide audience ratings for TVioatd other media that have extended or may exteit
current services, particularly in certain interoatil markets, to the measurement of digital meddaiiding
Arbitron Inc., Nielsen Media Research, Inc. andl@aielson Sofres (owned by WPP Group p

* analytical services companies that provide custeméth detailed information of behavior on theirroWeb
sites, including Omniture (owned by Adobe), Coramst Visual Sciences and WebTrends Corpora

« full-service market research firms and survey pexs that may measure online behavior and attitudes
including Harris Interactive Inc., Ipsos Group, 8grate, GFK, Kantar and The Nielsen Compz

< companies that provide behavioral, attitudinal guodlitative advertising effectiveness, includingnaynic
Logic, Inc., Insight Express, LLC and Marketing Hw@n Inc.; anc

« specialty information providers for certain indigssrthat we serve, including IMS Health Incorpodate
(healthcare) and Nielsen Mobile, Inc. (telecommatians).

Some of our current competitors have longer opggdtistories, relationships with more customers and
substantially greater resources than we do. Asultrehese competitors may be able to devote mes@urces to
marketing and promotional campaigns, panel retergitd development techniques or technology ane@ssst
development than we can. In addition, some of ounpetitors may be able to adopt more aggressiemgri
policies. Furthermore, large software companiegriret portals and database management companyesniex the
market or enhance their current offerings, eithedéveloping competing services or by acquiring@mpetitors,
and could leverage their significant resourcespaeebxisting relationships with our current and potaintustomers

We believe the principal competitive factors in awarkets include the following:

« the ability to provide actual and perceived higlelity, accurate and reliable data regarding fr@tand othe
digital media audience behavior and activity imaety manner, including the ability to maintainaade and
statistically representative sample pau

« the ability to adapt product offerings to emergifigital media technologies and standa
« the breadth and depth of products and their fléigfand ease of usi

« the availability of data across various industryticals and geographic areas and expertise adness t
verticals and in these geographic art
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« the ability to offer survey-based information comdal with digital media usage, eCommerce data amet ot
online information collected from panelis

« the ability to offer high-quality analytical sereis based on Internet and other digital media aadien
measurement informatio

« the ability to offer products that meet the chaggieeds of customers and provide Il-quality service; an
« the prices that are charged for products basetepdrceived value delivere

We believe that we compete favorably with our cotitpes on the basis of these factors. However dgfare
unable to compete successfully against our cuaedtfuture competitors, we may not be able to aecand retain
customers, and we may consequently experienceliael@t revenues, reduced operating margins, |bssasket
share and diminished value from our products.

Government Regulation

Although we do not believe that significant exigtiaws or government regulations adversely impagcbur
business could be affected by different interpietat or applications of existing laws or regulasipfuture laws or
regulations, or actions by domestic or foreign tatmuy agencies. For example, privacy concernscctaad to
legislative, judicial and regulatory limitations onr ability to collect maintain and use informati@bout Internet
users in the United States and abroad. Various Hgislatures have enacted legislation designedaiect Internet
users’ privacy, for example by prohibiting spywdrerecent years, similar legislation has been gsep in other
states and at the federal level and has been ehiadtereign countries, most notably by the EurapEaion, which
adopted a privacy directive regulating the collettdf personally identifiable information onlinedathe use of
cookies. These laws and regulations, if drafteht@rpreted broadly, could be deemed to apply ¢atéichnology w
use, and could restrict our information collectioathods or decrease the amount and utility ofrif@iination that
we would be permitted to collect. In addition, aiility to conduct business in certain foreigngdictions,
including China, is restricted by the laws, regolas and agency actions of those jurisdictions. ddsts of
compliance with, and the other burdens imposedh®se and other laws or regulatory actions mayeprens from
selling our products or increase the costs as®utigith selling our products, and may affect oulitgtio invest in
or jointly develop products in the United Stated anforeign jurisdictions. In addition, failure tmmply with these
and other laws and regulations may result in, anathgr things, administrative enforcement actiams fnes, class
action lawsuits and civil and criminal liabilityte8e attorneys general, governmental and nongowartahentities
and private persons may bring legal actions assgttiat our methods of collecting, using and distiing Web site
visitor information are illegal or improper, whicluld require us to spend significant time and weses defending
these claims. For example, some companies thaotpillse and distribute Web site visitor informati@ave been tl
subject of governmental investigations and clasmmadcawsuits. Any such regulatory or civil actithat is brought
against us, even if unsuccessful, may distrachmamagement’s attention, divert our resources, heffataffect our
public image or reputation among our panelistsarsiomers and harm our business. The impact obathese
current or future laws or regulations could makmdtre difficult or expensive to attract or maintpemnelists,
particularly in affected jurisdictions, and couldvarsely affect our business and results of opmrati

Additionally, laws and regulations that apply tovoounications and commerce over the Internet arerbig
more prevalent. In particular, the growth and depeient of the market for eCommerce has promptds fmalmore
stringent tax, consumer protection and privacy lawtkse United States and abroad that may impodiiaial
burdens on companies conducting business onlirea@ibption, modification or interpretation of laarsregulation
relating to the Internet or our customers’ digdpkrations could negatively affect the busines$esiocustomers
and reduce their demand for our products. For ewihdit, important information related to governmegulation of
our business, please review the information séhforPart I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Fo®K, “Risk
Factors — Risks Related to Our Business and Ounf@ogies.”
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Executive Officers of the Registrani

The following table sets forth the names and ad@siocurrent executive officers:

Name Age Position

Magid M. Abraham, Ph.D 51 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Gian M. Fulgoni 62 Executive Chairman of the Board of Direct
Kenneth J. Tarpe 57 Chief Financial Officel

Gregory T. Dale 40 Chief Operating Office

Christiana L. Lin 40 EVP, General Counsel and Chief Privacy Offi

Magid M. Abraham, Ph.Done of our cdounders, has served as our President, Chief EixecDfficer and as
Director since September 1999. In 1995, Dr. Abrafieunded Paragren Technologies, Inc., which spieeidlin
delivering large scale Customer Relationship Maniesystems for strategic and target marketing,ssrded as its
Chief Executive Officer from 1995 to 1999. Priorfeminding Paragren, Dr. Abraham was employed bgrinition
Resources, Inc. from 1985 until 1995, where he Rrasident and Chief Operating Officer from 1993984 and
later Vice Chairman of the Board of Directors fra894 until 1995. Since January 2008, Dr. Abrahamédiso bee
a member of the board of directors of Milo.comtatsip company. In 2008, Mr. Abraham was inducted the
Entrepreneur Hall of Fame and was named an Ernébéhg Entrepreneur of the Year in the Washingtongb€a.
Dr. Abraham received the Paul Green Award in 1986tae William F. O’Dell Award in 2000 from the Amean
Marketing Association for a 1995 article that heachored in the Journal of Marketing Researchrddeived a
Ph.D. in Operations Research and an M.B.A. from NHE also holds an Engineering degree from theeEcol
Polytechnique in France.

Gian M. Fulgoni, one of our cdeunders, has served as our Executive ChairmameoBbard of Directors sint
September 1999. Prior to co-founding comScore,Adigoni was employed by Information Resources,, hwbere
he served as President from 1981 to 1989, Chie€iikes Officer from 1986 to 1998 and Chairman &f Board of
Directors from 1991 until 1995. Mr. Fulgoni has\sat on the board of directors of PetMed Express,dimce 2002
and previously served from August 1999 through Malver 2000. Mr. Fulgoni has also served on the board
directors of Inxpo, an lllinois-based provider dftwal events, since July 2005 and the Advertiskegearch
Foundation, an industry research organizationesBi08. He also served on the board of directoEaifnum
Technology, Inc. from 1990 to 1999, U.S. Robotlos, from 1991 to 1994, and Yesmail.com, Inc. frb@99 to
2000. In 1991 and again in 2004, Mr. Fulgoni wasi@d an lllinois Entrepreneur of the Year, the qudyson to
have twice received the honor. In 1992, he recetlredVall Street Transcript Award for outstandimgiributions
as Chief Executive Officer of Information Resourdes. in enhancing the overall value of that compto the
benefit of its shareholders. In 2008, Mr. Fulgomisanducted into the Chicago Entrepreneur Hallashé and was
named an Ernst & Young Entrepreneur of the Yeauchtkd in the United Kingdom, Mr. Fulgoni holdsMrA. in
Marketing from the University of Lancaster and &®&.in Physics from the University of Manchester.

Kenneth J. Tarpelgas served as our Chief Financial Officer sinceilAfr, 2009. Prior to joining comScore,
Mr. Tarpey was Executive Vice President, Chief Riial Officer and Chief Operating Officer of Objeicteo, Inc.,
a Reston, Virginia-based provider of video suragitle software, from 2003 until April 2009. From 2Qfntil 2003,
Mr. Tarpey was Senior Vice President, Chief FinahGfficer and Treasurer of Ai Metrix, Inc., a Hdon,
Virginia-based provider of network optimization sedre. From 1997 until 2001, Mr. Tarpey was ExeaWice
President and Chief Financial Officer of Proxic@\ASDAQ-listed Internet business consulting angettgpoment
company. Mr. Tarpey holds an M.B.A. from Babsonl€g¢ and a B.A. from College of the Holy Cross.

Gregory T. Daléhas served as our Chief Operating Officer sinceusti@009. Prior to that, he served as our
Vice President, Product Management from Septem®@9 wintil October 2000 and as our Chief Technol@gicer
from October 2000 until August 2009. Prior to joigius, he served as Vice President of Client Seidaragren
Technologies, Inc., a company that specializedhtergrise relationship marketing. He holds a BaSndustrial
Management from Purdue University.

Christiana L. Linhas served as our EVP, General Counsel and ChiefdyrOfficer since August 2009. Priot
that, she served as our Deputy General CounselFammuary 2001 until March 2003, as our CorporaiariSel ant
Chief Privacy Officer from March 2003 until Janu@®06 and as our General Counsel and Chief Privacy
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Officer from January 2006 until August 2009. Msn lhiolds a J.D. from the Georgetown University Lagnt@r and
a B.A. in Political Science from Yale University.

Employees

As of December 31, 2009, we had 593 employees. Wboar employees are represented by a labor ukien.
have experienced no work stoppages and believetiamployee relations are good.

Geographic Areas

Our primary geographic markets are the United Sta@@anada, the United Kingdom, Latin America/Chitel
Japan. For information with respect to our geogi@ptarkets, see Note 16 to our Consolidated FirmduStatement
in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form-K0

Available Information

We make our periodic and current reports availdbde of charge, on our website as soon as reaonab
practicable after such material is electronicallydf with the Securities and Exchange Commissiair. \i@ebsite
address isvww.comscore.comnd such reports are filed under “SEC Filings” lo@ investor Relations portion of
our website. Further, a copy of this annual repsrivell as our other periodic and current repody be obtained
from the SEC, located at the SE@ublic reference room at 100 F Street, NE, Waghim D.C. 20549. Informatic
on the operation of the Public Reference Room eaofttained by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-033@. SEC
maintains an Internet site that contains reportsqypand information statements, and other inforamategarding
our filings at www.sec.gov.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

An investment in our common stock involves a sobataisk of loss. You should carefully consideede risk
factors, together with all of the other informatimtluded herewith, before you decide to purchdsees of oul
common stock. The occurrence of any of the follgwisks could materially adversely affect our besis, financial
condition or operating results. In that case, tredtng price of our common stock could decline, god may lose
part or all of your investmen

Risks Related to Our Business and Our Technologies

Conditions and changes in the national and globaomomic environment may adversely affect our busiae
and financial results.

Adverse economic conditions in markets in whichoperate can harm our business. If the economitseof
United States and other countries continue to éspee prolonged uncertainty, customers may delagduce their
purchases of digital marketing intelligence produatd services. Recently, economic conditionseércthuntries in
which we operate and sell products have becomeemdined increasingly negative, and global findnoiarkets
have experienced severe volatility stemming fromudtitude of factors, including adverse credit citiods
impacted by the subprime-mortgage crisis, slowenemic activity, concerns about inflation and dedla,
decreased consumer confidence, increased unemphbyraduced corporate profits and capital spendidgerse
business conditions, liquidity concerns and othetdrs. Economic growth in the U.S. and in mangptiountries
slowed in the fourth quarter of 2007, remained sler@ughout 2008 and 2009, and may continue tanstegduring
2010 in the U.S. and internationally. During chadjang economic times, and in tight credit markatany
customers have and may continue to delay or resipeeding. Additionally, some of our customers maybable t
fully pay for purchases or may discontinue theisibasses, resulting in the incurrence of uncoldetieceivables
for us. This could result in reductions in our salenger sales cycles, difficulties in collectioinaccounts
receivable, slower adoption of new technologiesianteased price competition. This downturn mayp atspact ou
available resources for financing new and existipgrations. If global economic and market condgjar
economic conditions in the United States or otleyr karkets deteriorate, we may experience a mhtarithadvers
impact on our business, results of operations erahial condition.
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During the year ended December 31, 2009, our relmates for our subscription-based products renthine
reasonably consistent throughout the year on adblisis. However, we experienced declines in ptogvenues
and renewal rates of smaller customers during 2@@8is trend continues in 2010 and beyond, trdesdines may
negatively impact our business.

We derive a significant portion of our revenues frosales of our subscription-based digital marketing
intelligence products. If our customers terminate fail to renew their subscriptions, our businessuid suffer.

We currently derive a significant portion of ouveaues from our subscription-based digital markgtin
intelligence products. Subscription-based prodactounted for 86%, 83% and 79% of our revenue@9 22008
and 2007, respectively. Uncertain economic conalitior other factors, such as the failure or codattin of large
financial institutions, may cause certain custonteterminate or reduce their subscriptions. If customers
terminate their subscriptions for our productsndbrenew their subscriptions, delay renewals efrtbubscriptions
or renew on terms less favorable to us, our reveoaeld decline and our business could suffer.

Our customers have no obligation to renew afteett@ration of their initial subscription periodhigh is
typically one year, and we cannot assure that ntimgbscriptions will be renewed at the same dndviglollar
amounts, if at all. Some of our customers haveteteot to renew their subscription agreements ustin the past.
If we experience a change of control, as defineslith agreements, some of our customers also haveght to
terminate their subscriptions. Moreover, some afrogjor customers have the right to cancel thdisstiption
agreements without cause at any time. Given thegtiunpredictable economic conditions as welladimited
historical data with respect to rates of custonussription renewals, we may have difficulty actelapredicting
future customer renewal rates. Our customer renetes may decline or fluctuate as a result ofrabvr of factors
including customer satisfaction or dissatisfactidth our products, the costs or functionality of guoducts, the
prices or functionality of products offered by @ampetitors, mergers and acquisitions affectingomstomer base,
general economic conditions or reductions in ost@mers’ spending levels. In this regard, we haans number
of customers with weaker balance sheets choosittpnmenew subscriptions with us during the curesgnomic
downturn.

Our quarterly results of operations may fluctuate the future. As a result, we may fail to meet otceed the
expectations of securities analysts or investorhjah could cause our stock price to decline.

Our quarterly results of operations may fluctua@aesult of a variety of factors, many of whicé autside of
our control. If our quarterly revenues or resuftsjperations do not meet or exceed the expectatibascurities
analysts or investors, the price of our commonkstmaild decline substantially. In addition to thber risk factors
set forth in this “Risk Factors” section, factonat may cause fluctuations in our quarterly reverareresults of
operations include:

« our ability to increase sales to existing custona attract new custome

« our failure to accurately estimate or control cesténcluding those incurred as a result of acquisg,
investments and other business development imigis]

* our revenue recognition policies related to thertgrof contract renewals, delivery of products dodation
of contracts and the corresponding timing of reeeracognition

 the mix of subscriptic-based versus proje-based revenue
« changes in our custom’ subscription renewal behaviors and spending orepts;,
 our ability to estimate revenues and cash flowe@ated with business operations acquired b

« the impact on our contract renewal rates, for lmathsubscription and project-based products, calgexlir
customers’ budgetary constraints, competition,aust dissatisfaction, customer corporate restringor
change in control, or our custom’ actual or perceived lack of need for our prodL

« the potential loss of significant custome
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« the effect of revenues generated from significame-time projects or the loss of such proje:
« the impact of our decision to discontinue certaivdpicts;

« the amount and timing of capital expenditures gperating costs related to the maintenance and sigant
our operations and infrastructu

* the timing and success of new product introductimnss or our competitor

« variations in the demand for our products and tin@lémentation cycles of our products by our custsn
« changes in our pricing and discounting policiethaise of our competitor

 service outages, other technical difficulties ansity breaches

« limitations relating to the capacity of our netwsrkystems and process

* maintaining appropriate staffing levels and captid relative to projected growth, or retaining/ kersonne
as a result of the integration of recent acquisgi

» adverse judgments or settlements in legal disp
« the cost and timing of organizational restructuyimgparticular in international jurisdiction

« the uncertainties associated with the integratfosmcquired new lines of business, and operatiom®imtries
in which we may have little or no previous expece;

« the extent to which certain expenses are moressrdeductible for tax purposes, such as share-based
compensation that fluctuates based on the timingesfing and our stock pric

« the timing of any additional reversal of our dedeftax valuation allowanc
« adoption of new accounting pronouncements;

« general economic, industry and market conditiortsthnse conditions specific to Internet usage anhe
businesses

We believe that our quarterly revenues and resftiligperations on a year-over-year and sequential
quarter-over-quarter basis may vary significamlytie future and that period-to-pericomparisons of our operati
results may not be meaningful. Investors are caatimot to rely on the results of prior quarteram#ndication of
future performance.

If we are not able to maintain panels of sufficiestze and scope, or if the costs of maintaining qanels
materially increase, our business would be harmed.

We believe that the quality, size and scope ofiotarnet and Mobile media user panels are criticalur
business. There can be no assurance, howevewehaill be able to maintain panels of sufficiertesand scope to
provide the quality of marketing intelligence tloatr customers demand from our products. If wetfaihaintain a
panel of sufficient size and scope — including dage of international markets, customers mightidedab
purchase our products or renew their subscriptiousreputation could be damaged and our busiresd be
materially and adversely affected. We expect thiatpanel costs may increase and may comprise tegqgartion o
our cost of revenues in the future. The costs @s®atwith maintaining and improving the qualitizesand scope ¢
our panel are dependent on many factors, many wffwdre beyond our control, including the partitipa rate of
potential panel members, the turnover among exgjgianel members and requirements for active ppatiicin of
panel members, such as completing survey quesii@sn&oncerns over the potential unauthorizedaisice of
personal information or the classification of oaftware as “spyware” or “adware” may cause exispagel
members to uninstall our software or may discouramential panel members from installing our sofevd o the
extent we experience greater turnover, or churppinpanel than we have historically experienceesé costs
would increase more rapidly. We also have termihated may in the future terminate relationship$wervice
providers whose practices we believe may not comitly our privacy policies, and have removed ang inghe
future remove panel members obtained through sewlice providers. Such actions may
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result in increased costs for recruiting additigmahel members. In addition, publishing contentheninternet and
purchasing advertising space on Web sites may becoane expensive or restrictive in the future, \Wtdould
decrease the availability and increase the coatleértising the incentives we offer to panel merab€o the extent
that such additional expenses are not accompagi@ttteased revenues, our operating margins woslictbuced
and our financial results would be adversely aédct

Our business may be harmed if we change our metHodies or the scope of information we collect.

We have in the past and may in the future changenethodologies or the scope of information weeaill
Such changes may result from identified deficiemanecurrent methodologies, development of moreaaded
methodologies, changes in our business plans oess@d or perceived needs of our customers or tdten
customers. Any such changes or perceived changesy @nability to accurately or adequately comnoaté to our
customers and the media such changes and theipbtemtlications of such changes on the data westpublished
or will publish in the future, may result in custendissatisfaction, particularly if certain infortiwan is no longer
collected or information collected in future persad not comparable with information collected rropperiods. Fo
example, in 2009, we adopted new methodology tlafdvintegrate server-based web beacon informatitmour
existing panel-based data. In 2009, we also acdjaing entered into a strategic alliance with weddydits
companies in order to enhance the scope of oueséased web beacon information. As a result, sonoer
existing customers or customers of acquired eatitiay become dissatisfied as a result of changesrin
methodology and decide not to continue purchagdieg subscriptions or may decide to discontinuevigliag us
with their web beacon or other server-side infoiomatAdditionally, we expect that we will need tarther integrate
new capabilities with our existing methodologiewd develop or acquire additional products or lioEBusiness in
the future. The resulting future changes to ouhm@blogies, the information we collect, or the &gy we
implement to collect and analyze information, sastthe movement away from pure pacethiric measurement tc
hybrid of panel- and site-centric measurement, ozayse additional customer dissatisfaction and residss of
customers.

Difficulties entering into arrangements with websitowners, wireless communications operators andeoth
entities supporting server- and census-based methogies may negatively affect our methodologies dratm
our business.

We believe that our methodologies are enhancetidglbility to collect information using server-bdsecb
beacon information and other census-level appreadieere can be no assurance, however, that weevidble to
maintain relationships with a sufficient number &edpe of websites in order to provide the qualftynarketing
intelligence that our customers demand from oudpets. If we fail to continue to expand the scopew server-
based data collection approaches, customers miglind to purchase our products or renew their@itions, our
reputation could be damaged and our business teuidiversely affected.

Material defects or errors in our data collectiomd analysis systems could damage our reputatiorsutein
significant costs to us and impair our ability teeB our products.

Our data collection and analysis systems are congrld may contain material defects or errors. lfitaah, the
large amount of data that we collect may cause®moour data collection and analysis systems. defgct in our
panelist data collection software, network systestejstical projections or other methodologiesldwasult in:

* loss of customer:

« damage to our bran

« lost or delayed market acceptance and sales gfroducts;

« interruptions in the availability of our produc

« the incurrence of substantial costs to correctraaterial defect or erro
« sales credits, refunds or liability to our custosy
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« diversion of development resources; i
« increased warranty and insurance cc

Any material defect or error in our data collectgystems could adversely affect our reputationapetating
results.

We may lose customers or be liable to certain costes if we provide poor service or if our produds not
comply with our customer agreements.

Errors in our systems resulting from the large anta@tfi data that we collect, store and manage ccalse the
information that we collect to be incomplete octmtain inaccuracies that our customers regartjagisant. The
failure or inability of our systems, networks andgesses to adequately handle the data in a higlitygand
consistent manner could result in the loss of eusts. In addition, we may be liable to certain of customers for
damages they may incur resulting from these eveot$) as loss of business, loss of future reverweach of
contract or loss of goodwill to their business.

Our insurance policies may not cover any claim rgtais for loss of data, inaccuracies in data leeroindirect
or consequential damages and defending a lawsgg#ydless of its merit, could be costly and dimemhagement’s
attention. Adequate insurance coverage may novéiaale in the future on acceptable terms, ollapay such
developments could adversely affect our businedsesults of operations.

Concern over spyware and privacy, including any leitons of privacy laws, perceived misuse of perabn
information, or failure to adhere to the privacy camitments that we make, could cause public relason
problems and could impair our ability to recruit pelists or maintain panels of sufficient size andape, which
in turn could adversely affect our ability to prade our products.

Any perception of our practices as an invasionrofgey, whether legal or illegal, may subject ugptlic
criticism. Existing and future privacy laws andreasing sensitivity of consumers to unauthorizedldsures and
the collection or use of personal information antine usage information may create negative puklction
related to our business practices. The U.S. Corgmed various media sources have expressed comverthe
collection of online usage information from cabteyiders and telecommunications operators to fatditargeted
Internet advertising, and the collection of onlbehavioral data generally. A similar concern haantraised by
regulatory agencies in the United Kingdom. In additU.S. and European lawmakers and regulators bapresse
concern over the use of third party cookies or twe&cons to understand Internet usage. Such ariaisay have a
chilling effect on businesses that collect or uskne usage information generally or substantiadyrease the cost
of maintaining a business that collects or usemenlsage information. Additionally, public concéras grown
regarding certain kinds of downloadable softwarevikm as “spyware” and “adware.” These concerns nighse
users to refrain from downloading software from ltmternet, including our proprietary technology,iethcould
make it difficult to recruit additional panelists maintain a panel of sufficient size and scopprtivide meaningful
marketing intelligence. In response to spywareadlare concerns, numerous programs are availabley of
which are available for free, that claim to ideyngind remove spyware and adware from users’ comrgueme of
these anti-spyware programs have in the past fihtand may in the future identify, our softwaespyware or as
a potential spyware application. We actively seefrevent the inclusion of our software on listspyware
applications or potential spyware applicationsapply best industry practices for obtaining appiatprconsent froi
panelists and protecting the privacy and confidgityi of our panelist data and to comply with eixigtprivacy laws
However, to the extent that we are not succesaful,anti-spyware programs classify our softwargpgsvare or as
a potential spyware application, or third partywsas providers fail to comply with our privacy oata security
requirements, our brand may be harmed and usersefrayn from downloading these programs or maysiaill
our software. Any resulting reputational harm, ptid claims asserted against us or decrease isizbeor scope of
our panel could reduce the demand for our produatsgase the cost of recruiting panelists and iesdye affect our
ability to provide our products to our customersy/f these effects could harm our business.
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Any unauthorized disclosure or theft of private imfmation we gather could harm our busines

Unauthorized disclosure of personally identifiaiisrmation regarding Web site visitors, whethaotigh
breach of our secure network by an unauthorizety pamployee theft or misuse, or otherwise, cowdhhour
business. If there were an inadvertent disclostipersonally identifiable information, or clientrmfidential
information, or if a third party were to gain unlaoitized access to the personally identifiable mntlconfidential
information we possess, our operations could bewsy disrupted and we could be subject to cladmbtigation
arising from damages suffered by panel membersi@uant to the agreements with our customers. ditiad, we
could incur significant costs in complying with thrultitude of state, federal and foreign laws relgay the
unauthorized disclosure of personal informatiomally, any perceived or actual unauthorized disgle®f the
information we collect could harm our reputatiomhstantially impair our ability to attract and rietpanelists and
have an adverse impact on our business.

Our business may be harmed if we deliver, or aregaéved to deliver, inaccurate information to ouustomers,
to the media or to the public generally.

If the information that we provide to our customeéosthe media, or to the public is inaccuratepenceived to
be inaccurate, our brand may be harmed. The infimm#hat we collect or that is included in ouralzases and the
statistical projections that we provide to our oustrs, to the media or to the public may contaibheoperceived to
contain inaccuracies. These projections may beedleas an important measure for the success ofrcérainesse:
especially those businesses with a large onlinggmiee. Any inaccuracy or perceived inaccuracyenddia reporte
by us about such businesses may potentially affiecinarket perception of such businesses and iiastiiims or
litigation around the accuracy of our data, orappropriateness of our methodology, may encourggeeasive
action on the part of our competitors, and couldrhaur brand. Any dissatisfaction by our custonwrthe media
with our digital marketing intelligence, measureinendata collection and statistical projection heogtologies,
whether as a result of inaccuracies, perceivectimacies, or otherwise, could have an adverseteaffeour ability
to retain existing customers and attract new custerand could harm our brand. Additionally, we ddog
contractually required to pay damages, which cbeldubstantial, to certain of our customers ifitiiermation we
provide to them is found to be inaccurate. Anyiligbthat we incur or any harm to our brand tha suffer because
of actual or perceived irregularities or inaccueadn the data we deliver to our customers coutcht@ur business.

The market for digital marketing intelligence is @&n early stage of development, and if it does detelop, or
develops more slowly than expected, our businesishgiharmed.

The market for digital marketing intelligence praothiis at a relatively early stage of developmand] it is
uncertain whether these products will achieve tdglels of demand and increased market acceptansesu@cess
will depend to a substantial extent on the williags of companies to increase their use of suchuptednd to
continue use of such products on a long-term bkaistors that may affect market acceptance include:

« the reliability of digital marketing intelligenceqducts;
 public concern regarding privacy and data secu

« decisions of our customers and potential custoneedgvelop digital marketing intelligence capalskt
internally rather than purchasing such productsftbirc-party suppliers like us

« decisions by industry associations in the Uniteteé®t or in other countries that result in assamadiirected
awards, on behalf of their members, of digital nueasient contracts to one or a limited number of
competitive vendors

« the ability to maintain high levels of customerisaiction; anc
« the rate of growth in eCommerce, online advertising digital medis

The market for our products may not develop furtbemay develop more slowly than we expect or eagn
contract, all of which could adversely affect ousimess and operating results.
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Because our lon-term success depends, in part, on our ability tpemd the sales of our products to custom
located outside of the United States, our businedit become increasingly susceptible to risks asated with
international operations.

During 2009, we acquired a company with a subsihptesence in multiple Latin American countriegspite
this acquisition, we otherwise have limited expecie operating in markets outside of the UnitedeStadur
inexperience in operating our business outsidéetinited States may increase the risk that theeriational
expansion efforts we have begun to undertake wilbe successful. In addition, conducting intewradi operations
subjects us to new risks that we have not genefiatlgd in the United States. These risks include:

« recruitment and maintenance of a sufficiently laagd representative panel both globally and iradert
countries;

« expanding the adoption of our ser- or censu-based web beacon data collection in internatiooahtries;
- different customer needs and buying behavior thammre accustomed to in the United Ste

« difficulties and expenses associated with tailowng products to local markets, including theinsiation
into foreign language:

« difficulties in staffing and managing internatiomgderations — including complex and costly hiring,
disciplinary, and termination requiremer

« longer accounts receivable payment cycles anccdiffes in collecting accounts receivak

« potentially adverse tax consequences, includingtimeplexities of foreign value-added taxes andri&ins
on the repatriation of earning

 reduced or varied protection for intellectual pnapeights in some countrie

« the burdens of complying with a wide variety ofdign laws and regulation

« fluctuations in currency exchange rat

« increased accounting and reporting burdens and leaitips; anc

« political, social and economic instability abrosetyorist attacks and security concel

Additionally, operating in international marketgjuéres significant management attention and firenci
resources. We cannot be certain that the invessvaamt additional resources required to establidmaaintain
operations in other countries will hold their valweproduce desired levels of revenues or profitgbiVe cannot b
certain that we will be able to maintain and insethe size of the Internet user panel that wesntlyrhave in
various countries, that we will be able to recauiepresentative sample for our audience measuteyraucts, or
that we will be able to enter into arrangement$wisufficient number of website owners to allowtasollect
server-based information for inclusion in our digjimarketing intelligence products. In additiorerda can be no
assurance that Internet usage and eCommerce wilhce to grow in international markets. In additio
governmental authorities in various countries hdifferent views regarding regulatory oversightloé tnternet. For
example, the Chinese government has taken stape past to restrict the content available to teusers in
China.

The impact of any one or more of these risks coelghatively affect or delay our plans to expand our
international business and, consequently, our éubyerating results.

If the Internet advertising and eCommerce marketsvellop more slowly than we expect, our business$ wil
suffer.

Our future success will depend on continued grawthe use of the Internet as an advertising medaim
continued increase in eCommerce spending and tiiéepation of the Internet as a platform for a widariety of
consumer activities. These markets are evolvinglhgpand it is not certain that their current gtbwwrends will
continue.

24




The adoption of Internet advertising, particuldsyadvertisers that have historically relied orlitianal offline
media, requires the acceptance of new approacl@sthucting business and a willingness to invesuich new
approaches in light of a difficult economic envineent. Advertisers may perceive Internet advertisinge less
effective than traditional advertising for marketitheir products. They may also be unwilling to pagmium rates
for online advertising that is targeted at specfigments of users based on their demographideporfinternet
behavior. The online advertising and eCommerce atankay also be adversely affected by privacy sselating
to such targeted advertising, including that whitdikes use of personalized information, or onlinegveoral
information. Furthermore, online merchants maybwable to establish online commerce models tleat@st
effective and may not learn how to effectively catgwith other Web sites or offline merchants.dditon,
consumers may not continue to shift their spendimgoods and services from offline outlets to titernet. As a
result, growth in the use of the Internet for eCamre may not continue at a rapid rate, or the metemay not be
adopted as a medium of commerce by a broad basestfmers or companies worldwide. Moreover, thegtdno of
advertising through mobile media may slow as alteswncertain economic conditions or other fast@ecause of
the foregoing factors, among others, the markelrfternet advertising and eCommerce, including cente
through mobile media, may not continue to growigitificant rates. If these markets do not contitmdevelop, or
if they develop more slowly than expected, our bess will suffer.

Our growth depends upon our ability to retain exisf large customers and add new large customersyhuer,
to the extent we are not successful in doing sor, ability to maintain profitability and positive cgh flow may
be impaired.

Our success depends in part on our ability tosellproducts to large customers and on the renefathe
subscriptions of those customers in subsequensyEar the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008G0W we
derived over 29%, 30% and 37%, respectively, oftotal revenues from our top 10 customers. Unaegabnomic
conditions or other factors, such as the failurearsolidation of large financial institutions, meguse certain large
customers to terminate or reduce their subscriptidhe loss of any one or more of those custonmrklcecrease
our revenues and harm our current and future dpgregsults. The addition of new large customermoreases in
sales to existing large customers may requireqaatily long implementation periods and other costich may
adversely affect our profitability. To compete etfeely, we have in the past been, and may in tieré be, forced
to offer significant discounts to maintain existicigstomers or acquire other large customers. litiaddwe may be
forced to reduce or withdraw from our relationshigth certain existing customers or refrain frongaicing certain
new customers in order to acquire or maintain i@ahips with important large customers. As a ftesigw large
customers or increased usage of our products bg lewstomers may cause our profits to decline andloility to
sell our products to other customers could be adgraffected.

We derive a significant portion of our revenueshira single customer, Microsoft Corporation. Forykars
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, we desmaidximately 12%, 12% and 13%, respectively, aftotal
revenues from Microsoft. If Microsoft were to ceasesubstantially reduce its use of our produats,revenues and
earnings might decline.

As our international operations grow, changes inréagn currencies could have an increased effect aur
operating results.

A portion of our revenues and expenses from busiaperations in foreign countries are derived from
transactions denominated in currencies other tharfunctional currency of our operations in thosentries. As
such, we have exposure to adverse changes in egehates associated with revenues and operatirensgp of oL
foreign operations, but we believe this exposureetdimmaterial at this time and do not currentlgage in any
transactions that hedge foreign currency exchaaigerisk. As we grow our international operationg, exposure t
foreign currency risk could become more significant

During 2009, the value of the U.S. Dollar fluctuhtmut generally depreciated against the Britishriélpthe
Euro, the Canadian Dollar and other local currenoieinternational customers. As the U.S. Dollgprapiates
relative to the local currencies of our internasibcustomers, the cost to the customer for of esodycts and
projects correspondingly increase and could resulductions in sales or renewals, longer saletesy difficulties
in collection of accounts receivable and incregs#ze competition, any of which could adverselyeatfour
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operating results. Likewise, as the U.S. Dollarrapgtes, our contracts denominated in foreignenaies also
result in reduced revenues.

If we fail to respond to technological developmentsir products may become obsolete or less conipetit

Our future success will depend in part on our gbit modify or enhance our products to meet custoneeds,
to add functionality and to address technologidaleacements. For example, if certain handheld dsviecome tt
primary mode of receiving content and conductiagsactions on the Internet, and we are unableaptad collect
information from such devices, then we would noaibge to report on online activity. To remain cotipee, we
will need to develop new products that addressetke@slving technologies and standards across tivense of
digital media — including television, Internet ambile usage. However, we may be unsuccessfukintiying
new product opportunities or in developing or méirigenew products in a timely or cost-effective man In
addition, our product innovations may not achidvermarket penetration or price levels necessarprfaitability. If
we are unable to develop enhancements to, andeswés for, our existing methodologies or prodocié we are
unable to develop new products that keep pacenafitd technological developments or changing ingust
standards, our products may become obsolete, ladsetable and less competitive, and our busineé®evharmec

The market for digital marketing intelligence is ghly competitive, and if we cannot compete effeelyy our
revenues will decline and our business will be hath

The market for digital marketing intelligence ighly competitive and is evolving rapidly. We conmpet
primarily with providers of digital media intelligpee and related analytical products and servicesadb compete
with providers of marketing services and solutiomsh full-service survey providers and with intafrsolutions
developed by customers and potential customersp@ueipal competitors include:

* large and small companies that provide data anlysisaf consumers’ online behavior, including Catg
Inc., Google, Inc., Hitwise Pty. Ltd, Quantcastsial Measures and Nielsen/Nielsen Onl

« online advertising companies that provide measun¢iwfeonline ad effectiveness, including aQuantine,,
Google/DoubleClick Inc., ValueClick, Inc. and WPPRoGp pic;

< companies that provide audience ratings for TVioatd other media that have extended or may exteit
current services, particularly in certain interoatil markets, to the measurement of digital med@iding
Arbitron Inc., Nielsen Media Research, Inc. andl@daielson Sofres (owned by WPP Group p

* analytical services companies that provide custeméth detailed information of behavior on theirroWeb
sites, including Omniture, Inc. (owned by Adobedrémetrics, Visual Sciences and WebTrends Corjmor;

« full-service market research firms and survey pitexs that may measure online behavior and attifudes
including Harris Interactive Inc., Ipsos Group, 8grate, GFK, Kantar and The Nielsen Compz

< companies that provide behavioral, attitudinal guodlitative advertising effectiveness, includingnaynic
Logic, Inc., Insight Express, LLC and Marketing Bw@n Inc.; anc

 specialty information providers for certain indigssrthat we serve, including IMS Health Incorpodate
(healthcare) and Nielsen Mobile, Inc. (telecommatians).

Some of our current competitors have longer opagdtistories, access to larger customer bases and
substantially greater resources than we do. Asultréhese competitors may be able to devote greasources to
marketing and promotional campaigns, panel retapnpanel development or development of systems and
technologies than we can. In addition, some ofcounpetitors may adopt more aggressive pricing jedior have
started to provide some services at no cost. Fumihie, large software companies, Internet portatsdatabase
management companies may enter our market or ealtlaeic current offerings, either by developing patng
services or by acquiring our competitors, and cdeNérage their significant resources and pre-exjselationships
with our current and potential customers.
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If we are unable to compete successfully againstorrent and future competitors, we may not be éblretail
and acquire customers, and we may consequentlyierpe a decline in revenues, reduced operatinginsross
of market share and diminished value from our potslu

We may encounter difficulties managing our growtmd costs, which could adversely affect our resudfs
operations.

We have experienced significant growth over the pageral years. We have substantially expandedwnall
business, customer base, headcount, data collentiprocessing infrastructure and operating pna@sdas our
business has grown through both organic growthaagdisitions. We increased our total number oftfoike
employees to 593 employees as of December 31, 2009176 employees as of December 31, 2003. Asutref
downward adjustments to compensation and reducimoosr workforce made during 2009, however, we may
encounter decreased employee morale and increaga@dyee turnover. In addition, given the currerdgreamic
environment, we may need to further realign or cedeertain portions of our workforce in order toetneur
strategic objectives. Such actions may expose distaption by dissatisfied employees or employaated claims,
including without limitation, claims by terminatetinployees that believe they are owed more comgenghan we
believe these employees are due under our compemsaid benefit plans. In addition, during this sgperiod, we
made substantial investments in our network infugstire operations as a result of our growth aedytiowth of our
panel, and we have also undertaken certain stcadéegjuisitions. We believe that we will need totoare to
effectively manage and expand our organizationraifpns and facilities in order to accommodate piidé future
growth or acquisitions and to successfully integyatquired businesses. If we continue to growgeibnganically o
through acquired businesses, our current systethfaailities may not be adequate. Our need to #ifely manage
our operations and cost structure requires thatoméinue to assess and improve our operationanéiial and
management controls, reporting systems and proesdlirwe are not able to efficiently and effeclyveanage our
cost structure, our business may be impaired.

Failure to effectively expand our sales and markedicapabilities could harm our ability to increasmur
customer base and achieve broader market acceptaricar products.

Increasing our customer base and achieving braaddret acceptance of our products will depend to a
significant extent on our ability to expand ouresshnd marketing operations. We expect to contimuely on our
direct sales force to obtain new customers. We exgand or enhance our direct sales force both darakg and
internationally. We believe that there is signifitaompetition for direct sales personnel with $hées skills and
technical knowledge that we require. Our abilitythieve significant growth in revenues in the fetwill depend,
in large part, on our success in recruiting, tragnand retaining sufficient numbers of direct salessonnel, and our
ability to cross train our existing salesforce viltle salesforces of acquired businesses so thaatbg personnel
have the necessary information and ability to @etlevelop sales prospects for both our produadstaa products ¢
recently-acquired companies. In general, new higgaire significant training and substantial expecie before
becoming productive. Our recent hires and planmiexs imay not become as productive as we requickya@nmay
be unable to hire or retain sufficient numbersudldied individuals in the future in the marketeve we currently
operate or where we seek to conduct business. @imdss will be seriously harmed if the effortexpand our
sales and marketing capabilities are not successflithey do not generate a sufficient increaseevenues.

If we fail to develop our brand, our business mayfter.

We believe that building and maintaining awarersdssomScore and our portfolio of products in a €ost
effective manner is critical to achieving widesgre&ceptance of our current and future productssaad importar
element in attracting new customers. We will alsedto carefully manage the brands used by receatjyired
businesses as we integrate such businesses intovouiVe rely on our relationships with the medid #he
exposure we receive from numerous citations ofdatia by media outlets to build brand awarenesseedibility
among our customers and the marketplace. Furthermar believe that brand recognition will becomeeno
important for us as competition in our market igs®@s. Our brand’s success will depend on the aféerss of our
marketing efforts and on our ability to provideiable and valuable products to our customers apetitive prices.
Our brand marketing activities may not yield in@eé revenues, and even if they do, any increasedues
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may not offset the expenses we incur in attemgtrtguild our brand. If we fail to successfully matlour brand, w
may fail to attract new customers, retain existtngtomers or attract media coverage to the exegggsary to
realize a sufficient return on our brand-buildirifpes, and our business and results of operatioogd suffer.

We have a limited operating history and may notdide to achieve financial or operational success.

We were incorporated in 1999 and introduced ost fiyndicated Internet audience measurement praguct
2000. Many of our other products were first introeld during the past few years. Accordingly, westilkin the
early stages of development and have only a limoggetating history upon which our business canvaduated.
You should evaluate our likelihood of financial asgkrational success in light of the risks, undetitss, expenses,
delays and difficulties associated with an earbgstbusiness in an evolving market, some of whial be beyond
our control, including:

« our ability to successfully manage any growth wey mehieve in the future

« the risks associated with operating a businesstémational markets, including Asia, Europe antin_a
America; anc

« our ability to successfully integrate acquired basses, technologies or servic

We have a history of significant net losses, magunsignificant net losses in the future and may thimaintain
profitability.

Although we achieved net income in the 2009, 20@B82007 fiscal years of $4.0 million, $25.2 milliand
$19.3 million, respectively, we cannot assure yai tve will continue to sustain or increase proiitey in the
future. As of December 31, 2009, we had an accuedideficit of $51.7 million. Because a large pmmtdf our
costs are fixed, we may not be able to reduce @antaia our expenses in response to any decreasd irevenues,
which would adversely affect our operating resutisaddition, we expect operating expenses to aggas we
implement certain growth initiatives, which inclygenong other things, the development of new prtsjuc
expansion of our infrastructure, plans for inteioradl expansion and general and administrative msgg associated
with being a public company. If our revenues doinotease to offset these expected increases ta and operatir
expenses, our operating results would be mate@aityadversely affected. You should not consider@eenue
growth in recent periods as indicative of our fetperformance, as our operating results for fupemods are
subject to numerous uncertainties.

We have limited experience with respect to our pricmodel, and if the fees we charge for our prodsiare
unacceptable to our customers, our revenues andrapieg results will be harmed.

We have limited experience in determining the fee®ur products that our existing and potentiatomers
will find acceptable. The majority of our customergchase specifically-tailored subscription padsathat are
priced in the aggregate. Due to the level of cusation of such subscription packages, the pricihgontracts or
individual product components of such packages nudye readily comparable across customers orggrio
Existing and potential customers may have difficalésessing the value of our products and serwbes
comparing it to competing products and servicesth&smarket for our products matures, or as newpabiors
introduce new products or services that compete atts, we may be unable to renew our agreemetttisexisting
customers or attract new customers with the feekave historically charged. As a result, it is fpolssthat future
competitive dynamics in our market as well as gl@eanomic pressures may require us to reduceess, fvhich
could have an adverse effect on our revenues tabdfty and operating results.

If we are unable to sell additional products to oekisting customers or attract new customers, oavenue
growth will be adversely affected.

To increase our revenues, we believe we must dditianal products to existing customers, includaxisting
customers of acquired businesses, and regularlyeaddcustomers. If our existing and prospectivearasrs do not
perceive our products to be of sufficient value gadlity, we may not be able to increase salesisiieg customer
and attract new customers, and our operating eesilltbe adversely affected.
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We depend on third parties for data that is critida our business, and our business could suffenié cannot
continue to obtain data from these suppliers.

We rely on thirdparty data sources for information regarding certhgital activities such as television viewi
and mobile usage, as well as for information alodfline activities of and demographic informaticegarding our
panelists. The availability and accuracy of thes ds important to the continuation and developroéour cross-
media products, -products that use server- or sebased information as part of the research methggopand
products that link online and offline activity.tHis information is not available to us at commaligireasonable
terms, or is found to be inaccurate, it could hatmreputation, business and financial performance.

System failures or delays in the operation of owwrgputer and communications systems may harm our
business.

Our success depends on the efficient and unintemugperation of our computer and communicatiossesys
and the third-party data centers we use. Our ghditollect and report accurate data may be inpped by a
number of factors, including our inability to acsdke Internet, the failure of our network or s@fte systems,
computer viruses, security breaches or variahitityser traffic on customer Web sites. A failureoaf network or
data gathering procedures could impede the prowgs$idata, cause the corruption or loss of dat@revent the
timely delivery of our products.

In the future, we may need to expand our networksystems at a more rapid pace than we have ipasbte
Our network or systems may not be capable of mgdiea demand for increased capacity, or we mayrincu
additional unanticipated expenses to accommodagethapacity demands. In addition, we may loseabédidata,
be unable to obtain or provide data on a timelysbasour network may temporarily shut down if vedl to
adequately expand or maintain our network capaslio meet future requirements. Any lapse in dulitg to
collect or transmit data may decrease the valmpproducts and prevent us from providing the det¢mested by
our customers. Any disruption in our network praieg or loss of Internet user data may damageeapurtation an
result in the loss of customers, and our businedsesults of operations could be adversely aftecte

We rely on a small number of third-party servicegwiders to host and deliver our products, and any
interruptions or delays in services from these thiparties could impair the delivery of our producasid harm
our business.

We host our products and serve all of our custorfters two third-party data center facilities locdie
Virginia and lllinois. While we operate our equipmiénside these facilities, we do not control tipe@tion of eithe
of these facilities, and, depending on servicelleasguirements, we may not continue to operate @ntain
redundant data center facilities for all of ourguwots or for all of our data, which could increase vulnerability.
These facilities are vulnerable to damage or inf@fon from earthquakes, hurricanes, floods, fipgsyer loss,
telecommunications failures and similar events.yTére also subject to break-ins, computer virusaisptage,
intentional acts of vandalism and other misconddgctatural disaster or an act of terrorism, a deniso close the
facilities without adequate notice or other unaptited problems could result in lengthy interrupsion availability
of our products. We may also encounter capacititdiiions at our third-party data centers. Additibnaour data
center facility agreements are of limited duraticarsd our data center facilities have no obligatmrenew their
agreements with us on commercially reasonable tdfrasall. Our agreement for our data centerlitydiocated in
Virginia expires in October 2010, if not reneweddaur agreement for our data center facility ledan lllinois
expires in July 2010, if not renewed. Although we ot substantially dependent on either data céatdity
because of planned redundancies, and although mently are able to migrate to alternative data&en such a
migration may result in an interruption or delaysarvice. If we are unable to renew our agreemeitksthe owners
of the facilities on commercially reasonable terorsf we migrate to a new data center, we may Bgpee delays
in delivering our products until an agreement veittother data center facility can be arranged ontigeation to a
new facility is completed.

Further, we depend on access to the Internet thrthigd-party bandwidth providers to operate ousibass. If
we lose the services of one or more of our bandwpdbviders for any reason, we could experienceigi®n in the
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delivery of our products or be required to ret&ia services of a replacement bandwidth providenaly be difficult
for us to replace any lost bandwidth on commergiahsonable terms, or at all, due to the largeusuinof
bandwidth our operations require.

Our operations also rely heavily on the availapitit electrical power and cooling capacity, whick also
supplied by third-party providers. If we or therthparty data center operators that we use to eletiur products
were to experience a major power outage or if tg of electrical power increases significantly; operations and
profitability would be harmed. If we or the thirduy data centers that we use were to experientgj@ power
outage, we would have to rely on back-up generatdnich may not function properly, and their suppigly be
inadequate. Such a power outage could result idigraption of our business. Additionally, if owrrcent facilities
fail to have sufficient cooling capacity or availiétlp of electrical power, we would need to findernative facilities.

Any errors, defects, disruptions or other perforogaproblems with our products caused by third partbuld
harm our reputation and may damage our busine&sruptions in the availability of our products naguce our
revenues due to increased turnaround time to caenplejects, cause us to issue credits to custoroause
customers to terminate their subscription and ptagjgreements or adversely affect our renewal r&tasbusiness
would be harmed if our customers or potential auglis believe our products are unreliable.

The success of our business depends in large parbor ability to protect and enforce our intellecah property
rights.

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, ggnmark, trademark and trade secret laws, asasell
confidentiality procedures and contractual restiieg, to establish and protect our proprietarytsghll of which
provide only limited protection. While we have @il@ number of patent applications and own thraeedpatents,
we cannot assure you that any additional pateritbevissued with respect to any of our pendinfuture patent
applications, nor can we assure you that any p&suaéd to us will provide adequate protectiorthat any patents
issued to us will not be challenged, invalidatéd;umvented, or held to be unenforceable in actaganst alleged
infringers. Also, we cannot assure you that anyriitrademark or service mark registrations wilissied with
respect to pending or future applications or timgt@f our registered trademarks and service maikbey
enforceable or provide adequate protection of oopiietary rights. Furthermore, adequate (or amygipt,
trademark, service mark, copyright and trade squudection may not be available in every countryhich our
services are available.

We endeavor to enter into agreements with our eyepl® and contractors and with parties with whondae
business in order to limit access to and disclostiir proprietary information. We cannot be certaat the steps
we have taken will prevent unauthorized use oftednnology or the reverse engineering of our teldgyo
Moreover, third parties might independently devdleghnologies that are competitive to ours or ithfainge upon
our intellectual property. In addition, the leg&rglards relating to the validity, enforceabilitydascope of
protection of intellectual property rights in Intet-related industries are uncertain and still @wngl, both in the
United States and in other countries. The protaatioour intellectual property rights may dependoon legal
actions against any infringers being successfulcéfaot be sure any such actions will be successful

An assertion from a third party that we are infrinigg its intellectual property, whether such assentis are valic
or not, could subject us to costly and time-consuagiitigation or expensive licenses.

The Internet, mobile media, software and technolagystries are characterized by the existencelafge
number of patents, copyrights, trademarks and tsadeets and by frequent litigation based on afiega of
infringement or other violations of intellectuabperty rights, domestically or internationally. #we grow and face
increasing competition, the probability that onemmre third parties will make intellectual properights claims
against us increases. In such cases, our techeslotay be found to infringe on the intellectualgemy rights of
others. Additionally, many of our subscription agreents may require us to indemnify our customaershiod-party
intellectual property infringement claims, which wld increase our costs if we have to defend suaimsl and may
require that we pay damages and provide alterna@wgces if there were an adverse ruling in amhsuaims.
Intellectual property claims could harm our relasbips with our customers, deter future customers f
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subscribing to our products or expose us to liigatEven if we are not a party to any litigatiogtlween a customer
and a third party, an adverse outcome in any dtightlon could make it more difficult for us to féed against
intellectual property claims by the third partyainy subsequent litigation in which we are a nanmatypAny of
these results could adversely affect our brandnkess and results of operations.

One of our competitors has filed patent infringetriawsuits against others, demonstrating this party
propensity for patent litigation. It is possiblatlthis third party, or some other third party, nbaiyng an action
against us, and thus cause us to incur the sulateosts and risks of litigation. Any intellectyaioperty rights
claim against us or our customers, with or withmetit, could be time-consuming and expensive tgdte or settle
and could divert management resources and atteitioadverse determination also could prevent as foffering
our products to our customers and may requirevilegbrocure or develop substitute products thatataniringe on
other parties’ rights.

With respect to any intellectual property rightaigl against us or our customers, we may have talpmages
or stop using technology found to be in violatidradhird party’s rights. We may have to seek arige for the
technology, which may not be available on reasantdsims or at all, may significantly increase opermating
expenses or may significantly restrict our busireeg#vities in one or more respects. We may alscehaired to
develop alternative non-infringing technology, whimuld require significant effort and expense. Afyhese
outcomes could adversely affect our business asdtseof operations.

Domestic or foreign laws, regulations or enforcenteactions may limit our ability to collect and use
information about Internet users or restrict or phabit our product offerings, causing a decreasetime value ol
our products and an adverse impact on the saleswf products.

Our business could be adversely impacted by egistirfuture laws or regulations of, or actions @gmestic or
foreign regulatory agencies. For example, privamyocerns could lead to legislative, judicial anduletpry
limitations on our ability to collect maintain ande information about Internet users in the Un8éates and abroa
Various state legislatures have enacted legislatémigned to protect Internet users’ privacy, faraple by
prohibiting spyware. In recent years, similar lé&gisn has been proposed in other states and & deeal level and
has been enacted in foreign countries, most notapthe European Union, which adopted a privacgative
regulating the collection of personally identifialbhformation online. Recently, the U.S. Congrass egulators
have expressed concern over the collection ofrietanrsage information as part of a larger initetio regulate
online behavioral advertising. A similar concers h&en raised by regulatory agencies in the Umitagdom. In
addition, U.S. and European lawmakers and regddtave expressed concern over the use of thirg paokies or
web beacons to understand Internet usage. Thesealadvregulations, if drafted or interpreted brgadbuld be
deemed to apply to the technology we use, and gesltict our information collection methods, ahd tollection
methods of third parties from whom we may obtaitadar decrease the amount and utility of the imimtion that
we would be permitted to collect. Even if such laamsl regulations are not enacted, lawmakers andategs may
publicly call into question the collection and uddnternet or mobile usage data and may affectieenand
customers’ willingness to do business with us.ddiion, our ability to conduct business in certaireign
jurisdictions, including China, is restricted betlaws, regulations and agency actions of thossdjigtions. The
costs of compliance with, and the other burdenosed by, these and other laws or regulatory actimens prevent
us from selling our products or increase the cast®ciated with selling our products, and may affec ability to
invest in or jointly develop products in the UnitSthtes and in foreign jurisdictions.

In addition, failure to comply with these and otkexs and regulations may result in, among othieigt)
administrative enforcement actions and fines, dasi®n lawsuits and civil and criminal liabilit§tate attorneys
general, governmental and non-governmental enttigsprivate persons may bring legal actions dagettiat our
methods of collecting, using and distributing Wéb sisitor information are illegal or improper, wh could
require us to spend significant time and resoudedsnding these claims. For example, some comp#m¢sollect,
use and distribute Web site visitor information éddeen the subject of governmental investigatioiws a
class-actiodawsuits. Any such regulatory or civil action th&brought against us, even if unsuccessful, mstyaiit
our management’s attention, divert our resourcegatively affect our public image or reputation agour
panelists and customers and harm our business.
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The impact of any of these current or future laweegulations could make it more difficult or exgare to
attract or maintain panelists, particularly in afé jurisdictions, and could adversely affect lbusiness and results
of operations.

Laws related to the regulation of the Internet calihdversely affect our business.

Laws and regulations that apply to communicatiores @mmerce over the Internet are becoming more
prevalent. In particular, the growth and developtéithe market for eCommerce has prompted catlsore
stringent tax, consumer protection and privacy lawde United States and abroad that may impodiiawal
burdens on companies conducting business onlirea@ibption, modification or interpretation of laarsregulation
relating to the Internet or our customers’ digdpkrations could negatively affect the busines$esiocustomers
and reduce their demand for our products. Evendfhdaws and regulations are not enacted, lawmadats
regulators may publicly call into question the eotion and use of Internet or mobile usage datanadaffect
vendors and customers’ willingness to do busingds ws.

If we fail to respond to evolving industry standardour products may become obsolete or less corinpeti

The market for our products is characterized bydrégchnological advances, changes in customer
requirements, changes in protocols and evolvingstrgl standards. For example, industry associasanhk as the
Advertising Research Foundation, the Council of Ansn Survey Research Organizations, the IntergweAising
Bureau, or IAB, and the Media Ratings Council hendependently initiated efforts to either reviewlina market
research methodologies or to develop minimum staisdar online market research. In September 26@Mhegan
full audit to obtain accreditation by the Media iRgs Council. Any standards adopted by U.S or irddonally
based industry associations may lead to costlyggsio our procedures and methodologies. As atréiselcost of
developing our digital marketing intelligence protiucould increase. If we do not adhere to starsdarescribed by
the IAB or other industry associations, our custmw®uld choose to purchase products from competingpanies
that meet such standards. Furthermore, industoca®ns based in countries outside of the UnBtdes often
endorse certain vendors or methodologies. If ouhouologies fail to receive an endorsement fronmgwortant
industry association located in a foreign courdigyertising agencies, media companies and adveriis¢hat
country may not purchase our products. As a resuitefforts to further expand internationally abble adversely
affected.

The success of our business depends on the condrgrewth of the Internet as a medium for commerce,
content, advertising and communications.

Expansion in the sales of our products dependi@idntinued acceptance of the Internet as a ptatfor
commerce, content, advertising and communicatidhs.use of the Internet as a medium for comme@geat,
advertising and communications could be adversepaicted by delays in the development or adoptiareef
standards and protocols to handle increased denudiadiernet activity, security, reliability, cost,
ease-of-use, accessibility and quality-of-servidee performance of the Internet and its acceptas@medium for
commerce, content commerce, content, advertisidgcammunications has been harmed by viruses, wamnts,
similar malicious programs, and the Internet hgseernced a variety of outages and other delagsrasult of
damage to portions of its infrastructure. If foyyapason the Internet does not remain a mediurwidespread
commerce, content, advertising and communicatihresdemand for our products would be significantiguced,
which would harm our business.

We rely on our management team and may need add#igersonnel to grow our business; the loss of ane
more key employees or the inability to attract aredain qualified personnel could harm our business.

Our success and future growth depends to a signifidegree on the skills and continued servicesiof
management team, including our founders, Magid kraham, Ph.D. and Gian M. Fulgoni. Our future ses@dso
depends on our ability to retain, attract and nagévhighly skilled technical, managerial, marketamgl customer
service personnel, including members of our managéteam. All of our employees work for us on amwalt
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basis. We plan to hire additional personnel iraedlas of our business, particularly for our satesrketing and
technology development areas, both domesticallyimtednationally, which will likely increase ouraruiting and
hiring costs. Competition for these types of persgbiis intense, particularly in the Internet anésare industries.
As a result, we may be unable to successfully@ttraretain qualified personnel. Our inabilityregain and attract
the necessary personnel could adversely affedbasiness.

We may expand through investments in, acquisitimfsor the development of new products with asgsista
from other companies, any of which may not be sugsfall and may divert our management’s attention.

In mid-2008, we closed our acquisition of M:Metrasd have integrated this business into our own.
Additionally, in November 2009, we acquired the t@iea group of companies located in Latin Amerigée also
expect to continue to evaluate and enter into disioms regarding a wide array of potential stratéginsactions,
including acquiring complementary products, tecbga@s or businesses. We also may enter into raktiips with
other businesses in order to expand our produetinffs, which could involve preferred or exclusiieenses,
discount pricing or investments in other compamytpaexpand our sales capabilities. These trarmactiould be
material to our financial condition and resultopgrations. Although these transactions may proadttétional
benefits, they may not be profitable immediatelynothe long term. Negotiating any such transasticould be
time-consuming, difficult and expensive, and ouiligtto close these transactions may be subjectgulatory or
other approvals and other conditions which are bdyaur control. Consequently, we can make no assasathat
any such transactions, if undertaken and announesald be completed.

An acquisition, investment or business relationshgy result in unforeseen operating difficultiesl an
expenditures. In particular, we may encounter diffies assimilating or integrating the businessashnologies,
products, personnel or operations of the acquiosdpanies, particularly if the key personnel of éleguired
company choose not to be employed by us, and wehamea difficulty retaining the customers of any wiced
business due to changes in management and owneislgjpisitions may also disrupt our ongoing businesvert
our resources and require significant manageméeritain that would otherwise be available for omgoi
development of our business. Moreover, we canrgirasyou that the anticipated benefits of any asitio,
investment or business relationship would be redliar that we would not be exposed to unknownlliads. In
connection with any such transaction, we may:

« encounter difficulties retaining key employeesh# ticquired company or integrating diverse business
cultures;

« issue additional equity securities that would dilthe common stock held by existing stockhold

« incur large charges or substantial liabiliti

* become subject to adverse tax consequences, stdsti@preciation or deferred compensation chat
 use cash that we may need in the future to opetatbusiness

» enter new geographic markets that subject us terdiit laws and regulations that may have an advers
impact on our busines

« experience difficulties effectively utilizing acqad assets; ar
« incur debt on terms unfavorable to us or that veeusmable to repa

The impact of any one or more of these factorsatadlersely affect our business or results of dperaor
cause the price of our common stock to declinetankially.

Future acquisitions or dispositions could also Iteauilutive issuances of our equity securitit® incurrence
of debt, contingent liabilities, amortization expen, or write-offs of goodwill, any of which colidrm our
financial condition. Also, the anticipated benefitmany of our acquisitions may not materialize.
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Changes and instability in the national and globpblitical environments may adversely affect our lusss anc
financial results.

Recent turmoil in the political environment in mawgrts of the world, including terrorist activitjgsilitary
actions, and increases in energy costs due tdiligtan oil-producing regions may continue to garessure on
global economic conditions. If global economic andrket conditions, or economic conditions in thétebh States
or other key markets deteriorate, we may experiemzierial impacts on our business, operating resaitd
financial condition.

Changes in, or interpretations of, accounting rulesd regulations, could result in unfavorable accoting
charges or cause us to change our compensationges.

Accounting methods and policies, including polig@erning revenue recognition, expenses and atiogun
for stock options are continually subject to reviéwerpretation, and guidance from relevant actograuthorities,
including the Financial Accounting Standards Board-ASB, and the SEC. Changes to, or interpratata,
accounting methods or policies in the future mayune us to reclassify, restate or otherwise chamgevise our
financial statements, including those containeHart Il, ltem 8 of our Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Investors could lose confidence in our financialperts, and our business and stock price may be asily
affected, if our internal control over financial rgorting is found by management or by our independlien
registered public accounting firm to not be adeqeatr if we disclose significant existing or poteaiti
deficiencies or material weaknesses in those colstro

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 meguis to include a report on our internal cortrar
financial reporting in our Annual Report on FormKl0That report includes management’s assessmeheof
effectiveness of our internal control over finahcéporting as of the end the fiscal year. Addititty, our
independent registered public accounting firm guieed to issue a report on their evaluation ofdperating
effectiveness of our internal control over finaheegporting.

We continue to evaluate our existing internal colstagainst the standards adopted by the Publicp@oyn
Accounting Oversight Board, or PCAOB. During theise of our ongoing evaluation of our internal cols, we
have in the past identified, and may in the fuidemtify, areas requiring improvement, and may haveesign
enhanced processes and controls to address issndiiéd through this review. Remedying any sigaift
deficiencies or material weaknesses that we oimml@pendent registered public accounting firm nugntify could
require us to incur significant costs and expegdificant time and management resources. We cassoire you
that any of the measures we may implement to reraaglysuch deficiencies will effectively mitigate emedy suc
deficiencies. Further, if we are not able to cortgptee assessment under Section 404 in a timelyenan to
remedy any identified material weaknesses, we andhoependent registered public accounting firnuldde
unable to conclude that our internal control owearficial reporting is effective at the requiredaoeimg deadlines. If
our internal control over financial reporting isuftd by management or by our independent regispasblic
accountant to not be adequate or if we disclogg@fgignt existing or potential deficiencies or mééweaknesses
those controls, investors could lose confidenaauinfinancial reports, we could be subject to sanstor
investigations by The NASDAQ Global Market, the @dties and Exchange Commission or other regulatory
authorities and our stock price could be advera#fgcted.

A determination that there is a significant deficig or material weakness in the effectiveness ofrdernal
control over financial reporting could also redace ability to obtain financing or could increabe tost of any
financing we obtain and require additional expamai$ to comply with applicable requirements.

Our net operating loss carryforwards may expire uilized or underutilized, which could prevent usdim
offsetting future taxable income.

We have previously experienced “changes in contt@t have triggered the limitations of Section 88#he
Internal Revenue Code on a portion of our net dpeydoss carryforwards. As a result, we may batbiohin the
amount of net operating loss carryforwards thatame use in the future to offset taxable incomdf8. Federal
income tax purposes.
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As of December 31, 2009, we estimate our federdlistate net operating loss carryforwards for tayppses
are approximately $52.9 million and $39.7 millioespectively. These net operating loss carryforgraril begin tc
expire in 2023 for federal income tax reportinggmsges and in 2014 for state income tax reportinggaes.

In addition, at December 31, 2009 we estimate ggregate net operating loss carryforwards for tappses
related to our foreign subsidiaries are $14.0 oilliwhich will begin to expire in 2014.

We periodically assess the likelihood that we tvlable to recover our deferred tax assets, patigipet
operating loss carryforwards. We consider all a@é evidence, both positive and negative, inclydiistorical
levels of income, expectations and risks associattidestimates of future taxable income and ong@irudent and
feasible tax planning strategies. As a result isf &imalysis of all available evidence, both positind negative, the
total valuation allowance against our deferredassets increased by $719,000 during the year ebelegimber 31,
2009, primarily due to current year losses.

As of December 31, 2009, we had a valuation all@gasf $3.6 million against certain deferred taxetssThe
valuation allowance relates to the acquired defietaie assets of the M:Metrics UK subsidiary, théeded tax asset
related to the value of our auction rate securi@sl the deferred tax assets of the foreign si#iid that are in
their start-up phases, including China, Germanyydgikong and certain Certifica entities. Dependingoar actual
results in the future, there may be sufficient pesievidence to support the conclusion that alk ortion of our
remaining valuation allowance should be furtheucsd. To the extent we determine that all or aigof our
valuation allowance is no longer necessary, we @{perecognize an income tax benefit in the pesioch
determination is made for the reversal of the widnaallowance. If we determine that, based orvib&ght of
available evidence, it is more-likely-than-not teatme portion, or all, of the deferred tax asseflswt be realized,
we expect to recognize income tax expense in thegsuch determination is made for the increagenvaluation
allowance. These events could have a material itrgraour reported results of operations.

We may require additional capital to support busssegrowth, and this capital may not be available on
acceptable terms or at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to supparbusiness growth and may require additionadiuto
respond to business challenges, including the teeddvelop new products or enhance our existingumts,
enhance our operating infrastructure and acquingpdementary businesses and technologies.

Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity ortdielancings to secure additional funds. If we eais
additional funds through further issuances of ggoiitconvertible debt securities, our existing khatders could
suffer significant dilution, and any new equity seties we issue could have rights, preferencespaivileges
superior to those of holders of our common stoaky Aebt financing secured by us in the future caudtlide
restrictive covenants relating to our capital ragsactivities and other financial and operationatters, which may
make it more difficult for us to obtain additior@pital and to pursue business opportunities, dietypotential
acquisitions. In addition, we may not be able ttaobadditional financing on terms favorable tooust all. If we
are unable to obtain adequate financing or finapoimterms satisfactory to us when we requireut,ability to
continue to support our business growth and toaredpo business challenges could be significantijtéd. In
addition, the terms of any additional equity or disbuances may adversely affect the value ane pfiour
common stock.

Due to the prevailing global economic conditionatttargely began in 2008 and continued through6082
many businesses do not have access to the capitkéta on acceptable terms. In addition, as atresthis global
credit market crisis, conditions for acquisitiortieities have become very difficult as tight glolzaédit conditions
have adversely affected the ability of potentiafdns to finance acquisitions. Although these coodg have not
immediately affected our current plans, these asbveonditions are not likely to improve signifidgrin the near
future and could have a negative impact on ouitahd execute on future strategic activities.

We face the risk of a decrease in our cash balanaged losses in our investment portfolio.

We hold a large balance of cash, cash equivalemtslaort-term investments. The ability to achieue o
investment objectives is affected by many factsosne of which are beyond our control. We rely ardtparty
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money managers to manage the majority of our invest portfolio in a risk-controlled framework. Oeash is
invested in high-quality fixed-income securitieslas affected by changes in interest rates. Intestss are highly
sensitive to many factors, including governmentahetary policies and domestic and internationahendc and
political conditions.

The outlook for our investment income is dependenthe future direction of interest rates and time@want of
cash flows from operations that are available fioestment. Any significant decline in our investmieicome or the
value of our investments as a result of fallingiest rates, deterioration in the credit of theugées in which we
have invested, decreased liquidity in the marketese investments, or general market conditiomsld have an
adverse effect on our net income and cash position.

Our investment strategy attempts to manage inteastisk and limit credit risk. By policy, we gnihvest in
what we view as very high quality debt securiteas] our largest holdings are short-term U.S. Gavemt
securities. We do not hold any sub-prime mortgagesdructured investment vehicles. We do not inreselow
investment-grade securities.

We have invested some of our assets in auction sateurities, which are subject to risks that mayusa losses
and affect the liquidity of those investments.

As of December 31, 2009, our principal sourcesqufidlity consisted of cash, cash equivalents amdtsierm
investments of $88.1 million. As of December 31020we held $2.8 million in long-term investmentsisisting of
four separate auction rate securities with a parevaf $4.3 million. In prior years, we investedtiese auction rate
securities for short periods of time as part ofiomestment policy. However, uncertainties in thedit markets hax
prevented us and other investors in recent pefrods liquidating some holdings of auction rate sé@s. As there
were no auctions for these securities in 2009, \ag imcur additional losses.

Risks Related to the Securities Market and Ownerslpi of our Common Stock

We cannot assure you that a market will continuedevelop or exist for our common stock or what tmarket
price of our common stock will be.

Prior to our initial public offering, which was cqueted on July 2, 2007, there was no public tradiragket for
our common stock, and we cannot assure you thatvdheontinue to develop or be sustained. If a ketidoes not
continue to develop or is not sustained, it magliffecult for you to sell your shares of commonaat an attractiv
price or at all. We cannot predict the prices aicWwtour common stock will trade.

The trading price of our common stock may be subjexsignificant fluctuations and volatility, and ar new
stockholders may be unable to resell their sharés grofit.

The stock markets, in general, and the markettefdmology stocks in particular, have experiendgd kevels
of volatility. The market for technology stocks Heesen extremely volatile and frequently reachesl&that bear no
relationship to the past or present operating perdmce of those companies. These broad marketifitiohs may
adversely affect the trading price of our commatist In addition, the trading price of our commadock has been
subject to significant fluctuations and may congirta fluctuate or decline.

The price of our common stock in the market mawilg@er or lower than the price you pay, dependimgnan)
factors, some of which are beyond our control aag mot be related to our operating performancs. pbssible
that, in future quarters, our operating results mayelow the expectations of analysts or investsss result of
these and other factors, the price of our commaockstnay decline, possibly materially. These flutitwes could
cause you to lose all or part of your investmerdin common stock. Factors that could cause fluichs in the
trading price of our common stock include the fafiiog:

« price and volume fluctuations in the overall stoc#rket from time to time
« volatility in the market price and trading volumitechnology companies and of companies in ourstrgy

« actual or anticipated changes or fluctuations inaperating results
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« actual or anticipated changes in expectations diggour performance by investors or securitiedyets

« the failure of securities analysts to cover our omn stock after this offering or changes in finahci
estimates by analyst

 actual or anticipated developments in our comprs’ businesses or the competitive landsci

* actual or perceived inaccuracies in, or dissatigfaavith, information we provide to our customersthe
media;

« litigation involving us, our industry or bot

* regulatory development

« privacy and security concerns, including publicoe@tion of our practices as an invasion of privi
« general economic conditions and trer

* major catastrophic event

« sales of large blocks of our stoc

« the timing and success of new product introductmmsgpgrades by us or our competitc

« changes in our pricing policies or payment termthose of our competitor

 concerns relating to the security of our networlt apstems

« our ability to expand our operations, domesticatg internationally, and the amount and timing of
expenditures related to this expansion

« departures of key personn

In the past, following periods of volatility in thearket price of a company’s securities, securitlass action
litigation has often been brought against that camyp If our stock price is volatile, we may becotine target of
securities litigation, which could result in subgtal costs and divert our managemsrattention and resources fri
our business. In addition, volatility, lack of pibg performance in our stock price or changesutoaverall
compensation program, including our equity incemfivogram, may adversely affect our ability to iretey
employees.

If securities or industry analysts do not publislesearch or reports about our business or if thegus an
adverse or misleading opinion regarding our stoayr stock price and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stock will bduehced by the research and reports that industry o
securities analysts publish about us or our busifdéany of the analysts who cover us issue armisgdvor
misleading opinion regarding our stock, our stodkgwould likely decline. If one or more of thesealysts cease
coverage of our company or fail to publish reporisus regularly, we could lose visibility in th@dincial markets,
which in turn could cause our stock price or trgdiolume to decline.

Future sales of shares by existing stockholders kcbcause our stock price to decline.

If our existing stockholders sell, or indicate atention to sell, substantial amounts of our comstock in the
public market, the trading price of our common ktoguld decline. These sales could also make ienddficult for
us to sell equity or equity-related securitieshie future at a time and price that we deem appatsri

Insiders have substantial control over the outstang shares of our common stock, which could limibyr
ability to influence the outcome of key transactisnincluding a change of control.

Our directors, executive officers and each of aackholders who own greater than 5% of our outstand
common stock and their affiliates, in the aggregtgether beneficially own a substantial amourthefoutstandin
shares of our common stock. As a result, theséistdders, if acting together, may be able to inficee or control
matters requiring approval by our stockholdersluding the election of directors and the
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approval of mergers, acquisitions or other extranany transactions. They may have interests tHégrdrom yours
and may vote in a way with which you disagree ahitivmay be adverse to your interests. This comagoh of
ownership may have the effect of delaying, preventr deterring a change of control of our compaoyld
deprive our stockholders of an opportunity to reeei premium for their common stock as part ofla shour
company and might affect the market price of oungmn stock.

We have incurred and will continue to incur incread costs and demands upon management as a result of
complying with the laws and regulations affectingpaiblic company, which could adversely affect our
operating results.

As a public company, we have incurred and will awre to incur significant legal, accounting andesth
expenses that we did not incur as a private comgargddition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, afl as rules
implemented by the Securities and Exchange Comomisgid The NASDAQ Stock Market, requires certain
corporate governance practices for public compaes management and other personnel devote aasitiast
amount of time to public reporting requirements aarporate governance. These rules and regulatiavs
significantly increased our legal and financial gisnce costs and made some activities more tinmstoming and
costly. We also have incurred additional costs @ased with our public company reporting requireselff these
costs do not continue to be offset by increasedmegs and improved financial performance, our djperaesults
would be adversely affected. These rules and régnkalso make it more difficult and more expeador us to
obtain director and officer liability insurance,dawe may be required to accept reduced policy $imitd coverage
or incur substantially higher costs to obtain thme or similar coverage if these costs continuésto As a result, it
may be more difficult for us to attract and retgiralified people to serve on our board of directoras executive
officers.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation antlylaws and under Delaware law might discourage,ajebr
prevent a change of control of our company or chasgin our management and, therefore, depress tlaalimg
price of our common stock.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contpinvisions that could depress the trading priceusf
common stock by acting to discourage, delay orgmea change of control of our company or changesii
management that the stockholders of our companydeeagn advantageous. These provisions:

* provide for a classified board of directors so thait all members of our board of directors aretelat one
time;

« authorize “blank check” preferred stock that ouaitabof directors could issue to increase the nuraber
outstanding shares to discourage a takeover at

« prohibit stockholder action by written consent, ethimeans that all stockholder actions must be takan
meeting of our stockholder

« prohibit stockholders from calling a special megtiri our stockholder:
* provide that the board of directors is expresshhatized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws;

 provide for advance notice requirements for nonmmat for elections to our board of directors or for
proposing matters that can be acted upon by stéd&isat stockholder meeting

Additionally, we are subject to Section 203 of Bwlaware General Corporation Law, which prohibits a
Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a dr@nge of business combinations with any “intexa’st
stockholder for a period of three years followihg tlate on which the stockholder became an “iniedlés
stockholder and which may discourage, delay orgamea change of control of our company.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our corporate headquarters and executive officetoaated in Reston, Virginia, where we occupy
approximately 62,000 square feet of office spaateua lease that initially expires in 2018, althowuge have an
option to extend until up to 2028, subject to dartanditions. We also lease space in various ioeatthroughout
the United States and Latin America, as well aBdronto, London and Japan for sales and other peetolf we
require additional space, we believe that we waldble to obtain such space on commercially reddernerms.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we are involved in various legadceedings arising from the normal course of iess
activities. We are not presently a party to anydiem legal proceedings the outcome of which weevelj if
determined adversely to us, would individually mthe aggregate have a material adverse impacation o
consolidated results of operations, cash flowsrarfcial position.

ITEM 4. (REMOVED AND RESERVED)

PART Il
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANTS COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AN|
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIE!
PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ &Mdlarket under the symbol “SCOR” since our initial
public offering on June 27, 2007. The followingleabets forth the high and low sales prices ofammmon stock
for each period indicated and are as reported b DAQ.

2009 2008
Fiscal Perioc High Low High Low
First Quartel $13.9¢ $ 7.47 $33.2¢ $17.31
Second Quarte $15.51 $ 9.8t $29.1C $17.7%
Third Quartel $19.0C $12.3¢ $24.0C $16.8¢
Fourth Quarte $19.5¢ $14.3:2 $18.0¢ $ 6.6:

HOLDERS

As of March 10, 2010 there were 589 stockholdenmgobrd of our common stock, although we beliew th
there may be a significantly larger number of baigfowners of our common stock. We derived thehbar of
stockholders by reviewing the listing of outstargd@ommon stock recorded by our transfer agent &ao€h 10,
2010.
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STOCK PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The graph set forth below compares the cumulatited stockholder return on our common stock between
June 27, 2007 (the date our common stock first cenuad trading on the NASDAQ Global Market) and
December 31, 2009 to the cumulative total retufrtt@NASDAQ Composite Index and NASDAQ Computetdr
over the same period. This graph assumes the meastof $100 at the closing price of the marketsume 27, 20(
in our common stock, the NASDAQ Composite Index trelNASDAQ Computer Index, and assumes the
reinvestment of dividends, if any. We have neved pavidends on our common stock and have no ptgdans to
do so.

The comparisons shown in the graph below are baged historical data. We caution that the stockepri
performance shown in the graph below is not necidggadicative of, nor is it intended to forecastig potential
future performance of our common stock.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among comScore, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
and The NASDAQ Computer Index
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* $100 invested upon market close of the NASDAQ Gldbearket on June 27, 2007, our initial public offey date
including reinvestment of dividenc

The preceding Stock Performance Graph is not dediteddvith the Securities and Exchange Commissind
shall not be incorporated by reference in any offilugs under the Securities Act of 1933, as adest) or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whethde before or after the date hereof and irrdisgecf any
general incorporation language in any such filing.

40




DIVIDEND POLICY

Since our inception, we have not declared or pajdcash dividends. We currently expect to retaimiegs for
use in the operation and expansion of our busiaedgherefore do not anticipate paying any cashlends in the
foreseeable future.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The information required by this item regarding ifgaompensation plans is set forth in Part lignht 12
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownersldatanagement and Related Stockholder Matters”isf th
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

UNREGISTERED SALES OF EQUITY SECURITIES AND USE OF PROCEEDS
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities during tiree Months Ended December 31, 2009

None.

Use of Proceeds from Sale of Registered Equity 3#ies

On June 26, 2007, our Registration Statements aom o1, as amended (Reg. Nos. 333-131740 and
333-144071) were declared effective in connectiith e initial public offering of our common stagbursuant to
which we registered an aggregate of 6,095,000 studreur common stock, of which we sold 5,000,008res and
certain selling stockholders sold 1,095,000 shanetyding the underwriters’ over-allotment, atrécp to the public
of $16.50 per share. We received net proceedsprbapnately $73.1 million after deducting discounts
commissions and related costs as well as the peepds received by selling stockholders from tlesgproceeds.

The principal purposes of the offering were to teempublic market for our common stock and tolitate our
future access to the public equity markets, as agetb obtain additional capital. Except as disedsmelow, we
currently have no specific plans for the use ofréreaining net proceeds of the offering. We hawkwae anticipate
that we will continue to use the net proceeds fthenoffering for general corporate purposes, wiigy include
working capital, capital expenditures, other cogterexpenses and acquisitions of complementaryptsd
technologies or businesses. In addition, we usptbapnately $13.1 million of the net proceeds fapital
expenditures related to computer hardware and gggnpas well as office improvements. We also used
$45.9 million for the acquisitions of M:Metrics,dand Certifica, Inc.

Pending the uses described above, we intend tstitive net proceeds in a variety of short-ternerat-
bearing, investment grade securities. There has heenaterial change in the planned use of prockedsour
initial public offering from that described in tfieal prospectus filed by us with the SEC pursuariRule 424(b) on
June 28, 2007.
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PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES BY THE ISSUER AND AFFILIATED PURCHASERS

During the three months ended December 31, 2009epurchased the following shares of common stock i
connection with certain restricted stock and retd stock unit awards issued under our Equityritice Plans:

Maximum
Number (or
Approximate
Total Dollar Value) of
Number of Shares
Shares (or Units)
(or Units) that May
Purchased as Yet Be
Part of Publicly Purchased
Total Number of Announced Under the
Shares (or Units) Average Price Plans of Plans or
Purchased(1) Per Share (or Unit) Programs Programs
October 1— October 31, 200 27,20: $2.2¢ — —
November 3— November 30, 200 35,77¢ $1.21 — —
December — December 31, 20C 26,74t $0.5¢ — .
Total 89,72¢ — —

(1) The shares included in the table above were repsatheither in connection with (i) our exerciséhef
repurchase right afforded to us in connection wéttain employee restricted stock awards or (&)fthrfeiture
of shares by an employee as payment of the ministatatory withholding taxes due upon the vestingestain
employee restricted stock and restricted stockawérds

For the three months ended December 31, 2009htresrepurchased in connection with our exerditieco
repurchase right afforded to us upon the cessafiemployment consisted of the following:

Total Number of Average Price

Shares Purchased Per Share
October 1— October 31, 200 23,62¢ $0.0C
November 3— November 30, 200 33,06: $0.0C
December — December 31, 20C 25,91¢ $0.0C
Total 82,60¢

The shares we repurchased in connection with thmeat of minimum statutory withholding taxes duenp
the vesting of certain restricted stock and ret&dstock unit awards were repurchased at thedheant fair marke
value of the shares. For the three months endedrbiaer 31, 2009, these shares consisted of thevialp

Total Number of Average Price

Shares Purchase( Per Share
October 1— October 31, 200 3,57¢ $16.9¢
November J— November 30, 200 2,712 $15.97
December — December 31, 20C 83(C $16.97
Total 7,12(C
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial dsttauld be read in conjunction with our consoliddtedncial
statements and the accompanying notes and “Managsniescussion and Analysis of Financial Conditemd
Results of Operations” included elsewhere in thort. The selected data in this section is nenidéd to replace
the consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated statements of operations datdhenconsolidated statements of cash flows dataedoh of
the three years ended December 31, 2009, 2008007a3 well as the consolidated balance sheetdaih
December 31, 2009 and 2008 are derived from andldie read together with our audited consolidéitehcial
statements and related notes appearing in thistréffee consolidated statements of operations aladathe
consolidated statements of cash flows data foy¢laes ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 as wélkas t
consolidated balance sheet data as of Decemb@08Z, 2006 and 2005 are derived from our auditedalidated
financial statements not included in this reponr Gistorical results are not necessarily indieat¥ results to be
expected for future periods.

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(In thousands, except share and per share dat

Consolidated Statement of Operation:

Data:
Revenue: $ 127,74  $117,37: $ 87,15! $ 66,291 $ 50,26
Cost of revenues(! 38,73( 34,56: 23,85¢ 20,56( 18,21¢
Selling and marketing(1 41,95¢ 39,40( 28,65¢ 21,47: 18,95
Research and development 17,821 14,83: 11,41z 9,00¢ 7,41¢
General and administrative( 18,23: 16,78¢ 11,59¢ 8,29: 7,08¢
Amortization 1,457 804 96€ 1,371 2,431
Total expenses from operatic 118,20( 106,38: 76,49t 60,70¢ 54,11
Income (loss) from operatiol 9,54( 10,98¢ 10,65¢ 5,587 (3,846
Interest and other income (expense), 41C 1,86: 2,62 231 (20¢)
(Loss) gain from foreign current (132 (321) (29€) 12t (96)
Gain on sale (impairment) of marketable

securities 89 (2,239 — — —
Revaluation of preferred stock warrant

liabilities — — (1,195 (229 (14)

Income (loss) before income taxes and
cumulative effect of change in account

principle 9,907 10,29: 11,79« 5,71¢ (4,169
(Provision) benefit for income tax (5,939 14,89t 7,522 (50) 182
Net income (loss) before cumulative eff

of change in accounting princig 3,96¢ 25,18t¢ 19,31¢ 5,66¢ (3,987)
Cumulative effect of change in accounting

principle — — — — (440

43




Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(In thousands, except share and per share dat

Net income (loss 3,96¢ 25,18¢ 19,31¢ 5,66¢ (4,422)
Accretion of redeemable preferred st — — (1,829 (3,179 (2,63¢)
Net income (loss) attributable to comnr

stockholders $ 396¢ $ 2518t $ 17,487 $ 249 $ (7,060
Net income (loss) attributable to commr

stockholders per common sha

Basic $ 0.1 $ 08¢ $ 09¢ ¢ —  $ (2.30)

Diluted $ 0.1 $ 08: $ 0.8t $ — ¢ (2.30)
Weighted-average number of shares us

in per share calculation

Basic 30,014,08  28,691,21  16,139,36  3,847,21. 3,130,199

Diluted 30,970,64  30,232,71  18,377,56  3,847,21: 3,130,199

(1) Amortization of stoc-based compensation is included in the precedirgitéms as follows

2009 2008 2007 2006 200%

(In thousands)
Cost of revenue $1,18¢ $ 861 $ 27¢ $12 $—
Selling and marketin 4,617 2,611 1,00¢ 82 —
Research and developmt 1,111 70€ 24t 13 —
General and administratiy 2,94: 2,29¢ 941 91 3

December 31,
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash, cash equivalents and s-term investment $ 88,117 $ 71,46. $ 96,817 $ 16,03. $ 9,17«

Total current asse 136,40° 116,58: 123,44 31,49: 20,79:
Total asset 217,40t 199,56: 147,67. 42,081 29,471
Total current liabilities 60,11( 55,99: 42,077 32,88( 27,22(
Equipment loan and capital lease obligations,

long-term 674 — 977 2,261 1,28:
Preferred stock warrant liabilities and common

stock subject to pt — — 1,81¢ 5,36z 4,997
Redeemable preferred stc — — — 101,69! 98,51¢
Stockholder equity (deficit) 147,93¢ 134,88( 102,62: (99,55 (102,29

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows Datz

Net cash provided by operating activit $25,037 $32,98¢ $21,21. $10,90¢ $4,25:
Depreciation and amortizatic 8,001 5,77¢ 4,73( 4,25¢ 5,12:
Capital expenditure 6,472 14,25: 3,63¢ 2,31¢ 1,071
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Please see “Critical Accounting Policies and Estasaunder Part I, Item 7 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for further discussion of key accountaignges which occurred during the years coverdueimbove
table. Additional information regarding businessntinations and dispositions for the relevant peviablove may
be found in the notes accompanying our consoliditemcial statements included in Part Il, ltemf&his Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our firahcondition and results of operations should kad in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statertseand the related notes to those statementsdadlelsewhere
in Part Il Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form KO4n addition to historical financial informatiorthe following
discussion and analysis contains forward-lookiragenents that involve risks, uncertainties and aggions. Our
actual results and timing of selected events mégrdnaterially from those anticipated in thesewWard-looking
statements as a result of many factors, includimgé discussed under Item 1A, “Risk Factors” arstehere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. See also “Cautign@tatement Regarding Forward-Looking Statemeatshe
beginning of this Form 10-K.

Overview

We provide a leading digital marketing intelligemtatform that helps our customers make betterrméal
business decisions and implement more effectivigadligusiness strategies. Our products and solsitidfer our
customers deep insights into consumer behaviduydityy objective, detailed information regardinggs of their
online properties and those of their competitoosipded with information on consumer demographiaabigristics,
attitudes, lifestyles and offline behavior.

Our digital marketing intelligence platform is coriged of proprietary databases and a computational
infrastructure that measures, analyzes and reporthgital activity. The foundation of our platforimdata collected
from our comScore panel of approximately two millimternet users worldwide who have granted usieikpl
permission to confidentially measure their Intenngdige patterns, online and certain offline buyiebavior and
other activities. By applying advanced statistia&thodologies to our panel data, we project conssimaline
behavior for the total online population and a wideiety of user categories. This panel informat®n
complemented by a Unified Digital Measurement sotuto digital audience measurement. Unified Digita
Measurement blends panel and server methodolagies isolution that provides a direct linkage asbnciliation
between server and panel measurement.

We deliver our digital marketing intelligence thgiuour comScore Media Metrix product family, thrbumur
comScore Marketing Solutions products and, sincg B8, through our M:Metrics products suite. Mellietrix
delivers digital media intelligence by providing iadependent, third-party measurement of the siekavior and
characteristics of Web site and online advertisiatyvork audiences among home, work and universtriet usel
as well as insight into the effectiveness of onheertising. Our Marketing Solutions products comlihe
proprietary information gathered from the comSqmaael with the vertical industry expertise of cor®canalysts
to deliver digital marketing intelligence, includitthe measurement of online advertising effectisepeustomized
for specific industries. We typically deliver ouradia Metrix products electronically in the formwéekly, monthly
or quarterly reports. Customers can access cuarehhistorical Media Metrix data and analyze thaega anytime
online. Our M:Metrics products suite connects mebibnsumer behavior, content merchandising, aniteev
capabilities to provide comprehensive mobile maikigtligence. Customers can access our M:Metrata dets and
reports anytime online. Our Marketing Solutionsdarcts are typically delivered on a monthly, qudyter ad hoc
basis through electronic reports and analyses.

Our company was founded in August 1999. By 2000haa: established a panel of Internet users anchbega
delivering digital marketing intelligence produtiisit measured online browsing and buying behawiour first
customers. We also introduced netScore, our irsitiatlicated Internet audience measurement prodiect.
accelerated our introduction of new products in2@@h the launch of Plan Metrix (formerly AiM 2 ) Search,
and the Campaign R/F (Reach and Frequency) analysism and product offerings that measure onlitigity at
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the local market level. By 2004, we had built abglopanel of approximately two million Internet tsdn that year,
in cooperation with Arbitron, we launched a sentitat provides ratings of online radio audience2005, we
expanded our presence in Europe by opening aredfficondon. In 2006, we continued to expand ouasueemer
capabilities with the launch of World Metrix, a pect that provides worldwide data on digital meadsage, and
Video Metrix, our product that measures the audidoc streaming online video. In 2007, we complaiadinitial
public offering and we also launched ten new prégldaring that year, including Campaign Metrix, g&d 2.0, Ac
Metrix, Brand Metrix, Segment Metrix and comScorarkkter. During 2008, we launched Ad Metrix-Adveeti
View, a tool for agencies and publishers desigoeslipport their media buying and selling activiées supply
their competitive intelligence needs, Plan Mettite second generation of our media planning produntt Extende
Web Measurement, which allows the tracking of distied web content across third party sites, ssobideo,
music, gaming applications, widgets and social meBeginning in Summer 2009, the panel informatiaa been
complemented by comScore Media Metrix 360, a “WaifDigital Measurement” solution to digital audienc
measurement that blends panel and server methadslimgo an approach that provides a direct linkagy
reconciliation between server and panel measurement

We have complemented our internal developmentinits with select acquisitions. On June 6, 2002, w
acquired certain Media Metrix assets from Jupitexdi Metrix, Inc. Through this acquisition, we aitgd certain
Internet audience measurement services that rdptails of Web site usage and visitor demograpi@csJuly 28,
2004, we acquired the outstanding stock of DenatbAessociates, Inc, otherwise known as Q2 Branglligénce,
Inc. or Q2, to improve our ability to provide owrstomers more robust survey research integratédowit
underlying digital marketing intelligence platfor@n January 4, 2005, we acquired the assets anthadscertain
liabilities of SurveySite Inc., or SurveySite. Thgh this acquisition, we acquired proprietary In&ttbased data-
collection technologies and increased our custgreaetration and revenues in the survey businessl&yr28,
2008, we acquired the outstanding stock of M:Msetrinc. to expand our abilities to provide our ousérs a more
robust solution for the mobile medium. In the ma&dF November 2009, we acquired Certifica, Indeaaer in web
measurement in Latin America, as part of our gl@xglansion. Certifica maintains offices and sads®urces in six
Latin American countries, which we hope will progid platform to enhance our business in that region

Our total revenues have grown to $127.7 millionmwythe fiscal year ending December 31, 2009 from
$66.3 million during the fiscal year ended Decenffer2006. By comparison, our total expenses frparations
have grown to $118.2 million from $60.7 million awbe same period. The growth in our revenues wiasapily the
result of:

* increased sales to existing customers, as a i@&solir efforts to deepen our relationships withsthelients b
increasing their awareness of, and confidencéayalue of our digital marketing intelligence fdan;

« growth in our customer base through the additionexf customers
« the sales of new products to existing and new costs;
« growth in sales outside of the U.S. as a resutndéring into new international marki

As of December 31, 2009, we had 1,273 customemspaced to 706 as of December 31, 2006. We sell ofost
our products through our direct sales force.

As a result of the recent global financial crisighe credit markets, softness in the housing nisrkiéficulties
in the financial services sector and continuingnecoic uncertainties, the direction and relativersgth of the
U.S. and global economies have become increasinglgrtain. During 2008 and 2009, we experienceéhiteld
number of our current and potential customers ogasielaying or reducing renewals of existing stiptions and
purchases of new or additional services and preduetsumably due to the current economic downfeurther,
certain of our existing customers have exited tlaeket due to industry consolidation and bankrujrogonnection
with these challenging economic conditions. Desihite economic downturn, we continued to add nat ne
customers during each quarter of 2009, and outiegisustomers renewed their subscriptions ateaghbver 90%
based on dollars renewed in the year ended Dece3db@009. However, if these adverse economic ¢iondi
continue or further deteriorate, our operating ltesstould be adversely affected.
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Our Revenues

We derive our revenues primarily from the fees thatcharge for subscription-based products anadmized
projects. We define subscription-based revenuesvesues that we generate from products that weedeb a
customer on a recurring basis. We define projectmaes as revenues that we generate from customiagatts the
are performed for a specific customer on a nonfregybasis. We market our subscription-based petsju
customized projects and survey services withirctiraScore Media Metrix product family, comScore Msikg
Solutions and through our mobile solutions.

A significant characteristic of our business maddedur large percentage of subscription-based aotsr
Subscription-based revenues accounted for 86%alfrevenues in 2009, 83% of total revenues in 200879% of
total revenues in 2007.

Many of our customers who initially purchased atomszed project have subsequently purchased ooarof
subscription-based products. Similarly, many of sulsscription-based customers have subsequentihased
additional customized projects.

Historically, we have generated most of our reverfuem the sale and delivery of our products to panies
and organizations located within the United Stafés.intend to expand our international revenuesdtyng our
products and deploying our direct sales force modatditional international markets in the futufer the year
ended December 31, 2009, our international revewaes $19.7 million, an increase of $3.2 million,18%,
compared to 2008. International revenues compaggdoximately15%, 14% and 12% of our total reverfaethe
fiscal years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and, 28§gectively.

We anticipate that revenues from our U.S. customé@tgontinue to constitute the substantial majoof our
revenues, but we expect that revenues from customaside of the U.S. will increase as a percenvégetal
revenues as we build greater international recmgn@f our brand and expand our sales operaticoisadjly.

Subscription Revenues

We generate a significant proportion of our sulpditm-based revenues from our Media Metrix prodantily.
Products within the Media Metrix family include MadVetrix 360, Media Metrix 2.0, Plan Metrix, Worldetrix,
Video Metrix and Ad Metrix. These product offeringsvide subscribers with intelligence on digitaddia usage,
audience characteristics, audience demographicsmlitee and offline purchasing behavior. Custonvens
subscribe to our Media Metrix products are provid&ith login IDs to our Web site, have access todatabase and
can generate reports at anytime.

We also generate subscription-based revenues feotait reports and analyses provided through coneSco
Marketing Solutions, if that work is procured bystemers for at least a nine month period and tséoouer enters
into an agreement to continue or extend the wolnkotigh our Marketing Solutions products, we deliigital
marketing intelligence relating to specific indiest; such as automotive, consumer packaged gooidsta@nment,
financial services, media, pharmaceutical, retadhnology, telecommunications and travel. Thisketing
intelligence leverages our global consumer panglextensive database to deliver information unigue particular
customer’s needs on a recurring schedule, as welha continual-access basis. Our Marketing Swigtcustomer
agreements typically include a fixed fee with aitiahterm of at least one year. We also providesthproducts on a
non-subscription basis as described under “Préjesenues” below.

In addition, we generate subscription-based rev@froen survey products that we sell to our cust@mier
conducting our surveys, we generally use our gltitaknet user panel. After questionnaires araitligied to the
panel members and completed, we compile their resgmand then deliver our findings to the customkaq also
has ongoing access to the survey response datayaare compiled and updated over time. Theseideltade
responses and information collected from the acumaley questionnaire and can also include behalviigiormatior
that we passively collect from our panelists. tustomer contractually commits to having a sunaydeicted on a
recurring basis, we classify the revenues genefatetd such survey products as subscription-baseshrees. Our
contracts for survey services typically includexad fee with terms that range from two monthsre gear.
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Project Revenue

We generate project revenues by providing custainiz®rmation reports to our customers on a nonrauyl
basis through comScore Marketing Solutions. Formgta, a customer in the media industry might retjaegistom
report that profiles the behavior of the customactve online users and contrasts their marketshad loyalty
with similar metrics for a competitor's online udmse. If this customer continues to request thertdeyond an
initial project term of at least nine months antkesinto an agreement to purchase the reportreowaring basis,
we begin to classify these future revenues as siptisti-based.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial caadiand results of operations are based on ourotidased
financial statements, which have been prepareddardance with accounting principles generally ptae in the
U.S. The preparation of these financial statemesggires us to make estimates, assumptions andhgmg that
affect the amounts reported in our financial staets and the accompanying notes. We base our ¢ssima
historical experience and on various other assumgtihat we believe to be reasonable under therostances.
Actual results may differ from these estimates. /bur significant accounting policies are desatibemore detalil
in the notes to our consolidated financial statemamtiuded in Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Repon
Form 10-K, we believe the following accounting pas to be the most critical to the judgments astorates used
in the preparation of our consolidated financiatetents.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenues when the following fundamenitzria are met: (i) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurrecherdervices have been rendered, (iii) the feexésdfor
determinable, and (iv) collection of the resulthegeivable is reasonably assured.

We generate revenues by providing access to oineodatabase or delivering information obtainednfraur
database, usually in the form of periodic repdRsvenues are typically recognized on a straigte{tiasis over the
period in which access to data or reports are geajiwhich generally ranges from three to 24 months

We also generate revenues through survey servigis gontracts ranging in term from two monthsrie o
year. Our survey services consist of survey andtiprenaire design with subsequent data collecaoalysis ant
reporting. We recognize revenues on a strdigktbasis over the estimated data collection pleoiace the survey «
guestionnaire design has been delivered. Any chamiie estimated data collection period resultariradjustment
to revenues recognized in future periods.

Certain of our arrangements contain multiple elets\esonsisting of the various services we offerlthile
element arrangements typically consist of a supson to our online database combined with custechizervices.
We have determined that there is not objectiverahiable evidence of fair value for any of our seeg and,
therefore, account for all elements in multiplenedsts arrangements as a single unit of accountiogess to data
under the subscription element is generally pravisteortly after the execution of the contract. Hegre the initial
delivery of customized services generally occuisseqguent to contract execution. We recognize tkieeen
arrangement fee over the performance period ofat$tedeliverable. As a result, the total arrangerfemis
recognized on a straight-line basis over the pdreginning with the commencement of the last custedservice
delivered.

Generally, our contracts are non-refundable andaamcelable. In the event a portion of a contreict i
refundable, revenue recognition is delayed unélréfund provisions lapse. A limited number of oustrs have the
right to cancel their contracts by providing ushwitritten notice of cancellation. In the event taatustomer cance
its contract, it is not entitled to a refund forgurservices, and it will be charged for costs imed plus services
performed up to the cancellation date.

48




Fair Value Measurement:

We adopted new guidance which establishes fairevalaasurements and disclosures on January 1, 2408,
respect to our financial assets and liabilitiesl an January 1, 2009, with respect to our nonfirdrssets and
liabilities that are recognized and disclosed &tJfalue on a nonrecurring basis.

Fair value is an exit price representing the am¢heitt would be received to sell an asset or patcattsfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between margatticipants. As such, fair value is a market-basedsurement
that should be determined based on assumptionstirket participants would use in pricing an asséiability.
We prioritize the inputs used in measuring fairuealising the following hierarchy:

Level 1 — observable inputs such as quoted prices inaatiarkets;

Level 2 — inputs other than the quoted prices in activeketa that are observable either directly or
indirectly;

Level 3 — unobservable inputs of which there is littlenormarket data, which require us to develop our
own assumptions.

This hierarchy requires the use of observable nmal&i&, when available, and to minimize the use of
unobservable inputs when determining fair value.a®acurring basis, we measure our marketable itesuat fair
value and determine the appropriate classificdgwoal for each reporting period. This determinatiequires
significant judgments to be made by us.

Our investment instruments are classified withinelel or Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. Letel
investment instruments are valued using quoted etgmices. Level 3 instruments are valued usingatidn
models, primarily discounted cash flow analyses #pes of instruments valued based on quoted mprices in
active markets include all U.S. government and egeecurities. Such instruments are generally fladswvithin
Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The typesradtiuments valued based on significant unobservaplés include
our illiquid auction rate securities. Our illiquédiction rate securities are valued using a moagltttkes into
consideration the securities coupon rate, the @imcondition of the issuers and the bond insyrtbies expected
date liquidity will be restored, as well as an égplilliquidity discount. Such instruments are sified within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivabd®unts payable, accrued expenses and capial lea
obligations reported in the consolidated balanezthequal or approximate their respective fauesl

As of April 1, 2009, the existing model for recogmn and measurement of impairment for debt sdesrivas
modified. The two principal changes to the impaintodel for debt securities are as follows:

» Recognition of an other-than-temporampairment charge for debt securities in an unzedlioss position «
impaired is required if any of these conditions raed: (1) we do not expect to recover the entirertized
cost basis of the security, (2) we intend to $adldecurity or (3) it is more likely than not tha will be
required to sell the security before it recovessaitnortized cost bas

« If the first condition above is met, but we do imdend to sell and it is not more likely than nioat we will be
required to sell the security before recovery ®fitnortized cost basis, we are required to re¢wrd t
difference between the security’s amortized costshand its recoverable amount (representing thaitcr
loss) in earnings and the difference between thergg’'s recoverable amount and fair value in other
comprehensive income. If either the second or ttriitéria are met, then we are required to recagtiie
entire difference between the secl’s amortized cost basis and its fair value in egs

We concluded that our auction rate securities#ihin the second and third criteria above, and assult, the
modification had no effect on our consolidated ficial statements as all previous impairments wessréed
other-than-temporary and were recognized in easning
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Goodwill and Intangible Asset

We record goodwill and intangible assets when vegiie other businesses. The allocation of the @sgelpric
to intangible assets and goodwill involves the esiee use of management’s estimates and assumpdiotishe
result of the allocation process can have a siganiti impact on our future operating results. Warede the fair
value of identifiable intangible assets acquireagiseveral different valuation approaches, inclgdielief from
royalty method, and income and market approaches rélief from royalty method assumes that if wek ridt own
the intangible asset or intellectual property, waild be willing to pay a royalty for its use. Wengeally use the
relief from royalty method for estimating the valofeacquired technology/methodology assets. Thenme
approach converts the anticipated economic bertbfitsve assume will be realized from a given asgetvalue.
Under this approach, value is measured as themireseth of anticipated future net cash flows ganed by an
asset. We generally use the income approach te eaistomer relationship assets and oompete agreements. T
market approach compares the acquired asset tlasasisets that have been sold. We generally esmainket
approach to value trademarks and brand assets.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortizedrmtheir useful lives while goodwill and indefiaitived assets
are not amortized, but rather are periodicallyagdor impairment. An impairment review generabyuires
developing assumptions and projections regardimgparating performance. We have determined thaf alur
goodwill is associated with one reporting unit asdwo not operate separate lines of business wsffent to our
services. Accordingly, on an annual basis we perfiire impairment assessment for goodwill at therpnise level
by comparing the fair value of our reporting uwitits carrying value including goodwill recorded ttne reporting
unit. If the carrying value exceeds the fair vaingpairment is measured by comparing the impliédvalue of the
goodwill to its carrying value and any impairmeptemined is recorded in the current period. If estimates or tt
related assumptions change in the future, we magdpgired to record impairment charges to redueeérrying
value of these assets, which could be materialtelivere no impairment charges recognized durinyéaes ended
December 31, 2009, 2008 or 2007.

Long-lived assets

Our long-lived assets primarily consist of propextyd equipment and intangible assets. We evalbate t
recoverability of our long-lived assets for impa@mnt whenever events or changes in circumstancesabedhe
carrying value of such assets may not be recover#fidn indication of impairment is present, wenpare the
estimated undiscounted future cash flows to be rgéea by the asset to its carrying amount.

Recoverability measurement and estimation of uindisted cash flows are grouped at the lowest lexrel f
which identifiable cash flows are largely indepemntdsf the cash flows of other assets and liabditiéthe
undiscounted future cash flows are less than thging amount of the asset, we record an impairness equal to
the excess of the asset’s carrying amount ovédaiityalue. The fair value is determined based aation
techniques such as a comparison to fair valuesrofies assets or using a discounted cash flow aighAlthough
we believe that the carrying values of our longdhassets are appropriately stated, changes tagtrar market
conditions or significant technological developnsetbuld significantly impact these judgments argpine
adjustments to recorded asset balances. Therenedmepairment charges recognized during the yeadsce
December 31, 2009, 2008 or 2007.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We manage credit risk on accounts receivable bippring credit evaluations of our customers forsérig
customers coming up for renewal as well as allpeosve new customers, by reviewing our accoundscamtracts
and by providing appropriate allowances for unailde amounts. Allowances are based on management’
judgment, which considers historical experience getific knowledge of accounts that may not béectble. We
make provisions based on our historical bad dep¢rgence, a specific review of all significant datgling invoices
and an assessment of general economic condititie financial condition of a customer deteriosatesulting in
an impairment of its ability to make payments, #ddal allowances may be required.
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Income Taxes

We account for income taxes using the asset ahilityamethod. We estimate our tax liability thrdug
calculations we perform for the determination of ourrent tax liability, together with assessingporary
differences resulting from the different treatmehitems for income tax and financial reporting poses. These
differences result in deferred tax assets andliligsi which are recorded on our balance sheetthiie assess the
likelihood that deferred tax assets will be receden future periods. In assessing the need fal@ation allowance
against the deferred tax assets, we consider fastmh as future reversals of existing taxable teary differences,
taxable income in prior carryback years, if cargioes permitted under the tax law, tax planningtstgies and
future taxable income exclusive of reversing terappdifferences and carryforwards. In evaluatingjgxtions of
future taxable income, we consider our history rofipability, the competitive environment, the oa#routlook for
the online marketing industry and general econaraitditions. In addition, we consider the timefraover which it
would take to utilize the deferred tax assets godheir expiration. To the extent we cannot cadelthat it is more
likely than not that the benefit of such assets bélrealized, we establish a valuation allowamcadjust the
carrying value of such assets.

As of December 31, 2009, we estimate our federmlistaite net operating loss carryforwards for tayppses
are approximately $52.9 million and $39.7 millioespectively. These net operating loss carryforgraril begin tc
expire in 2023 for federal and in 2014 for statime tax reporting purposes. In addition, at Deaam3ii, 2009, w
estimate our aggregate net operating loss carrgiahfior tax purposes related to our foreign subsi€ls is
$14.0 million, which begins to expire in 2014.

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, we recorded tiatuallowances against certain deferred tax asfets
$3.6 million and $2.8 million, respectively. At Derober 31, 2009, the valuation allowance was prigneglated to
the acquired deferred tax assets of our M:Metrikssubsidiary, the deferred tax asset related toéthee of our
auction rate securities, and the deferred tax asde¢he foreign subsidiaries that are in theirtatp phases,
including China, Germany, Hong Kong and certaintiies subsidiaries. At December 31, 2008, the aibn
allowance was primarily related to the acquirecedefd tax assets of our M:Metrics UK subsidiary t#reddeferred
tax asset related to the value of our auctiongateirities.

As of December 31, 2009, we concluded that it watsmore likely than not that a substantial portidrour
deferred tax assets in certain foreign jurisdictiarould be realized and that an increase in theatiain allowance
was necessary. In making that determination, weidered the losses incurred in these foreign jigtisohs during
2009, the current overall economic environment, thieduncertainty regarding the profitability of aogd
businesses. As a result, we recorded an incredke nteferred tax asset valuation allowance of @pprately
$719,000. As of December 31, 2008, we concludetdthzs more likely than not that a substantiatioo of our
U.S. deferred tax assets and deferred tax asse¢stain foreign jurisdictions would be realizedldhat a reduction
of our valuation allowance was necessary. In matiag determination, we considered the profitabdithieved
during 2008, the successful integration of M:Metriicto the base business, and the continued matirihe online
marketing industry, balanced against the curreetal’economic environment. As a result, we recor@eeduction
in the deferred tax asset valuation allowance pf@pmately $18.5 million.

The exercise of certain stock options and the ngsif certain restricted stock awards during theryended
December 31, 2009 and 2008 generated income taixctleds equal to the excess of the fair marketevaler the
exercise price or grant date fair value, as applicaVe will not recognize a deferred tax assehwaspect to the
excess of tax over book stock compensation dechectiotil the tax deductions actually reduce ourenirtaxes
payable. As such, we have not recorded a defemseddset in the accompanying financial statemefsed to the
additional net operating losses generated fromvihdfall tax deductions associated with the exeraikthese stock
options and the vesting of the restricted stockrdsdf and when we utilize these net operatingdsgo reduce
income taxes payable, the tax benefit will be rdedras an increase in additional paid-in capital.

During the year ended December 31, 2009, certairesirelated to restricted stock awards vestdthastwher
our stock price was substantially lower than thevalue of those shares at the time of grant. Assalt, the income
tax deduction related to such shares is less tfmaxpense previously recognized for book purp&esh shortfall:
reduce additional paid-in capital to the extentdfati tax benefits have been previously recognittmlvever, as
described above, we have not yet recognized wihidfabenefits because these tax benefits haveesatted in a
reduction of current taxes payable. Thereforejriigact of these shortfalls totaling $785,000 hasnbe
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included in income tax expense for the year endecebhber 31, 2009. Looking forward, we expect oooime tax
provisions for future reporting periods will be iagied by this stock compensation tax deductiontfloWe
cannot predict the stock compensation shortfalldictfpecause of dependency upon future market peidermance
of our stock.

For uncertain tax positions, we use a more-likbrtnot recognition threshold based on the techniests of
the tax position taken. Tax positions that meetntioee-likely-than-not recognition threshold are swgad as the
largest amount of tax benefits determined on a datiwe probability basis, which are more likely thaot to be
realized upon ultimate settlement in the finanstatements. As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, @e ha
unrecognized tax benefits of $1.2 million and $280, respectively, on a tax-effected basis. luismplicy to
recognize interest and penalties related to incaxenatters in income tax expense. As of Decembg2@09, the
amount of accrued interest and penalties on unrezed tax benefits is $489,000. As of December2B0g, the
amount of accrued interest expense on unrecogtazeoenefits was not material. We or one of ouisgliaries file:
income tax returns in the U.S. Federal jurisdictimal various states and foreign jurisdictions.iRoome tax returr
filed by us, we are no longer subject to U.S. Faldexaminations by tax authorities for years be0@6 or state
and local tax examinations by tax authorities feans before 2005, although tax attribute carryfodsgenerated
prior to these years may still be adjusted upoméxation by tax authorities.

Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize compensation expensedia-based awards based on estimated fair valtleeon
date of grant. We estimate the fair value of oaclstoption awards on the date of grant using tleeBIScholes
option-pricing model. The determination of fair walusing the Black-Scholes model requires a numbesmplex
and subjective variables. Key variables in the BI&choles option-pricing model include the expeatelatility of
our common stock price, the expected term of thaerdwnd the riskree interest rate. In addition, we are require
estimate forfeitures of unvested awards when rdzogncompensation expense.

If factors change and we employ different assunmgtio future periods, the compensation expenseaad
may differ significantly from what we have previdusecorded. Beginning in 2007, we made use ofictst stock
awards and reduced our use of stock options asradbstock-based compensation.

At December 31, 2009, total estimated unrecogniz@dpensation expense related to unvested stocktbase
awards granted prior to that date was $17.9 millwmich is expected to be recognized over a wedyhterage
period of 1.74 years.

The actual amount of stoddased compensation expense we record in any fiscid will depend on a numk
of factors, including the number of shares sulfiecestricted stock and/or stock options issuegl fair value of our
common stock at the time of issuance and the eggedlatility of our stock price over time. In atddn, changes to
our incentive compensation plan that heavily fastock-based compensation are expected to caudelssed
compensation expense to increase in absolute sollar

Seasonality

Historically, a slightly higher percentage of oustomers have renewed their subscription produittsus
during the fourth quarter.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth selected consolidatatements of operations data as a percentag&abf
revenues for each of the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007

Revenue! 100.(% 100.% 100.(%
Cost of revenue 30.5 29.4 27.4
Selling and marketing expens 32.¢ 33.€ 32.¢
Research and developmt 14.C 12.¢ 13.1
General and administratiy 14.: 14.: 13.c
Amortization 1.1 0.7 1.1
Total expenses from operatic 92.t 90.¢€ 87.¢
Income from operatior 7.5 9.4 12.2
Interest income ne 0.3 1.€ 3.C
Loss from foreign currenc (0.7 0.3 0.3
Gain on sale (impairment) of marketable secur 0.1 (1.9 —
Other — — —
Revaluation of preferred stock warrant liabilit — — (1.4
Income before income tax 7.8 8.8 13t
(Provision) benefit for income tax (4.€) 12.7 8.7
Net income 3.2 21t 22.2
Accretion of redeemable preferred st — — (2.7
Net income attributable to common stockholc 3.2% 21.5% 20.1%

Year Ended December 31, 2009 Compared to Year Erdleckmber 31, 2008 and Year Ended December 31,
2008 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2007

Revenues
Year Ended December 31 Change Percent Change
2009 2008 2009 2008
Vs. vs. VS. Vs.
2009 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
(Dollars in thousands)
Revenue: $127,74( $117,37: $87,15: $10,36¢ $30,21¢ 8.8% 34.7%

Total revenues increased by approximately $10.4amitluring the year ended December 31, 2009 apaoex
to the year ended December 31, 2008. This incneaseprimarily due to sales to existing customessetan the
U.S. totaling $97.7 million during 2009, which wea$12.4 million increase compared to 2008. Durirggame
period, revenues from new U.S. customers were $hil®n, a decrease of approximately $5.3 millfoom 2008.
Revenues from customers outside of the U.S. totgdpdoximately $19.7 million, or approximately 15ffdotal
revenues, during the year ended December 31, 2008h was an increase of $3.2 million compared& We
attribute this increase to our recent expansioorestin Europe, Latin America, Asia and Canada.

Our total customer base grew by a net increas@ottlistomers from 1,166 at December 31, 2008 {031a2
December 31, 2009. There was continued revenuetlyiovour subscription revenues, which increased by
approximately $12.4 million from $97.4 million dog 2008 to $109.8 million during 2009. However, pusject-
based revenues, decreased by $2.1 million from0&2dlion during 2008 to $17.9 million during 2008/e believe
that this decrease was attributable to the implgeneral economic conditions upon our customeusigets and
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capacity for spending on market research, which h@ase had a greater impact on our customers’ paeshaf
project-based services than on our subscriptioricsss.

Total revenues increased by approximately $30.2anitluring the year ended December 31, 2008 apaoex
to the year ended December 31, 2007. This incneaseprimarily due to sales to existing customessetan the
U.S. totaling $85.3 million during 2008, which wea$18.3 million increase compared to 2007. In aaitlitrevenues
during the year ended December 31, 2008 from neSv tlistomers were $15.6 million, an increase of
approximately $5.6 million from 2007. Revenues fronstomers outside of the U.S. totaled approxingatel
$16.5 million, or approximately 14% of total revesuduring the year ended December 31, 2008, whéshan
increase of $6.4 million from 2007. This increaseswdue primarily to our ongoing expansion effant&urope and
continued growth in Canada. Revenues in 2008 aldade the impact of the M:Metrics acquisition, ethivas
completed at the end of May 2008.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, our toisiomer base grew by a net increase of 271 custome
from 895 at December 31, 2007 to 1,166 customeeaeémber 31, 2008. There was continued revenuwetigia
both our subscription revenues, which increaseddproximately $28.6 million from $68.8 million dog 2007 to
$97.4 million during 2008, and, to a lesser extent, project-based revenues, which increased & $illion, from
$18.4 million during 2007 to $20.0 million durin@@8.

We generally invoice customers on an annual, qdgrme monthly basis, or at the completion of certa
milestones, in advance of revenues being recognfaunts that have been invoiced are recordeddnunts
receivable and any unearned revenues are recaordkldrred revenues until the invoice has beerci@t and the
revenue recognized.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses consist of cost of reversadiifig and marketing expenses, research and gaweint
expenses, general and administrative expensesnamidization expenses.

Included in our operating expenses are costs ssichré and other facilities related costs, and etgation
expense. During the year ended December 31, 2868and other facilities related costs, and deptieri expense
increased by approximately $1.1 million and $1.8iom, respectively, compared to the year endedebdmer 31,
2008. The increases are due to new office fadlitied capital expenditures to support our infrastine and positio
us for future growth. The related increases wdoealed to cost of revenues, sales and marketsgarch and
development, and general and administrative costs.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we announcedsdructuring program and reduced our headcount by
approximately forty-six full-time positions. Inclad in operating expenses is a $563,000 chargeddatseverance
and other costs directly related to the reductioous workforce. In addition, included in stock-kdscompensation
expense for the year ended December 31, 2009, ppasxamately $175,000 due to restricted stock awandt wer:
modified to accelerate vesting as part of the vestiring plan. As of December 31, 2009, we had eiprately
$148,000 in outstanding restructuring liability ssting of employee severance that we expect talpang the firs
quarter of 2010.

Cost of Revenues

Year Ended December 31, Change Percent Change
2009 2008 2009 2008
VS. VS. VS. VS.
2009 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
(Dollars in thousands)
Cost of revenue $38,73( $34,56: $23,85¢ $4,16¢ $10,70¢ 12.1% 44.%
As a percentage of revent 30.2% 29.2% 27.%%

Cost of revenues consists primarily of expenseded|to operating our network infrastructure, piidg our
products, and the recruitment, maintenance andostippbour consumer panels. Expenses associatbdhdse are
include the salaries, stock-based compensationiedatbd personnel expenses of network operatsamsey
operations, custom analytics and technical suppbrf which are expensed as they are incurredt Gbrevenues
also includes data collection costs for our proslugperational costs associated with our data Enteluding
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depreciation expense associated with computer prgripthat supports our panel and systems, ancasdidc
overhead, which is comprised of rent and othetifeas related costs, and depreciation expensergerteby gener:
purpose equipment and software.

Cost of revenues increased by approximately $4libbmiduring the year ended December 31, 2009 coatha
to the year ended December 31, 2008. This incrgaseattributable to a $1.3 million increase in paeeruitment
and retention and a $1.7 million increase in dathlzandwidth costs. The increase in bandwidth wastd the
growth in the panel in addition to the use of oewrbeaconing technology. Also, due to the ovenaltéase in rent
and depreciation costs, we incurred an increas@foximately $1.2 million in the amount of thessts allocated
to cost of revenues for the year ended Decembe2®19. In addition, depreciation expense was fuiithreased b
capital expenditures to support the infrastructbeg supports our panel and customer products. @asivenues
increased as a percentage of revenues by lesstiegoercentage point during the year ended Dece®ih&009
over 2008.

Cost of revenues increased by approximately $1@liomduring the year ended December 31, 2008 czmexh
to the year ended December 31, 2007. This increasedue to a $4.4 million increase in employeergasabenefits
and stock-based compensation costs associate@miiRpanded workforce supporting a larger prododt a
customer base and the additional employee costs drg acquisition of M:Metrics as compared to 208/2
experienced increases of approximately $3.1 millioocosts paid to outside service vendors and ingento our
panel members related to the development of owdymts during 2008 as compared to 2007. We alsoriexmed
increases in panel, data and bandwidth costs dfré8lion to support our consumer panel during 2@8&ompared
to 2007. Cost of revenues increased as a perceotageenues by two percentage points during tlae gaded
December 31, 2008 over 2007. We attribute thissiase to the increased costs associated with ours#aen of
M:Metrics.

Selling and Marketing Expenses

Year Ended December 31, Change Percent Change
2009 2008 2009 2008
VS. VS. VS. VS.
2009 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
(Dollars in thousands)
Selling and marketing expens $41,95¢  $39,40( $28,65¢ $2,55¢ $10,74. 6.5% 37.2%
As a percentage of revent 32.8% 33.% 32.%%

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilgaddries, benefits, commissions, bonuses, and-baged
compensation paid to our direct sales force andsitnyg analysts, as well as costs related to omlireoffline
advertising, product management, industry confexgngromotional materials, public relations, otbedes and
marketing programs, and allocated overhead, wisidomprised of rent and other facilities relatestgoand
depreciation expense generated by general purpgoseneent and software. All selling and marketingtsaare
expensed as they are incurred. Commission plandeseloped for our account managers with critem@ size of
sales quotas that vary depending upon the indiVeltzle. Commissions are paid to a salespersoraaméxpensed
as selling and marketing costs when a sales carigragecuted by both the customer and us. Indlse of multi-
year agreements, one year of commissions is paidlly, with the remaining amounts paid at the in@ing of the
succeeding years.

Selling and marketing expenses increased by $dl@mduring the year ended December 31, 2009 coetha
to the year ended December 31, 2008. This increasedue to a $2.0 million increase in stock-basedpensation
due to our increased use of equity compensatigadf our bonus program, and, to a lesser degrpéty
compensation issued in exchange for reductionsgolar cash compensation implemented in 2009. Alge,to the
overall increase in rent and depreciation costsexperienced a $732,000 increase in the amouhiesttcosts
allocated to selling and marketing expenses foyter ended December 31, 2009. Selling and matketipenses
decreased as a percentage of revenues during 2@@8mgpared to 2008 due to revenue growth relabivecreases
in selling and marketing expenses.

Selling and marketing expenses increased by $10idmduring the year ended December 31, 2008 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2007.irdrsase was due to a $6.1 million increase in eygd
salaries, benefits and related costs associatédaritncrease in account management personnelifaates force,
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the formation of our product management team, gpaesion in foreign markets, our acquisition of Mikics and
an increase in commission and bonus costs asseute increased revenues. We also experiencedérfillion
increase in stock-based compensation as compagDib Our selling and marketing headcount totaled

261 employees as of December 31, 2008, an incrddseemployees as compared to December 31, 2007. |
addition, we attribute the remaining increase twéases in allocated overhead costs such as delitioaal
advertising and marketing costs and travel ande@leosts to support our growing customer base ifidiesion of
the operations of M:Metrics beginning in May 20@tributed to the increase in selling and markeérgenses
during the year ended December 31, 2008, howevmarteon of these costs are attributed to one-fimegration
costs associated with employees that are not eagbéztcontinue service or that have already beaninated.
Selling and marketing expenses as a percentagehues increased during 2008 as compared to 20@ipally
due to the increased costs associated with ouiisitiqn of M:Metrics relative to the revenue gertethfrom
M:Metrics for the period.

Research and Development Expenses

Year Ended December 31 Change Percent Change
2009 2008 2009 2008
vs. vs. Vs. Vs.
2009 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
(Dollars in thousands)
Research and developme $17,827 $14,83: $11,41¢ $2,99t $3,41¢ 20.2% 30.(%
As a percentage of revent 14.(% 12.% 13.1%

Research and development expenses include newqgtrdelelopment costs, consisting primarily of delr
benefits, stock-based compensation and related tmspersonnel associated with research and dewlnt
activities, fees paid to third parties to develewrproducts and allocated overhead, which is casagrof rent and
other facilities related costs, and depreciationemse generated by general purpose equipment &ncisa

Research and development expenses increased byn#Bod during the year ended December 31, 2009 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2008.ritheaise was due to a $1.6 million increase in eyeglo
salaries, benefits and related costs associatédtimatincrease in headcount of our research anelaf@went
personnel and our increased focus on developingpmeducts. We also incurred a $405,000 increaséoick-based
compensation due to our increased use of equitypeasation as part of our bonus program, and, ésset degree,
equity compensation issued in exchange for redustio regular cash compensation implemented in.2689well
as our increased headcount. In addition, we induareincrease of $564,000 in the amount of cokisated to
research and development expenses due to the ldnerabse in rent and depreciation costs anditieased size
our research and development functions. We alsereqrced a $261,000 increase in our systems amtenance
costs related to computer hardware and software@i87,000 increase in consulting fees.

Research and development expenses increased bynBos during the year ended December 31, 2008 as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2007.irfdrsase was due to a $3.4 million increase in eygd
salaries, benefits, stock-based compensation dakgdecosts associated with the increase in headcour
continued focus on developing new products, as agetiosts from our acquisition of M:Metrics in M2§08.
Research and development costs decreased sligtdlyparcentage of revenues for the year ended eredi,
2008 as compared to the prior year period due t@mwth in revenues outpacing our investmentegearch and
development.

General and Administrative Expenses

Year Ended December 31 Change Percent Change
2009 2008 2009 2008
VS. VS. VS. vSs.
2009 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
(Dollars in thousands)
General and administratiy $18,23: $16,78 $11,59¢ $1,447 $5,18¢ 8.6€% 44.7%
As a percentage of revent 14.2% 14.2% 13.2%
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General and administrative expenses consist piiynafrsalaries, benefits, stock-based compensatind,
related expenses for executive management, finaeceunting, human capital, legal and other adrnatise
functions, as well as professional fees, overhigatljding allocated overhead, which is comprisedeott and other
facilities related costs, and depreciation expgeserated by general purpose equipment and softaageexpense
incurred for other general corporate purposes.

General and administrative expenses increased dyrilion during the year ended December 31, 2899
compared to the year ended December 31, 2008.rithegise was due to $685,000 for professional ssngach as
legal and tax services associated with our acémisdf Certifica, Inc. In addition, stock-based qmmnsation
increased $646,000 during the year ended Decenih@089 as compared to the prior year due to aweased use
of equity compensation as part of our bonus progeard, to a lesser degree, equity compensatiopdsisu
exchange for reductions to regular cash compemsatiplemented in 2009. We also experienced a $802,0
increase in professional fees for tax and legalises due to additional global tax planning straegesulting from
our expanding international presence. We also neduan increase of $156,000 in the amount of alkisated to
general and administrative expenses due to thelbwecrease in rent and depreciation costs. Theseases were
partially offset by a $250,000 decrease in emplmaaries, benefits and related costs resulting Salary and
benefits cost-containment programs that becameteféeduring 2009 and a $195,000 decrease in badedgense
due to our improved collections process. Generdlaaministrative expenses as a percentage of revduming
2009 were consistent with the prior year.

General and administrative expenses increased Byrfilion during the year ended December 31, 2868
compared to the year ended December 31, 2007 .ritheaise was due to increased costs associatedwvith
additional obligations as a public company thatrdhtlapply for all of 2007. Our professional fegesaciated with
Sarbanes-Oxley compliance requirements, other gsfeal fees, insurance costs, franchise taxebeadi
compensation increased by approximately $1.3 mildlaring the year ended December 31, 2008, as aechpa
2007. We also experienced increases in employaees|benefits and related costs of almost $1lHbmi
associated with our expanding finance, legal anddrucapital departments as well as in connectidm our
acquisition of M:Metrics during the year ended Daber 31, 2008, as compared to 2007. In additiatksbased
compensation increased $1.4 million during the yemted December 31, 2008 as compared to the @& y
General and administrative expenses also incrdasagproximately $1.1 million during the year ended
December 31, 2008 as compared to 2007 due to westinent to support further revenue growth, ineredis
allocated overhead costs, such as rent, increaskddbt expense, additional charitable contribstemd other
charges. General and administrative expenses ecanage of revenue increased during 2008 as cechpa 2007
due to the increased costs associated with bemdpkc company.

Amortization Expense

Year Ended December 31, Change Percent Change
2009 2008 2009 2008
VS. VS. VS. VS.

2009 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007

(Dollars in thousands)
Amortization expens $1,457 $804 $96€ $65Z $(162) 81.2% (16.6%
As a percentage of revent 1.1% 0.7% 1.1%

Amortization expense consists of charges relateda@mortization of intangible assets associatiéd w
acquisitions.

Amortization expense increased $653,000 duringyéiae ended December 31, 2009 as compared to the yea
ended December 31, 2008 due to additional amadizaf intangible assets that were acquired dutfiregsecond
quarter of 2008 in connection with our acquisitadrM:Metrics, and, to a lesser degree, amortizatiom intangible
assets acquired during the fourth quarter of 260%nnection with our acquisition of Certifica.

Amortization expense decreased $162,000 duringgheended December 31, 2008 as compared to the yea
ended December 31, 2007 because certain intaragbkds related to previous acquisitions were arihprtized
during 2008 and 2007 and were partially offset tglional amortization expense related to our agitjan of
M:Metrics in May 2008.
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Interest and Other Income, Ne

Interest and other income, net, consists of inténesme, interest expense and gains or lossesspoghls of
fixed assets.

Interest income consists of interest earned frorastments, such as short and Idegn fixed income securitis
and auction rate securities, and our cash andexpskalent balances. Interest expense is incuieda capital
leases pursuant to several equipment loan andigeagreements and a line of credit that we havered into in
order to finance the lease of various hardwareadiner equipment purchases. Our capital lease didigaare
secured by a senior security interest in eligilgjeipment.

Interest income, net for the year ended Decembe2@19 was $410,000 as compared to $1.9 millioriHer
year ended December 31, 2008. The decrease ofrili¢h during 2009 was due to lower returns froor
investments. Our cash, cash equivalents and inesgtnincreased by $15.9 million to $90.9 milliorDetcember 3:
2009 due to positive operating cash flow.

Interest income, net for the year ended Decembe2@18 was $1.9 million as compared to $2.6 milfienthe
year ended December 31, 2007. The decrease of@B®Rduring 2008 was due to lower interest ratesezhon ou
investments than those available in the prior yesiod and a smaller average cash balance due tgsthof cash in
mid 2008 for the acquisition of M:Metrics. Our cashsh equivalents and investments decreased by 8#8ion to
$75.0 million at December 31, 2008 due to the agitjon of M:Metrics and, to a lesser extent, loszes
investments.

Included in Interest and other income, net, wessds of $109,000 and $50,000 for fixed asset didpdar the
years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respgc

Loss From Foreign Currency

Due to the weakening of the U.S. Dollar as compéwetie British Pound during the year ended Decer@be
2009, we recorded a loss of $132,000 as comparadoss of $321,000 during the year ended Decethe2008.
Our foreign currency transactions are recordedrasut of fluctuations in the exchange rate betwibe U.S. dolla
and the Canadian dollar, Euro and British Pound.

Due to the increasing strength of the U.S. Doliaca@ampared to the British Pound during the yeaednd
December 31, 2008, we recorded a loss of $321,8@0mpared to a loss of $296,000 during the yedeedn
December 31, 2007. Our foreign currency transastéye recorded as a result of fluctuations in #uhange rate
between the U.S. dollar and the British Pound, Eumd Canadian dollar.

Gain on Sale (Impairment) of Marketable Securities

During the year ended December 31, 2009, we rezedra gain of $89,000 from the sale of one auctts
security.

Impairment of marketable securities is comprisedrokalized losses related to changes in the &irevof our
investments that have a decline that is considetteer-than-temporary. During the year ended Decei@bge2008,
we recorded an impairment charge of $2.2 milliondier marketable securities, which was due to theewdown of
our investments in auction rate securities thatetermined to have an other-than-temporary dedlivalue. There
was no comparable charge in the prior year. Foemdormation on our investments in auction ratusiéies, see
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and results of Operations — Liquidity aDdpital
Resources.”

Provision for Income Taxes

As of December 31, 2009, we had federal and sttteperating loss carryforwards for tax purposes of
approximately $52.9 million and $39.7 million, resfively, which begin to expire in 2023 for fedeaald begin to
expire in 2014 for state income tax reporting psgm In the future, we intend to utilize any casrwfards available
to us to reduce our tax payments. A portion ofreetroperating loss carryforwards are subject tararual limitatior
under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Coded@\ieot expect that this limitation will
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impact our ability to utilize all of our net opeired losses prior to their expiration. For the yeaded December 31,
2009, the tax provision is comprised of U.S. incdmeexpense of $703,000 related to our federairadtive
minimum tax and state tax liabilities, $139,00Garkign income tax expense, and deferred tax expehs
approximately $5.1 million related primarily to th#lization of net operating losses during theryea

As of December 31, 2008, we had federal and setteperating loss carryforwards for tax purposes of
approximately $74.2 million and $44.9 million, restively, which begin to expire in 2021 for fedeaald begin to
expire in 2014 for state income tax reporting psgm For the year ended December 31, 2008, tigradaision is
comprised of U.S. income tax expense of $359,08ated to our federal alternative minimum tax atadestax
liabilities, $127,000 of foreign income tax expermed deferred tax expense of approximately $5llomirelated
primarily to the utilization of net operating loss#uring the year, offset by a reduction of ouuasibn allowance of
$20.4 million.

As of December 31, 2007, we had federal and sttteperating loss carryforwards for tax purposes of
approximately $71.3 million and $48.1 million, resfively, which begin to expire in 2020 for fedeaald begin to
expire in 2010 for state income tax reporting psgm For the year ended December 31, 2007, tipradaision is
comprised of U.S. income tax expense of $208,0&l@ted to our federal alternative minimum tax atadestax
liabilities, and $412,000 of foreign income tax erpe which are offset by the partial release ofvalration
allowance of $8.1 million and a decrease of $78j80be deferred tax liability associated with enforary
difference related to certain acquired intangilsisess.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
The following table summarizes our cash flows:

Year Ended December 31

Consolidated Cash Flow Dat 2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Net cash provided by operating activit $25,03: $32,98¢ §$21,27:

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 8 (64,40  (30,37)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (4,71 (1,139 71,97¢

Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 663 (1,519 451

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equiva 23,98 (34,07) 63,33¢

Prior to our initial public offering, which closexh July 2, 2007, we funded our operations and metapital
expenditure requirements primarily with ventureitd@nd private equity funding.

On July 2, 2007, we completed our initial publifeoing and issued 5,000,000 shares of our comnumk stnd
received gross proceeds of $82.5 million. Net pedsevere $73.1 million after deducting underwritthscounts
and commissions and offering costs.

Our principal uses of cash historically have carsi®f payroll and other operating expenses anchpais
related to the investment in equipment primarilgtpport our consumer panel and technical infragire required
to support our customer base, and cash paid farigitigns. Since the beginning of 2006, we havecpased over
$17.0 million in property and equipment, exclusf&s9.7 million of property and equipment fundetbtigh
landlord allowances received in connection with Ghicago, Reston, San Francisco and Seattle dffases, made
$5.7 million in principal payments on capital leadsigations, and spent $46.2 million as the cashgonent of
consideration paid for acquisitions.

As of December 31, 2009, our principal sourcesqufidlity consisted of cash, cash equivalents amdtsierm
investments of $88.1 million, which represent cgsherated from operating activities and the remgiproceeds
from our initial public offering in July 2007. A ®ecember 31, 2009, we held $2.8 million in loegat
investments consisting of four separate auctiom saturities. In prior years, we invested in treasgion rate
securities for short periods of time as part ofiomestment policy. However, uncertainties in thedit markets hax
limited our ability to liquidate our holdings of etibn rate securities, as there have been no auscty these
securities in 2009.
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During the fourth quarter of 2009, we sold one munctate security, via a tender offer, and recoraedalized
gain of $89,000. The four remaining securities weakeied using a discounted cash flow model thaadakto
consideration the financial condition of the issyé¢ne workout period, the discount rate and otthetors. Based on
our current fair value estimate, we recorded aralimed gain of $429,000 as of December 31, 2006.unrealizer
gain is included in Other comprehensive income iwithe balance sheet. We are uncertain as to wieelguidity
issues relating to these investments will imprévecordingly, we classified these securities as H@rgn on our
consolidated balance sheet. If the credit ratirfgheissuer, the bond insurers or the collategatdorate further, w
may further adjust the carrying value of these &tments

Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are siguaiftly influenced by our investments in persorara
infrastructure to support the anticipated growtleim business, increases in the number of custousémng our
products and the amount and timing of payments rbgdbese customers.

We generated approximately $25.0 million of nethdsm operating activities during the year ended
December 31, 2009. Our cash flows from operatioas dgriven by our positive net income of $4.0 millias
adjusted for non-cash charges such as depreciatioortization, provision for bad debts, stock-basatipensation
and bond premium amortization, and non-cash defaere expense. In addition, we experienced a $4lBm
increase over 2008 in amounts collected from custerim advance of when we recognize revenues esudt of oul
growing customer base. We also experienced, ardlibn increase in accounts receivable due tatitnéng of
certain client renewal invoicing, increased satesdw and existing clients during the current mkoéfset by strong
collections of receivables. At the same time, ashcflows from operations were negatively impachee to a
$2.9 million decrease in accounts payable and adcexpenses over 2008, which we attribute to tlyenpat of
accrued bonuses from prior year and income tax paysn

We generated approximately $33.0 million of nethcsm operating activities during the year ended
December 31, 2008. The significant components s ¢@ws from operations were net income of $25illan,
adjusted for $13.6 million in non-cash depreciat@mortization, provision for bad debts, stdidsed compensatic
and bond premium amortization, $9.3 million in dedel rent, $6.1 million increase in amounts coledrom
customers in advance of when we recognize revessiasesult of our growing customer base, $2.2aniih
impairment of marketable securities, and a $343d#f0ease in other current and non-current assiédst by a
$15.4 million non-cash deferred tax benefit, $6iionm increase in accounts receivable, and a $ilBon decrease
in accounts payable and accrued expenses.

We generated approximately $21.3 million of nethcsm operating activities during the year ended
December 31, 2007. The significant components s ¢@ws from operations were net income of $19ilBan,
adjusted for $7.4 million in non-cash depreciatiamortization and stock-based compensation expenses
$1.2 million in non-cash revaluation of our preégtistock warrant liability, and a $9.8 million iease in amounts
collected from customers in advance of when wegeize revenues as a result of our growing custdrase and a
$1.1 million increase in accounts payable and attaxpenses, offset by a $9.2 million increaseaoants
receivable, $8.1 million non-cash deferred tax fiemed $231,000 increase in other current and cument assets.

Investing Activities

Our primary regularly recurring investing activitibave consisted of purchases of computer netwpripment
to support our Internet user panel and maintenahoer database, furniture and equipment to suppart
operations, purchases and sales of marketableitseguand payments related to the acquisitiorevesal
companies. As our customer base continues to expandxpect purchases of technical infrastructgrépenent to
grow in absolute dollars. The extent of these itmests will be affected by our ability to expantht®nships with
existing customers, grow our customer base, inttediew digital formats and increase our internatipnesence.

We generated $8,000 of net cash in investing aiets/during the year ended December 31, 2009. Werg&ec
a net $7.8 million from sale of investments. Wedu$6.5 million to purchase property and equipmemhaintain
and expand our technology and infrastructure. @famount, $333,000 was funded through landlord
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allowances received in connection with our Sealffiee lease. In addition, we used $1.3 milliont akcash
acquired, to purchase Certifica.

We used $64.4 million of net cash in investing\atiis during the year ended December 31, 2008u¥¢éel
$44.6 million, net of cash acquired, to purchas#btrics. In addition, $14.3 million was used to ¢hase property
and equipment to maintain and expand our technamglyinfrastructure. Of this amount, $9.4 millioasxffunded
through landlord allowances received in connectiith our Chicago, Reston and San Francisco oféesés. We
also used a net $6.9 million to purchase investméfie removed the restrictions associated witraoedertificates
of deposit that served as collateral for lettersreflit associated with office leases, and thdedl&1.4 million was
reclassified to cash and cash equivalents.

We used $30.4 million of net cash in investing\atiis during the year ended December 31, 200€ta n
$25.6 million of which was used to purchase investts, $3.6 million of which was used to purchasgperty and
equipment to maintain and expand our technologyirfinaistructure and $1.1 million used to purchasgificates o
deposit to collateralize letters of credit ass@awith new office leases.

We expect to achieve greater economies of scal@p@ihting leverage as we expand our customerarake
utilize our Internet user panel and technical istinacture more efficiently. While we anticipatettitawill be
necessary for us to continue to invest in our heeuser panel, technical infrastructure and tesgtimiersonnel to
support the combination of an increased customse,lieew products, international expansion and rigitat
market intelligence formats, we believe that thesestment requirements will be less than the regegrowth
generated by these actions. This should resultamvar rate of growth in our capital expenditurestipport our
technical infrastructure. In any given period, tineing of our incremental capital expenditure regments could
impact our cost of revenues, both in absolute dolad as a percentage of revenues.

Financing Activities

We used $1.7 million of cash during the year eridedember 31, 2009 for financing activities. Thislirded
$1.6 million for shares repurchased by us purstatite exercise by stock incentive plan participanittheir right tc
elect to use common stock to satisfy their tax otding obligations. In addition we used $1.1 roiflito make
payments on our capital lease obligations offse$@22,000 in proceeds from the exercise of our comatock
options and warrants.

We used $1.1 million of cash during the year eridedember 31, 2008 for financing activities. Thiglirded
$1.3 million for shares repurchased by us purstatite exercise by stock incentive plan participaittheir right tc
elect to use common stock to satisfy their tax oting obligations. In addition we used $900,0001ake
payments on our capital lease obligations offseh® million in proceeds from the exercise of cammon stock
options and warrants.

We generated $72.0 million of cash during the yrted December 31, 2007 from financing activitidss
included $73.1 million in net proceeds, after dethgcunderwriters’ commissions and offering cofitsin the sale
and issuance of common stock in our initial pubfiiering and $972,000 in proceeds from the exerafse
outstanding options for common stock. We also nagenents of $2.1 million on our capital lease odtiigns
during that period.

We do not have any special purpose entities, amer than operating leases for office space, desttiielow,
we do not engage in off-balance sheet financingngiements.
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Contractual Obligations and Known Future Cash Requiements

Set forth below is information concerning our knowamtractual obligations as of December 31, 2089 dhe
fixed and determinable.

Less Thar 3-5 More Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years Years 5 Years
(In thousands)
Capital lease obligatior $110¢ $ 408 $ 70 $ — $ —
Operating lease obligatiol 43,12: 5,74¢ 10,39¢ 9,28( 17,70(
Purchase price obligatiol 1,07t 60C 457 — —
Total $45,28° $ 6,747 $1156( $9,28( $ 17,70(

Our principal lease commitments consist of obligagi under leases for office space and computer and
telecommunications equipment. In addition, we foeththe purchase of some of our computer equiporetdr a
capital lease arrangement over a period of 36 nso@hr purchase obligations relate to outstandidgrs to
purchase computer equipment and are typically sttty do not materially impact our overall liquidiln
connection with the Certifica acquisition, we abdigated to make future payments to the sellergestito
reductions for any claims against the sellersdaition, due to the uncertainty with respect totiheng of future
cash flows associated with our unrecognized taetisrat December 31, 2009, we are unable to maksonably
reliable estimates of the period of cash settlemétfit the respective taxing authorities. Theref&E2 million of
unrecognized tax benefits (as more fully describedote 9 to the audited financial statements) Hasen excluded
from the contractual payment obligations table @&ov

In September 2009, we entered into a $4.5 millguigment line of credit with Banc of America Leasi&
Capital, LLC to finance the purchase of new sofey&iardware and other computer equipment as wenexpar
technology infrastructure in support of our busgngowth. The initial utilization of this creditddity was an
equipment lease for approximately $1.1 million loggan interest rate of 5% per annum. The base fariinis
lease is three years and includes a nominal charle event of prepayment. The lease paymentgsoxpmately
$403,000 per annum. Assets acquired under the mguiplease secure the obligations.

On March 31, 2009, we renewed a $5.0 revolving ¢iheredit with Bank of America, with an intereste
equal to BBA LIBOR rate plus an applicable margasdd upon certain financial ratios. This line @&ditincludes
no restrictive financial covenants and expires Nay2010. We maintain letters of credit in lieuseturity deposits
with respect to certain office leases. During tharyended December 31, 2009, three letters oftamede reduced
by approximately $480,000. As of December 31, 2@0@%mounts were borrowed against the line of teedi
$3.9 million of letters of credit were outstandifegving $1.1 million available for additional lets of credit or
other borrowings. These letters of credit may lokiced periodically provided we meet the conditicrékria of
each related lease agreement. In January 2010etbeeof credit was reduced by approximately $68,&aving
$1.2 million available for additional letters ofedlit or other borrowings.

Future Capital Requirements

Our ability to generate cash is subject to ourgrenince, general economic conditions, industrydseand
other factors. To the extent that our existing ¢aalsh equivalents, short-term investments andatipgrcash flow
are insufficient to fund our future activities aredjuirements, we may need to raise additional famasigh public
or private equity or debt financing. If we issueiidg securities in order to raise additional funsishstantial dilution
to existing stockholders may occur.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Recent accounting pronouncements are detailed i@ Rlto our Consolidated Financial Statements deduin
Part Il, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangemen
We had no off-balance sheet arrangements as ohilmre31, 2009 and 2008.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magant our financial position due to adverse chamgésancial
market prices and rates. We do not hold or isswanfiial instruments for trading purposes or hayedamivative
financial instruments. To date, most payments mauiker our contracts are denominated in U.S. dadladswe hav
not experienced material gains or losses as at fstihnsactions denominated in foreign currendlesof
December 31, 2009, our cash reserves were maidtaireank deposit accounts, treasury bills, treasotes, and
auction rate securities totaling $90.9 million. $aesecurities, like all fixed income instruments, subject to
interest rate risk and will decline in value if rkar interest rates increase. We have the abilityotd our fixed
income investments until maturity and, therefore,would not expect to experience any material advenpact in
income or cash flow.

Foreign Currency Risk

A portion of our revenues and expenses from busioperations in foreign countries are derived from
transactions denominated in currencies other tharunctional currency of our operations in thogertries. As
such, we have exposure to adverse changes in egehates associated with revenues and operatirgnegp of oL
foreign operations, but we believe this exposuregdmmaterial at this time. As such, we do notentty engage in
any transactions that hedge foreign currency exgdaate risk. As we grow our international opernagicour
exposure to foreign currency risk could become nsageificant.

Interest Rate Sensitivity

As of December 31, 2009, our principal sourcesqufidlity consisted of cash, cash equivalents amdtsierm
investments of $88.1 million. These amounts wevesied in certificates of deposit and U.S. treasatgs. The
cash and cash equivalents are held for workingalamirposes. We do not enter into investmentsréating or
speculative purposes. We believe that we do nat hay material exposure to changes in the fairevatuia result ¢
changes in interest rates. Declines in interessrdtowever, will reduce future investment incotheverall interest
rates fell by 1% during the year ended DecembeRBQ9, our interest income would have declined axprately
$326,000, assuming consistent investment levels.

Auction Rate Securities and Liquidity Risk

As of December 31, 2009, our principal sourcesquiidlity consisted of cash, cash equivalents amdtgierm
investments of $88.1 million which represent cashegated from operating activities and the remgipiroceeds
from our initial public offering in July 2007. A ®ecember 31, 2009, we held $2.8 million in loegat
investments consisting of four separate auctiom saturities. In prior years, we invested in tression rate
securities for short periods of time as part ofiauestment policy. However, uncertainties in thedir markets hax
limited our ability to liquidate our holdings of etion rate securities, as there have been no ausctio these
securities in 2009.

During the fourth quarter of 2009, we sold one munctate security, via a tender offer, and recoraedalized
gain of $89,000. The four remaining securities wezkeied using a discounted cash flow model thagdakto
consideration the financial condition of the issyé¢ne workout period, the discount rate and otthetors. Based on
our current fair value estimate, we recorded aralimed gain of $429,000 as of December 31, 2006.unrealizer
gain is included in Other comprehensive income iwithe balance sheet. We are uncertain as to wieeliguidity
issues relating to these investments will imprévecordingly, we classified these securities as H@rgn on our
consolidated balance sheet. If the credit ratirfgheissuer, the bond insurers or the collategatdorate further, w
may further adjust the carrying value of these stvents.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of comSdnee

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of comScore, Inc. (the Company) as of
December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the related cdasedl statements of operations, stockholders’ gddéficit),
and cash flows for each of the three years in gt®d ended December 31, 2009. These financiarsttts are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaasibility is to express an opinion on these fiah
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting Oversighargio
(United States). Those standards require that e ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether the financial statements are free of malterisstatement. An audit includes examining, ¢@sa basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosurtrifinancial statements. An audit also includeessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimatade by management, as well as evaluating thalbfirancial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referredlbove present fairly, in all material respedis, ¢onsolidated
financial position of comScore, Inc. at DecemberZ109 and 2008, and the consolidated results afierations
and its cash flows for each of the three yearhénperiod ended December 31, 2009, in conformitiz wi
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), comScore, Inc’s. internal contradr financial reporting as of December 31, 20@&eal on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framdwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organinatiaf the
Treadway Commission and our report dated Marct2@20 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
McLean, Virginia

March 12, 2010
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COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $510%4iD, respectivel
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Deferred tax assi

Total current asse

Long-term investment

Property and equipment, r

Other noi-current assel

Long-term deferred tax ass

Intangible assets, n

Goodwill

Total asset

Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Deferred revenue

Deferred ren

Capital lease obligatior
Total current liabilities
Deferred rent, lor-term
Capital lease obligations, lo-term
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder equity:

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 stardgwrized at December 31, 2009

2008; no shares issued or outstanding at Decenib@089 and 200

Common stock, $0.001 par value per share; 100,00GBares authorized at
December 31, 2009 and 2008; 30,385,590 and 29,294/%ares issued at
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively; 30,38558 29,130,140 shares

outstanding at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respéc

Treasury stock, 0 and 164,395 shares at cost arbteer 31, 2009 and 2008,

respectively
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (1
Accumulated defici
Total stockholdel' equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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December 31

2009

2008

(In thousands, excep
share and per share data

$ 58,28¢ $ 34,29;
29,83: 37,16«
34,92: 29,94
2,32¢ 1,871
11,04. 13,30

136,400 116,58
2,80¢ 3,497
17,30: 17,69

192 131
9,93¢ 13,73
8,74¢ 8,80¢
42,01¢ 39,11

$217,40¢  $199,56!
$ 2,006 $ 1,75t
8,37( 9,43:
48,14C  42,77¢
1,231 1,04¢

36C 977
60,11C  55,99:
8,21( 8,691

674 —

47E
69,46¢  64,68:

30 29

— (1,265)

199,27 192,61

324 (842)
(51,689 (55,659

147,93¢ 134,88

$217,40¢  $199,56!




COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
(In thousands, except share and per share dat.

Revenue: $ 127,74 $ 117,37 $ 87,157
Cost of revenues (excludes amortization of intalegissets resulting

from acquisitions shown below)( 38,73( 34,56: 23,85¢
Selling and marketing(2 41,95« 39,40( 28,65¢
Research and development 17,821 14,83: 11,41:
General and administrative( 18,23: 16,78¢ 11,59¢
Amortization of intangible assets resulting frongaisitions 1,45 804 96€

Total expenses from operatic 118,20( 106,38: 76,49
Income from operatior 9,54( 10,98¢ 10,65¢
Interest income and other, r 41C 1,86: 2,621
Loss from foreign currenc (132) (321) (29€)
Gain from sale (impairment) of marketable secws 89 (2,239 —
Revaluation of preferred stock warrant liabilit — — (1,195
Income before (provision) benefit for income ta 9,907 10,29: 11,79¢
(Provision) benefit for income tax (5,93¢) 14,89¢ 7,522
Net income 3,96¢ 25,18¢ 19,31¢
Accretion of redeemable preferred st — — (1,829
Net income attributable to common stockholc $ 396¢ $ 2518 $ 17,48
Net income attributable to common stockholdersgeenmon share

Basic $ 0.1: $ 0.8¢ $ 0.9¢

Diluted $ 0.1: $ 0.8 $ 0.8¢
Weighted-average number of shares used in per shbnélation —

common stock

Basic 30,014,08  28,691,21  16,139,36

Diluted 30,970,64  30,232,71.  18,377,56
Net income attributable to common stockholdersqeanmon shar

subject to put

Basic $ — $ 0.8¢ $ 1.3¢

Diluted $ —  $ 08: $ 1.21

Weighted-average number of shares used in per shbnélation —

common share subject to p

Basic and dilutes — 34,46¢ 308,72(
(1) Amortization of stock-based compensation iduided in the line

items above as follow:

Cost of revenue $ 1,18¢ $ 861 $ 27¢
Selling and marketin 4,617 2,611 1,00¢
Research and developm 1,111 70€ 245
General and administratiy 2,94; 2,29¢ 941
Comprehensive incom
Net income $ 3,96¢ $ 2518t $  19,31¢
Other comprehensive incorr
Foreign currency cumulative translation adjustn 82¢ (1,139 25¢
Unrealized gain (loss) on marketable secur 337 28¢ (182)
Total comprehensive incon $ 513t $§ 2434: $ 19,39:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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COMSCORE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)

Accumulated Total
Additional Other Stockholder¢
Common Stock Treasury Paid-In  Comprehensive Accumulated Equity
Shares Amount  Stock Capital Income (Loss) Deficit (Deficit)
(In thousands, except share date

Balance at December 31, 20C 4,000,160 $ 4% — % — % (75)$ (99,486 $ (99,557
Net income — — — — — 19,31¢ 19,31¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — — 25¢ — 25¢
Unrealized loss on marketable securi — — — — (182) — (182
Exercise of common stock optio 580,72 1 — 89C — — 891
Exercise of common stock warrants, 138,53t — — 10C — — 10C
Issuance of restricted stock, 1 771,78 1 — @ — — —
Net proceeds from issuance of common stoc

initial public offering 5,000,00i! 5 —  73,11: — — 73,11¢
Conversion of preferred stock to common st  17,257,36 17 — 103,50¢ — — 103,52¢
Reclassification of common stock subject to put

to common stoc 212,00( — — 2,65( — — 2,65(
Amortization of stock based compensal — — — 2,23¢ — — 2,23¢
Preferred warrant liability reclassificatit — — — 2,20( — — 2,20(
Accretion of redeemable preferred st — — — (1,190 — (639 (1,829
Accretion of common stock subject to | — — — (72) — (31) (103)
Balance at December 31, 20C 27,960,57 28 — 183,43: 1 (80,84() 102,62:
Net income — — — — — 25,18¢ 25,18¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — — (1,139 — (1,139
Unrealized gain on marketable securities net of

tax effect of $6¢ — — — — 28¢ — 28¢
Exercise of common stock optio 611,73 1 — 97€ — — 977
Exercise of common stock warrants, 4,02( — — 50 — — 50
Issuance of restricted stock, 1 465,01( — — — — — —
Restricted stock units vest 17,49( — — — — — —
Common stock received for tax withholdi (64,32¢) — (1,269 — — — (1,265
Reclassification of common stock subject to

to common stoc 135,64( — — 1,81« — — 1,81«
Amortization of stock based compensal — — — 6,33¢ — — 6,33¢
Balance at December 31, 20C 29,130,14 28 (1,265 192,61: (842) (55,654  134,88(
Net income — — — — — 3,96¢ 3,96¢
Foreign currency translation adjustm — — — — 82¢ — 82¢
Unrealized gain on marketable securities ne

tax effect of $¢ — — — — 337 — 337
Exercise of common stock optio 420,58 — — 922 — — 922
Issuance of restricted stock, 1 949,94¢ 1 — @ — — —
Restricted stock units vest 27,33¢ — — — — — —
Common stock received for tax withholdi (142,41) — (1,579 — — — (1,579
Treasury stock retireme — — 2,83t (2,839 — — —
Amortization of stock based compensal — — — 8,57¢ — — 8,57¢
Balance at December 31, 20C 30,38559 $ 30$ — $199,27( $ 324 $ (51,68)$ 147,93

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Operating activities

Net income $ 3,96¢ $ 25,18t $ 19,31¢
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activitie:

Depreciatior 6,544 4,97 3,76¢
Amortization of intangible assets resulting frongaisitions 1,45 79€ 96€
Provisions for bad deb 29C 594 14z
Stocl-based compensatic 9,84¢ 6,482 2,47¢
Deferred tax provision (benefi 5,09¢ (15,38¢) (8,147)
Gain on sale (impairment) of marketable secur 89) 2,23¢ —
Amortization of deferred rer (632 (12€) —
Amortization of bond premiur 61C 73C 66
Loss on asset dispos 13¢ 50 —
Revaluation of preferred stock warrant liabilit — — 1,19t
Amortization of deferred finance co: — — 7
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffett of acquisitions

Accounts receivabl (4,497 (6,581 (9,186
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 83 22¢ (48€)
Other nor-current assei (55 114 25E
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and othelitlesh (2,90¢ (1,83¢) 1,06
Deferred revenue 4,83¢ 6,12¢ 9,841
Deferred ren 331 9,397 —
Net cash provided by operating activit 25,03 32,98¢ 21,271

Investing activities

Recovery (payment) of restricted c: 1,38t (1,115

Purchase of investmer (50,197 (92,28¢) (56,475
Sale and maturity of investmer 57,97: 85,38¢( 30,85¢
Purchase of property and equipm (6,472 (14,257 (3,635
Acquisition of business, net of cash acqui (1,296) (44,639 —
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 8 (64,405 (30,37)
Financing activities

Proceeds from the exercise of common stock opaoiswarrant: 922 1,023 972
Repurchase of common sta (1,579 (1,265 —
Proceeds from the issuance of common stock, neffefing costs — —  73,11¢
Principal payments on capital lease obligati (1,069 (900 (2,109
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (2,715 (1,13¢) 71,97¢
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ 663 (1,519 451
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 23,987 (34,07) 63,33¢
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 34,297 68,36¢ 5,032
Cash and cash equivalents at end of - $ 58,28 $ 34,297 $ 68,36¢
Supplemental cash flow disclosure

Interest paic $ 63 % 122 $ 30z
Income tax pait $ 161t $ 328 % 1
Supplemental noncash investing and financing actities

Capital lease obligations incurr $ 1,121 % — $ —
Leasehold improvements acquired through lease fives $ 33:% 9397 % —
Accretion of preferred stoc $ — $ — $ 1,82¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization

comScore, Inc. (the “Company”), a Delaware corgoraincorporated in August 1999, provides a digital
marketing intelligence platform that helps custosmaake better-informed business decisions and mmgai¢ more
effective digital business strategies. The Compapydducts and solutions offer customers insigitts consumer
behavior, including objective, detailed informati@mgarding usage of their online properties andehaf their
competitors, coupled with information on consumemdgraphic characteristics, attitudes, lifestyled affline
behavior.

The Company’s digital marketing intelligence platfois comprised of proprietary databases and a
computational infrastructure that measures, analgpel reports on digital activity. The foundatidritee platform is
data collected from a panel of approximately twdiam Internet users worldwide who have grantethi® Compan
explicit permission to confidentially measure thaeiternet usage patterns, online and certain efftinying behavior
and other activities. For measuring and reportimigne audiences, the Company also supplements peEbahation
with Web site server metrics in order to accountlfé0 percent of a Web site’s audience. By applgdganced
statistical methodologies to the panel data, the@oy projects consumers’ online behavior for taltonline
population and a wide variety of user categories.

On July 2, 2007, the Company completed its infiigblic offering (the “IPO”) of common stock in whit¢he
Company issued and sold 5,000,000 shares of itsnmmstock at an issuance price of $16.50 per shagesldition,
selling stockholders, including officers and digrstof the Company or entities affiliated therewibld an
aggregate of 1,095,000 shares of common stock hwdrivount included the exercise of the underwritever-
allotment option in the IPO. The Company raisedtal tof $82,500,000 in gross proceeds from the &0,
approximately $73,116,000 in net proceeds afteudiny underwriting discounts and commissions q7$5,000
and offering costs of $3,609,000. The Company dicreceive any proceeds from the sale of shar#itPO by
the selling stockholders. Upon the closing of tA@] all shares of convertible preferred stock tetstanding
automatically converted into 17,257,362 sharesoaimon stock, and all preferred stock warrants caadento
common stock warrants.

In connection with the IPO, the Company’s Boardokctors and stockholders approved a 1-for-5 mver
stock split of the then outstanding common stoak @mvertible preferred stock effective June 2D 72®l share
and per share amounts contained in these conslifiatincial statements have been retroactivelysaell to reflec
the reverse stock split.

On May 28, 2008, the Company acquired the outstanstiock of M:Metrics, Inc., a provider of marketiand
media intelligence for the mobile medium in the tgdiStates and internationally, to expand its @dslito provide
its customers a more robust solution for the matigelium.

On November 11, 2009, the Company acquired thaandsg stock of Certifica, Inc. (“Certifica”), adder in
web measurement in Latin America. This acquisiggpanded the Company’s presence in five countniésiiin
America.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation and Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of the Company and its wholiyec
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany transacs and accounts have been eliminated upon colasioln. The
Company consolidates investments where it has tattimg financial interest. The usual conditiorr fmntrolling
financial interest is ownership of a majority oéthoting interest and, therefore, as a general awaership, directl
or indirectly, of more than 50% of the outstanduaging shares is a condition indicating consolidiatiFor
investments in variable interest entities, the Canypwould consolidate when it is determined toHmegrimary
beneficiary of a variable interest entity. The Camp does not have any variable interest entities.
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Within the consolidated statements of cash flow80$000 and $66,000 have been reclassified froes said
maturities of investments within investing actiggito amortization of bond premium within operatigvities for
the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, resgect

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting prirespl
requires management to make estimates and assas et affect the reported amounts of assetsiabitities and
the reported amounts of revenue and expense dilménggporting periods. Significant estimates arsiagptions are
inherent in the analysis and the measurement efigaf tax assets, the identification and quantificeof income
tax liabilities due to uncertain tax positions,uation of marketable securities, recoverabilityndéngible assets,
other long-lived assets and goodwill, and the aeitesition of the allowance for doubtful accountseT@ompany
bases its estimates on historical experience asuhgsions that it believes are reasonable. Acesllts could diffe
from those estimates.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company adopted new guidance which establfsiiregalue measurements and disclosures on Jaduary
2008, with respect to its financial assets andliteds, and on January 1, 2009, with respectgaiinfinancial assets
and liabilities that are recognized and disclogediavalue on a nonrecurring basis.

Fair value is an exit price, representing the arhthet would be received to sell an asset or paitansfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between margatticipants. As such, fair value is a market-basedsurement
that should be determined based on assumptionsntir&et participants would use in pricing an asséiability. As
a basis for considering such assumptions, the Coyngaplies the three-tier value hierarchy whicloptizes the
inputs used in measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 — observable inputs such as quoted prices inaatiarkets;

Level 2 — inputs other than the quoted prices in activeketa that are observable either directly or
indirectly;

Level 3 — unobservable inputs of which there is littlenormarket data, which require the Company to
develop its own assumptions.

This hierarchy requires the Company to use obsérvabrket data, when available, and to minimizeube of
unobservable inputs when determining fair value a®acurring basis, the Company measures its imezgt
instruments at fair value and determines the appatepclassification level for each reporting petidhe Company
is required to use significant judgments to make dletermination.

The Company’s investment instruments are classifigin Level 1 or Level 3 of the fair value hiechy.
Level 1 investment instruments are valued usingegfumarket prices. Level 3 instruments are valusadgu
valuation models, primarily discounted cash flovalgees. The types of instruments valued based otequnarket
prices in active markets include all U.S. governtraamd agency securities. Such instruments are gkynetassified
within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy. The ggof instruments valued based on significant ueadble inputs
include certain illiquid auction rate securitiesicB instruments are classified within Level 3 of fhir value
hierarchy (see Note 4).

Cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivabd®unts payable, accrued expenses and capial lea
obligations reported in the consolidated balanezthequal or approximate their respective fauesl
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Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments

Cash and cash equivalents consist of highly ligvestments with an original maturity of three mumnor less
at the time of purchase. Cash and cash equivatentsst primarily of bank deposit accounts andifieates of
deposit.

Investments, which consist principally of U.S. #egy bills, U.S. treasury notes and auction rateseées, are
stated at fair value. These securities are accdunoteas available-for-sale securities. Unrealikeltling gains and
losses for available-for-sale securities are exaiuilom earnings and reported as a net amounséparate
component of stockholders’ equity until realizeéaRkzed gains and losses on available-for-salergesuare
included in interest income. Interest and divideodsecurities classified as available-for-saleimeckided in
interest income. The Company uses the specifidifileation method to compute realized gains andésson its
investments. During the year ended December 319,286 Company recorded an $89,000 realized gaim the
sale of one auction rate security. Realized gamaslasses for the years ended December 31, 2008G0WIwere nc
material.

As of April 1, 2009, the Company modified its medlotogy for recognition and measurement of impairnier
debt securities. The two principal changes to tiygairment model for debt securities are as follows:

« An other-than-temporary impairment charge for dsdaturities in an unrealized loss position or imgris
recognized if any of these conditions are mettt{g#)Company does not expect to recover the emtiatizec
cost basis of the security, (2) the Company intéadsll the security or (3) it is more likely thaat that the
Company will be required to sell the security beftirecovers its amortized cost ba

« If the first condition above is met, but the Comypalees not intend to sell and it is not more likéslgin not
that the Company will be required to sell the sitgimefore recovery of its amortized cost basis, th
Company records the difference between the se&udtyortized cost basis and its recoverable amount
(representing the credit loss) in earnings andlifierence between the securigyrecoverable amount and
value in other comprehensive income. If eithergbeond or third criteria are met, then the Company
recognizes the entire difference between the s§’s amortized cost basis and its fair value in egs

The Company concluded that its auction rate seesrf&ll within the second and third criteria abofé
previously recorded impairments to auction rateisges were deemed other-than-temporary and wesregnized
in earnings.

In prior periods, the intent and ability of the Quamy to hold the security until the market valueoreered was
a critical factor in determining whether any dee8rin the fair value of investments was
other-than-temporary. Declines in value below ¢ostnvestments where it was considered probatdeah
contractual terms of the investment would be datisfdue primarily to changes in market demand,ravtdecause
of increased credit risk, and where the Comparsnitied and had the ability to hold the investmenafperiod of
time sufficient to allow a market recovery, weré assumed to be other-than-temporary.

Interest income on investments was $568,000, $#l@mand $2.9 million for the years ended Decembe,
2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded at the invoicedusrnand are non-interest bearing. The Companyrghye
grants uncollateralized credit terms to its cust@enamd maintains an allowance for doubtful accotmtgserve for
potentially uncollectible receivables. Allowances hased on management’s judgment, which conshdsticrical
experience and specific knowledge of accounts wbeltectability may not be probable. The Compankesa
provisions based on historical bad debt experiemspecific review of all significant outstandimydices and an
assessment of general economic conditions. Ifil@né€ial condition of a customer deteriorates, ltéguin an
impairment of its ability to make payments, addiiballowances may be required.
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The following is a summary of activities in theaallance for doubtful accounts for the fiscal yeadidated:

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Beginning Balanc $(479) $(234) $(18¢)
Additions (290) (602) (142
Reductions 25¢ 357 96
Ending Balanct $(510) (479 (239

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net@fraalated depreciation. Property and equipmen¢setiate:
on a straight-line basis over the estimated udies of the assets, ranging from three to fivergeAssets under
capital leases are recorded at their net presédunt & the inception of the lease and are includéke appropriate
asset category. Assets under capital leases asehleld improvements are amortized over the shoftdre related
lease terms or their useful lives. Replacementswaadr improvements are capitalized; maintenancerapairs are
charged to expense as incurred. Amortization aftassder capital leases is included within theeesp category
on the Statement of Operations in which the assg¢ployed.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase prier the fair value of identifiable assets acepligind
liabilities assumed when other businesses are @atjuihe allocation of the purchase price to inlalegassets and
goodwill involves the extensive use of managemesgtamates and assumptions, and the result ofllideaton
process can have a significant impact on futureaijrey results. The Company estimates the fairevalu
identifiable intangible assets acquired using sEwdifferent valuation approaches, including tHeeférom royalty
method and, income and market approaches. Thé frelie royalty method assumes that if the Compaiaynat
own the intangible asset or intellectual propettwould be willing to pay a royalty for its useh@ Company
generally uses the relief from royalty method fstiraating the value of acquired technology/methogglassets.
The income approach converts the anticipated ecimloemefits that the Company assumes will be redlfzom a
given asset into value. Under this approach, vislueeasured as the present value of anticipatedefutet cash
flows generated by an asset. The Company genersdly the income approach to value customer retdtiprassets
and noneompete agreements. The market approach comparasdiired asset to similar assets that have lwdei
The Company generally uses the market approachlte wrademarks and brand assets.

Intangible assets with finite lives are amortizedratheir useful lives while goodwill is not amaed but is
evaluated for potential impairment at least aniyual comparing the fair value of a reporting uniits carrying
value including goodwill recorded by the reportingt. If the carrying value exceeds the fair valingpairment is
measured by comparing the implied fair value ofghedwill to its carrying value, and any impairmeetermined
is recorded in the current period. All of the Comya goodwill is associated with one reporting uAiccordingly,
on an annual basis the Company performs the impairmssessment for goodwill at the enterprise l&ved
Company completed its annual impairment analysisf &ctober 1st for each of 2009, 2008 and 2007 and
determined that there was no impairment of goodwill
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Intangible assets with finite lives are amortizethg the straight-line method over the followingefug lives:

Useful

Lives

(Years
Acquired methodologies/technolo 3to7
Customer relationshiy 7
Panel 7
Intellectual propert 10
Tradename 2

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company’s long-lived assets primarily consfgtroperty and equipment and intangible assets. The
Company evaluates the recoverability of its longdi assets for impairment whenever events or clsange
circumstances indicate the carrying value of sigsdets may not be recoverable. If an indicatiomgfairment is
present, the Company compares the estimated unditezbfuture cash flows to be generated by the ts#s
carrying amount. Recoverability measurement anichasibn of undiscounted cash flows are groupeti@idwest
level for which identifiable cash flows are largéhglependent of the cash flows of other assetdiabitities. If the
undiscounted future cash flows are less than thging amount of the asset, the Company recordmpairment
loss equal to the excess of the asset’s carryirguatrover its fair value. The fair value is detared based on
valuation techniques such as a comparison to &ires of similar assets or using a discounted ffaghanalysis.
Although the Company believes that the carryingigalof its long-lived assets are appropriatelestathanges in
strategy or market conditions or significant tedbgical developments could significantly impactsagudgments
and require adjustments to recorded asset balahlbese were no impairment charges recognized dihiayears
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007.

Lease Accounting

The Company leases its facilities and accountthfose leases as operating leases. For facility sethat
contain rent escalations or rent concession pravssithe Company records the total rent payablegltine lease
term on a straight-line basis over the term ofifase. The Company records the difference betwe=erent paid
and the straight-line rent as a deferred rentlltsgbin the accompanying consolidated balance shaetasehold
improvements funded by landlord incentives or alloees are recorded as leasehold improvement asgbts
deferred rent liability which is amortized as auetibn of rent expense over the term of the lease.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Company’s foreighsdiaries is the local currency. All assets aadilities are
translated at the current exchange rate as ofrtti®@&the period, and revenues and expenses adatrad at
average exchange rates in effect during the pefibd.gain or loss resulting from the process afdiating foreign
currency financial statements into U.S. dollaneftected as foreign currency cumulative transtatidjustment and
reported as a component of Other comprehensiveriaco

The Company incurred foreign currency transactomsés of $132,000, $321,000 and $296,000 for thesye
ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respsctiMat losses are the result of transactions demeel in
currencies other than the functional currency ef@ompany’s foreign subsidiaries.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The following summary sets forth the componentaagfumulated other comprehensive income (losspfet
tax, in stockholders’ equity:

December 31

2009 2008

(In thousands)
Foreign currency translation lo $(120) $(949
Unrealized gain on marketable securi 444 107
Total accumulated other comprehensive income ( $324 $(842

Operating Segment Information

The Company is managed and operated as one ogesatyment. A single management team reports to the
chief operating decision maker who manages theeebtisiness. The Company does not operate anyiaiater
separate lines of business or separate busing8ssewith respect to its services. The variougddpus that the
Company offers are all related to analyzing consuméavior on the Internet and mobile devices. Jdrae data
source is used regardless of the product delivaiee.Company’s expenses are shared and are noataitbto
individual products. Accordingly, the Company does accumulate discrete financial information bgdarct line
and does not have separately reportable segments.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenues when the follofuindamental criteria are met: (i) persuasive eveenf
an arrangement exists, (ii) delivery has occurrethe services have been rendered, (iii) the féieeasl or
determinable and (iv) collection of the resultiegeivable is reasonably assured.

The Company generates revenues by providing ated¢ks Company’s online database or delivering
information obtained from the database, usuallheform of periodic reports. Revenues are typjcatognized o
a straight-line basis over the period in which asde data or reports are provided, which generaliges from
three to 24 months.

Revenues are also generated through survey semides contracts ranging in term from two monthere
year. Survey services consist of survey and quastioe design with subsequent data collection,yamsainc
reporting. Revenues are recognized on a straigatHasis over the estimated data collection penme the survey
or questionnaire has been delivered. Any changfeeirestimated data collection period results iadjnstment to
revenues recognized in future periods.

Certain of the Company’s arrangements contain plalélements, consisting of the various services th
Company offers. Multiple element arrangements @ibicconsist of a subscription to the Companghline databas
combined with customized services. The Companydetermined that there is not objective and religbidence o
fair value for any of its services and, therefae;ounts for all elements in multiple element ageaments as a sing
unit of accounting. Access to data under the suftsmn element is generally provided shortly attee execution of
the contract. However, the initial delivery of austized services generally occurs subsequent toamrgxecution.
The Company recognizes the entire arrangementvieretbe performance period of the last deliverahkea result,
the total arrangement fee is recognized on a $it-diige basis over the period beginning with thenozencement of
the last customized service.

Generally, contracts are non-refundable and nocetahle. In the event a portion of a contract fardable,
revenue recognition is delayed until the refundvigions lapse. A limited number of customers héneertght to
cancel their contracts by providing a written netaf cancellation. In the event that a customeceknts contract,
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the customer is not entitled to a refund for psgervices, and will be charged for costs incurrer glervices
performed up to the cancellation date.

Advance payments are recorded as deferred revemtiéservices are delivered or obligations are avet
revenue can be recognized. Deferred revenues s excess of amounts invoiced over amountgyrézed as
revenues.

Costs of Revenues

Cost of revenues consists primarily of expenseded|to the operating network infrastructure ard th
recruitment, maintenance and support of consumeglpaExpenses associated with these areas intiadsalaries,
stock-based compensation, benefits and relatechsgpeof network operations, survey operationspousinalytics
and technical support departments, and are expexssémy are incurred. Cost of revenues also ieslulhta
collection costs for the products and operationats associated with the Company’s data centetisidimg
depreciation expense associated with computer sraripthat supports its panel and systems, andaddidc
overhead, which is comprised of rent and deprexiatikpense generated by general purpose equipment a
software.

Selling and Marketing

Selling and marketing expenses consist primarilgadéries, stock-based compensation, benefits, ¢esioms
and bonuses paid to the direct sales force angindanalysts, as well as costs related to onlimteadfline
advertising, product management, seminars, promatimaterials, public relations, other sales andketang
programs, and allocated overhead, including redtadher facilities related costs, and depreciatidhselling and
marketing costs are expensed as they are incurred.

Research and Development

Research and development expenses include newqgtrdelelopment costs, consisting primarily of delr
stock-based compensation, benefits and related tmspersonnel associated with research and dewalot
activities, and allocated overhead, including  emd other facilities related costs, and depreaiatio

General and Administrative

General and administrative expenses consist piiynarsalaries, stock-based compensation, benafits
related expenses for executive management, finasceunting, human capital, legal, information rexlbgy and
other administrative functions, as well as profeisal fees, overhead, including allocated rent ahdrdfacilities
related costs, and depreciation and expenses attctor other general corporate purposes.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to concentrations of credit risk consignprily of
cash equivalents, investments and accounts redeivaash equivalents are held at financial instinsg.
Investments consist of fixed income and auctioa sacurities (see Note 4). With respect to accaeatsivable,
credit risk is mitigated by the Company’s ongoimgdit evaluation of its customers’ financial cormatit

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 aritl 886 customer accounted for 12%, 12% and 13%,
respectively, of total revenues. As of December2BD9 and 2008, no one customer accounted for thare10% o
accounts receivable.
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Advertising Costs

All advertising costs are expensed as incurred.efibing expense, which is included in sales antkeiimg
expense, totaled $216,000, $298,000 and $371,06GB8dq/ears ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company measures and recognizes compensapenssfor share-based awards based on the estimated
fair value on the date of grant. The Company estmthe fair value of each option award on the dathe grant
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. Tinisdel is affected by the Company’s stock price ab as
estimates regarding a number of variables includixygected stock price volatility over the term toé award and
projected employee stock option exercise behavidrs.fair value of the restricted stock awardsetednined base
on the quoted market price of the Company’s comstook on the grant date. For stock-based awardsdutb
graded vesting, the Company has utilized the dttdige ratable method for allocating compensatiort bgsperiod
For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 ard 26®Company recorded stock-based compensatjmensz
of $9.9 million, $6.5 million and $2.5 million, nesctively. Included in stock-based compensatiorersp for the
year ended December 31, 2009, was approximatel§,866 due to accelerated vesting of approximg
59,000 shares of restricted stock. These restrgttmrk awards were modified to accelerate vestingaat of a
restructuring plan that was implemented duringftheth quarter of 2009 and other employee termametithat
occurred throughout the year. Also included witb@®9 stock-based compensation expense and liebilitas an
accrual for $1.7 million for compensation earnedrtythe year. This accrual will be settled wittagds of restricte
stock to be granted in 2010. Included within 20Rk-based compensation expense and liabilitiesamazccrual
for $369,000 for compensation earned during the. yg#s accrual was settled with shares of regtrictock issued
during the first quarter of 2009. Also included2i@08 stock-based compensation expense was apptekma
$306,000 due to accelerated vesting for certamiterted employees. Included within 2007 stock-based
compensation expense and liabilities was an actou&235,000 for compensation earned during tta.yEhis
accrual was settled with shares of restricted stsmked during the first quarter of 2008.

Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the assdtability method. Deferred income taxes are prodider
temporary differences in recognizing certain incomgense and credit items for financial reporpogposes and
tax reporting purposes. Such deferred income tpsiggarily relate to the difference between thehases of assets
and liabilities and their financial reporting amdsirDeferred tax assets and liabilities are measliyeapplying
enacted statutory tax rates applicable to the éugears in which deferred tax assets or liabilidesexpected to be
settled or realized.

The Company records a valuation allowance wheatgrthines, based on available positive and negative
evidence, that it is more likely than not that squoetion or all of its deferred tax assets will hetrealized. The
Company determines the realizability of its defénex assets primarily based on projections ofreutaxable
income (exclusive of reversing temporary differenaad carryforwards). In evaluating such projectjdhe
Company considers its history of profitability, tbempetitive environment, the overall outlook foe tonline
marketing industry and general economic conditiemsddition, the Company considers the timefrawer evhich
it would take to utilize the deferred tax assetemto their expiration.

For certain tax positions, the Company uses a fikeb~than not recognition threshold based onttahnical
merits of the tax position taken. Tax positiong thaet the more-likely-than-not recognition thrdsghere measured
at the largest amount of tax benefits determined oamulative probability basis, which are moreljkthan not to
be realized upon ultimate settlement in the finalhstatements. The Company’s policy is to recogirigrest and
penalties related to income tax matters in incaameskpense.
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Earnings Per Share

Prior to April 2008, the Company'’s capital struetimcluded classes of common stock with differevideénd
rates. Therefore, the Company applied the two-cafaethod of calculating earnings per share. In audib the
Company’s common stock, prior to April 2008, then@any had Common Stock Subject to Put outstandliat t
was issued in connection with certain acquisitidt@wvever, the additional contractual rights of s@¥mmon Stoc
Subject to Put lapsed unexercised in April 2008, such Common Stock Subject to Put was reallocagesbmmon
stock following such time. Prior to the lapse & ttontractual rights, the Company calculated egmper share for
its common stock and its Common Stock Subject tauBimg a method akin to the two-class method. stnibuted
earnings were allocated to holders of common stmekCommon Stock Subject to Put on a pro rata basial
earnings allocated to each class of common stock then divided by the weighted-average numbehafes
outstanding for each class of common stock to deter basic earnings per share.

In addition, the Company'’s series of convertibléeremable preferred stock that were outstandindy tineir
automatic conversion upon the completion of the &dQluly 2, 2007 were considered participating sges as the
were entitled to an 8% noncumulative preferentiaidgénd before any dividends could be paid to commo
stockholders. The Company included its particigppreferred stock in the computation of earningsshare using
the two-class method .

The two-class computation method for each peritmtates the undistributed earnings or losses th eac
participating security based on their respectigbts to receive dividends. In addition to undisttédd earnings or
losses, the accretion to their redemption or pigegrwas also allocated to the Common Stock Sutgdeut and the
convertible redeemable preferred stock. Prior tovecsion of the redeemable preferred stock, inoplerdf
undistributed losses, all losses were allocatembiomon stock as the holders of Common Stock Sutgeetut and
participating preferred stock were not requiretlted losses nor were their redemption or put prieelsiced as a
result of losses incurred. In periods of undistiolincome, income was first allocated to the pgoditing preferred
stock for their preferential dividend, $7.1 milliper annum as of July 2, 2007, the date of the @wn of the
Companys participating preferred stock upon the closingofPO. Any undistributed earnings remaining werer
allocated to holders of common stock, Common Sfadfject to Put and preferred stock (assuming ceiv@ron ¢
pro rata basis. The total earnings or losses d@#ddm each class of common stock were then diviigeithe
weighted-average number of shares outstandingafdr elass of common stock to determine basic egsrper
share. Presentation of basic and diluted earniegstpare for securities other than common stooktisequired,
therefore, earnings per share is only computethi®Company’s common stock.

Diluted earnings per share for common stock redl#foe potential dilution that could result if seties or other
contracts to issue common stock were exercisedorested into common stock. Diluted earnings persiassume
the exercise of stock options and warrants usiagrérasury stock method. For the period prior toveosion, dilute
earnings per share does not assume the converffsioe Gompany’s convertible preferred stock ushngif-
converted method as the result is anti-dilutive.ggtentially dilutive securities were convertibleexercisable into
shares of Common Stock Subject to Put.

The following is a summary of common stock equingddor the securities outstanding during the retpe
periods that have been excluded from the earniagsipare calculations as their impact was antiidau

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
Stock options and restricted stock uli 81,62¢ 60,08¢ 3,79¢
Common stock warran 1,50C 2,00C 2,00(
Convertible preferred stoc — — 8,605,044

78




COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

The following table sets forth the computation aéic and diluted EPS:

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007
(In thousands, except share date

Calculation of basic and diluted net income per sha — two
class method:

Net income $ 3,96¢ $ 25,18¢ % 19,31¢
Accretion of redeemable preferred st — — (1,829
Accretion of common stock subject to | — — (103)
Undistributed earning 3,96¢ 25,18¢ 17,38¢
Allocation of undistributed earning
Common stocl 3,96¢ 25,18¢ 16,35¢
Preferred stoc — — 1,02¢
Total allocated earning $ 396¢ $ 2518t $ 17,38«
Net income attributable to common stockholdersqeanmon
share;
Basic $ 0.1z % 08¢ % 0.9¢
Diluted $ 0.1z % 08: % 0.8¢
Weightec-average shares outstanc-common stock, bas 30,014,08 28,691,21 16,139,36
Dilutive effect of
Options to purchase common stc 915,02! 1,500,06! 2,104,13
Unvested restricted stock un 32,93( 22,331 19,87(
Warrants to purchase common st 8,60z 19,09: 114,19:
Weightec-average shares outstanc-common stock, dilute 30,970,64 30,232,71 18,377,56

Net income attributable to common stockholdersgoenmon
share subject to puL

Basic $ — 3 08¢ % 1.3¢
Diluted $ — 08: $ 1.21
Weighted-average shares outstanding-common stdij&ciuo

put:

Basic — 34,46¢ 308,72

Diluted — 34,46¢ 308,72

Recent Pronouncements

In September 2009, the Financial Accounting Stashel&oard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Updat
(“ASU") 2009-13,Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangeme@taSU 2009-13"), which amends the revenue
guidance under Subtopic 605-25, “Multiple Elementafdigements.” ASU 2009-13 addresses how to determin
whether an arrangement involving multiple delivéealrontains more than one unit of accounting awd h
arrangement consideration shall be measured amchédld to the separate units of accounting in ttemgement.
ASU 2009-13 is effective for periods beginning afiecember 15, 2010 with earlier adoption permitigue
Company is currently evaluating the timing of itloption of ASU 2009-13 and the impact that ASU 2a39will
have on its consolidated financial statements.
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In June 2009, the FASB issued ASU No. 2009-1, FA8B Accounting Standards Codification and the
Hierarchy of Generally Accepted Accounting Prineg— a replacement of FASB Statement N62 (“ASU
2009-1"). This standard establishes only two lewéld.S. GAAP, authoritative and nonauthoritativee FASB
Accounting Standards Codification (the “Codificatipwill become the source of authoritative, nongovmental
GAAP, except for rules and interpretive releasethefSEC, which are sources of authoritative GAPIEC
registrants. All other nongrandfathered, non-SE€banting literature not included in the Codificatiwill become
nonauthoritative. This standard is effective foraficial statements for interim or annual reporfirgods ending
after September 15, 2009. The Company began uséngaw guidelines and humbering system prescripete
Codification when referring to GAAP beginning iretperiod ended September 30, 2009. As the Codditatas
not intended to change or alter existing GAAP,ateption of ASU 2009-1 had no impact on the Comfsany
consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued Statement ofieinhAccounting Standards No. 141 (revisdl)siness
Combinations which has since been included in the CodificatierASC Topic 805 (“ASC 805"). ASC 805 is
intended to improve reporting by creating greatarsistency in the accounting and financial repgrofbusiness
combinations. ASC 805 requires that the acquirimtifyein a business combination recognize all (anty) the
assets and liabilities assumed in the transaatistaplishes the acquisition-date fair value asrthasurement
objective for all assets acquired and liabilitisswamed, and requires the acquirer to disclosevestors and other
users all of the information that they need to eatd and understand the nature and financial effabte business
combination. In addition, ASC 805 modifies the aguiing for transaction and restructuring costs. A6 is
effective for business combinations for which thqusition date is on or after the beginning of fingt annual
reporting period beginning on or after December2l&)8. After the effective date of ASC 805, all ches to tax
uncertainties and deferred tax asset valuationvali@es established in business combination aceaustiould be
recognized in accordance with ASC 805, generallgraadjustment to income tax expense. For the Coy'parior
acquisitions, the effects of changes to deferredsset valuation allowances established in adégurisiccounting
will be generally recognized directly as an adjuetirto income tax expense. The adoption of ASCdB0%ot have
a material impact on the Company’s consolidatedlt®sf operation or financial position with respaxits
previous acquisitions. However, the acquisitiorCeftifica, which occurred in the middle of Novem2€09,
included $710,000 of transaction costs that weskided in the Company’s consolidated statementgpefations.

3. Acquisitions
M:Metrics

On May 28, 2008, comScore completed its merger Mitketrics, a provider of marketing and media
intelligence for the mobile medium in the Unite@t®s and internationally, pursuant to the AgreeraadtPlan of
Merger dated May 28, 2008, (the “Merger”). Pursuarthe Agreement and Plan of Merger, the Compaaquised
all the outstanding common stock of M:Metrics inagh transaction for approximately $46.0 millioheTotal
purchase price of $46.0 million is comprised of $4dhillion in cash consideration, $1.2 million iRpenses paid on
behalf of M:Metrics and estimated acquisition retatransaction costs of approximately $480,000.uisttion-
related transaction costs include legal and acooyfices, and other external costs directly rel&ettie Merger. In
connection with the Merger, the Company exchangeditvested options for M:Metrics common stockditions
for the purchase of 51,908 shares of comScore caonstoxk. In addition, $5.0 million of comScore ratéed
common stock was reserved for issuance pursudhéetdlerger and $4.72 million was issued to ceraimer
M:Metrics employees that continued as employeaoofScore as of June 30, 2008. The estimated fhie wd
these options and restricted stock is being reeeghas compensation expense for post merger seriibe
Company has included the financial results of Miidstin its consolidated financial statements sikles 28, 2008
the date of acquisition.

The Company believes the Merger with M:Metrics suppthe Company’s long-term strategic directiod an
that the demands in the digital marketing intelige industry continue to accelerate at a rapid pacavertising
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moves to new digital mediums. In evaluating theuggition of M:Metrics, the Company focused primgn the
business’s revenues and customer base, the stréitagfithe business’s product line with the Comya existing
product offerings, and opportunities for cost reauts and other synergies, rather than on the basia tangible or
intangible assets, such as its property and equipms a result, the fair value of the acquirecetssorresponds to
a relatively smaller portion of the acquisitiongaj with the Company recording a substantial amotigbodwill
associated with the acquisition.

The Merger was accounted for under the purchaskadetf accounting. Assets acquired and liabiliiesume
were recorded at their estimated fair values ddaf 28, 2008. Under the purchase method of accogpitie total
purchase price is allocated to M:Metrics net talegénd intangible assets based on their estimaietdlues as of
May 28, 2008, the effective date of the Merger. Tihal purchase price was allocated as followdHimusands):

Cash and cash equivalel $ 1,554
Accounts receivabl 2,01C
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 22¢
Property and equipme 464
Other long term asse 85
Deferred tax assets, r 2,692
Accounts payabl (865)
Other accrued liabilitie (3,469
Deferred revenu (5,477
Other lon¢-term liabilities (145
Net tangible liabilities to be acquirt (2,92))
Definite-lived intangible assets acquir 10,16(
Goodwill 38,781
Total estimated purchase pri $46,02(

Included in the final purchase price allocation ev$8.6 million of deferred tax assets and $3.6iomilbf
deferred tax liabilities initially offset by a fulaluation allowance of $5.0 million. In connectioith the reduction
of the deferred tax asset valuation allowance dEmbas of December 31, 2008 (see Note 9), the Coymeaorded
a $3.7 million reduction in the valuation allowarreeorded for the acquired deferred tax assets:bféitics with a
corresponding reduction of goodwill. In connectimith the finalization of the purchase price alldoatduring the
three months ended June 30, 2009, the Companyeéddie acquired deferred tax assets by approxiynatel
$1.0 million with an offsetting increase to goody#lee Note 6).

Of the total purchase price, approximately $2.9ianilhas been allocated to net tangible liabiligeguired, an
$10.2 million has been allocated to definite-livetangible assets acquired. Definite-lived intafegyidssets of
$10.2 million consist of the value assigned to Mtibs customer relationships of $3.2 million, itéetual property
of $2.6 million, developed and core technology 2B$million and panel of $1.9 million. The usefivids range fror
five to ten years (see Note 2). Goodwill represéimsexcess of the purchase price of an acquirsithéss over the
fair value of the net tangible and intangible assequired. Goodwill is not deductible for tax pasps.

In connection with the purchase price allocatibe, éstimated fair value of the deferred revenuerasd from
M:Metrics in connection with the Merger was detered utilizing a cost build-up approach. The cost
build-up approach determines fair value by estingathe costs relating to fulfilling the assumedtcactual
obligations plus a market profit margin. The présetue of the sum of the costs and operating papfproximates
the amount that the Company would be required yoapihird party to assume the obligations. Theneatied costs
fulfill the obligation were based on the historid#lect costs related to providing the services.

The unaudited financial information provided belswnmarizes the combined results of operations of
comScore and M:Metrics on a pro forma basis, asghdhe companies had been combined as of theriegiof
the periods presented. The pro forma financialrmétion is presented for informational purposey @mld does
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not purport to be indicative of the Company’s finih position or results of operations, which woalttually have
been obtained had such transaction been complstefite date or for the periods presented, on®financial
position or results of operations that may be olgdiin the future. The pro forma financial inforiatfor all
periods includes adjustments to include amortinatiopense from acquired intangibles, adjustmenitstéoest
income, the elimination of depreciation from acqdiinternally developed software and related téects.

The unaudited historical financial information @heScore for the periods beginning after May 28,8200
includes the results of the consolidated compaiiies.unaudited pro forma financial information foe year ended
December 31, 2008 combines the historical resaftsdmScore for the year ended December 31, 2008h&n
historical results for M:Metrics for the five momstiended May 28, 2008. The unaudited pro forma &irehn
information for the year ended December 31, 2001hines the historical results for comScore forytear ended
December 31, 2007 and the historical results foldtrics for the same period.

Year Ended December 31

2008 2007
(Unaudited)
(In thousands, except per share date
Revenue: $122,15¢ $96,26"
Net income $ 21,91¢ $ 5,39¢
Basic income per share to common stockhol $ 0.7¢ $ 0.3¢
Diluted income per share to common stockholi $ 0.7z $ 0.2¢

Certifica

On November 11, 2009, comScore completed its aitigmi®f Certifica, a leading analyst of Interngiftic
measurement in Latin America, pursuant to the Agies® and Plan of Acquisition dated November 11,920the
“Acquisition”). Pursuant to the Agreement and Ptdu#\cquisition, the Company acquired all of thestahding
common stock of Certifica in a cash transaction.

The Acquisition was accounted for under the purelmsthod of accounting. Assets acquired and ltadsli
assumed were recorded at their estimated fair sasef the acquisition date. Under the purchaskadeof
accounting, the total purchase price is allocate@drtifica’s net tangible and intangible assetseblaon their
estimated fair values as of the effective datdefAcquisition.

The Acquisition resulted in goodwill of approximigt&1.9 million. This amount represents the residumaount
of the total purchase price after allocation toasstets and indentifiable intangible assets aadjuineluded in the
total net assets acquired was approximately $609rD0abilities related to uncertain tax positioffie amount
recorded for goodwill supports the Company’s intamg for the acquisition of Certifica. The Compaguired
Certifica to strengthen its presence in the Latinehica region and enable the Company to offer lylm@éasureme
as part of its Media Metrix 360 initiative usingethame state-of-the-arteasurement technologies the Company
elsewhere in the world.

Definite-lived intangible assets of $1.2 millionnsist of the value assigned to Certifica’s customer
relationships, trade name and its core technolép46,000, $157,000 and $51,000 respectively. idedul lives
range from two to seven years (see Note 2).

The Company is awaiting additional information atitne assets acquired and liabilities assumecdhiagt
result in an adjustment to the preliminary purcharsee.
4. Investments and Fair Value Measurement

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company Bairillion and $2.9 million invested in auctiortea
securities, respectively, all of which are classifas long-term investments on its consolidatedral sheets.
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Auction rate securities are generally long-termtdestruments that provide liquidity through a Dutmuction
process that resets the applicable interest rggeeadetermined calendar intervals, generally e28rgdays. This
mechanism typically allows existing investors tawer their holdings and to continue to own theispective
securities or liquidate their holdings by sellilmgit securities at par value. These securitiesafte insured against
loss of principal and interest by bond insurersprior years, the Company invested in these séesifibr short
periods of time as part of its investment policpwéver, since 2007, the uncertainties in the creditkets have
limited the ability of the Company to liquidate fteldings of certain auction rate securities beeahe amount of
securities submitted for sale has exceeded the mtnodpurchase orders. Accordingly, the Companytiooes to
hold these long-term securities and is due intexeathigher rate than similar securities for wacictions have
cleared. The four remaining securities were valusidg a discounted cash flow model that takesdntwsideration
the financial condition of the issuers, the workpetiod, the discount rate and other factors.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company held $2.8anilh long-term investments consisting of four aepe
auction rate securities with a par value of $4.8ioni. During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Compaold one
auction rate security with an adjusted cost bas&181,000 for $570,000, via a tender offer, armbrded a realized
gain of $89,000. Based on the Company’s currenwilue estimate, the Company recorded an unrebgjae of
$429,000 as of December 31, 2009. The unrealizedigacluded in Other comprehensive income witthie
consolidated balance sheet.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company held $2.9aniih long-term investments consisting of five argie
auction rate securities with a par value $5.1 onlliThe estimated fair value of the auction ratagges was below
cost, or par value. During the year ended Dece®beP008, the length of time and the extent to Wihie auction
rate securities were valued below cost both ine@agynificantly. Further, the credit ratings of tksuers and bond
insurers had deteriorated. As a result, the Compangluded that the unrealized losses on its auctite securities
at December 31, 2008 represented an other-thanstamypimpairment and recorded a charge of $2.Janiih
earnings.

The Company is unsure as to when the liquiditydsselating to these investments will improve. Adaagly,
the Company classified these securities as noregtas of December 31, 2009 and 2008. If the cratitgs of the
issuers, the bond insurers or the collateral dmtte further, the Company may further adjust #meying value of
these investments.

Marketable securities, which are classified aslalbd-for-sale, are summarized below.

Purchasec Gross Gross Aggregate Classification on Balance Shee
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Short-Term Long-Term
Cost Gain Loss Value Investments Investments

(In thousands)

As of December 31, 200

U.S. treasury note 29,81( 23 — 29,83: 29,83: —
Auction rate securitie 2,38( 42¢ — 2,80¢ 2,80¢
$32,19C $ 452 % —  $32,64: $ 29,83: $ 2,80¢

Purchasec Gross Gross Aggregate Classification on Balance Shee

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair Short-Term Long-Term

Cost Gain Loss Value Investments Investments

(In thousands)
As of December 31, 200

U.S. treasury bill: $2493: $ 55 $§ — $2498¢ $ 24,98¢ $ —
U.S. treasury note 12,69 12C — 12,81 12,17¢ 63€
Auction rate securitie 2,861 — — 2,861 — 2,861
$40,48¢ $ 17t $ — $40,66! $ 37,16¢ $ 3,497
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There were no gross unrealized losses relatedatitable-for-sale securities as of December 31, 26@%f
December 31, 2008, the unrealized loss for thé@uchte securities was deemed other- than- temparad
included in earnings.

Cash equivalents have original maturity dates ifaimonths or less. All investments, excluding ianatate
securities, have original maturity dates betweeaetmonths and two years. Auction rate securitie® loriginal
maturity dates in excess of fifteen years.

The fair value hierarchy of the Compasyharketable securities at fair value as of Decer@be2009 and 20C
is as follows:

Fair Value Measurements at
Reporting Date Using

Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Unobservable
December 31 for Identical Assets Inputs
2009 (Level 1) (Level 3)
(In thousands)
Assets:
U.S. treasury note $ 29,83 % 29,83: % —
Auction rate securitie 2,80¢ — 2,80¢
Total $ 32,64: $ 29,83 $ 2,80¢
Fair Value Measurements at
Reporting Date Using
Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Unobservable
December 31 for Identical Assets Inputs
2008 (Level 1) (Level 3)
(In thousands)
Assets:
U.S. treasury bill: $ 2498t $ 24,98t % —
U.S. treasury note 12,81+ 12,81 —
Auction rate securitie 2,861 — 2,861
Total $ 40,66 37,80( 2,861

The following table provides a reconciliation oétheginning and ending balances for the major etasé
assets measured at fair value using significanbseivable inputs (Level 3):

Long-term
Investments
(In thousands;
Balance on December 31, 2C $ 2,861
Sale of Level 3 asse (4817)
Total unrealized gains included in other comprelvenisicome 42¢
Balance on December 31, 2C $ 2,80¢

For the year ended December 31, 2009, a realized§&89,000 related to Level 3 assets sold welsided in
income.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, an unredtzedf $2.2 million related to Level 3 assetsiral
December 31, 2008 was included in earnings.
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5. Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, including equipment undeital lease obligations, consists of the following

December 31

2009 2008
(In thousands)

Computer equipmet $14,327 $11,25¢
Computer softwar 5,262 3,627
Office equipment and furnitul 3,272 3,08t
Leasehold improvemen 8,82¢ 8,40¢

31,68¢ 26,37
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortize (14,387 (8,676

$17,30: $17,69:

During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 200& ompany capitalized $333,000 and $9.4 million,
respectively, of leasehold improvements, furnitame fixtures and office equipment associated veatidlord
allowances received in connection with its SeaRlkeston, Chicago and San Francisco office leasesNste 8).

Property and equipment financed through capitadesbligations totaled $950,000 at December 319 260
software and $3.1 million at December 31, 200&famputer equipment. At December 31, 2009 and 2008,
accumulated depreciation related to property amipegent financed through capital leases totaled@®tand
$2.2 million, respectively. The capital lease agsed with $3.1 million of assets expired and ovghg transferred
to the Company during the fourth quarter of 2009.

For the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and &fi@l depreciation expense was $6.5 million,
$5.0 million and $3.8 million, respectively.
6. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The change in the carrying value of goodwill foe trear ended December 31, 2009 is as follows @ngands

Balance as of December 31, 2( $39,11¢
Purchase price allocation adjustments related tdé¢tics 1,03z
Purchase price allocation for Certifi 1,86¢

Balance as of December 31, 2( $42,01¢

The $2.9 million of additions to goodwill duringetlyear ended December 31, 2009 were primarily due t
$1.9 million related to the Certifica purchase erédlocation, deferred tax asset reductions of g¥@Bfor the
M:Metrics net operating loss carryforward at théedaf acquisition for transfer pricing adjustmeatsl $344,000 to
establish a reserve for certain M:Metrics researuhdevelopment tax credit carryforwards that exlisitt the date
acquisition. In addition, the M:Metrics deferred tsset was increased by $138,000 to true-up tleerdd tax
balances to the filed income tax returns.

Certain of the Company’s intangible assets arerdszbin British Pounds and the local currencieswfSouth
American subsidiaries, and therefore, the grosyicar amount and accumulated amortization are stilbje
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foreign currency translation adjustments. The éagyalues of the Company’s amortized acquirednigitale assets
are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 200! December 31, 200:
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount  Amortization Amount  Amount Amortization Amount
Tradenamt $ 16t $ 149 $ 1518 — $ —  $ —
Customer relationshiy 4,00( (709 3,291 2,92 (244) 2,68:
Acquired methodologies/technolo 2,47¢ (599) 1,88C 2,37¢ (2149 2,16¢
Intellectual propert 2,56¢ (407) 2,161 2,54 (149 2,39¢
Panel 1,76¢ (501) 1,26: 1,701 (141) 1,56(

$10,97¢ $ (2,230 $8,74% $9,55: $ (748) ¢ 8,80¢

Amortization expense related to intangible asseis approximately $1.5 million, $804,000 and $966,{10
the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 28gatively.

During the year ended December 31, 2008, $5.1anilhf fully-amortized intangible assets were writtsf.

The weighted average remaining amortization pebypdajor asset class as of December 31, 2009, is as
follows:

(In years)
Tradenamt 1.¢
Acquired methodologies/technolo 5.C
Customer relationshiy 5.E
Panel 5.4
Intellectual propert 8.4

The estimated future amortization of acquired igiale assets as of December 31, 2009 is as follows:

(In thousands'

2010 $ 1,53¢
2011 1,52¢
2012 1,45¢
2013 1,37¢
2014 1,33:
Thereaftel 1,521

$ 8,74
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7. Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31

2009 2008
(In thousands)
Accrued payroll and relate $1,51¢  $3,47¢
Accrued stoc-based compensatic 1,65¢ 36¢
Accrued income, sales and other ta 1,37 1,53:
Accrued professional fe¢ 96& 63C
Other 2,85( 3,422

8. Commitments and Contingencie:
Leases

In September 2009, the Company entered into arfifllibn equipment line of credit with Banc of Ames
Leasing & Capital, LLC to finance the purchase efvrsoftware, hardware and other computer equipaeitie
Company expands its technology infrastructure ppsut of its business growth. The initial utilizadi of this credit
facility was an equipment lease for approximatelyl$nillion bearing an interest rate of 5% per anniihe base
term for this lease is three years and includesnaimal charge in the event of prepayment. The lpagenent is
approximately $403,000 per annum. Assets acquine@nthis equipment lease secure the obligations.

In addition to equipment financed through capitaldes. The Company is obligated under various
noncancelable operating leases for office facilifad equipment. These leases generally providefawal option
and escalation increases. Future minimum paymemntsruinoncancelable lease agreements with initiadgef one
year or more are as follow

December 31, 2009
Capital Operating

Leases Leases
2010 $ 405 $ 5,74«
2011 403 5,391
2012 30z 5,001
2013 — 4,58t
2014 — 4,69
Thereafte — 17,70(
Total minimum lease paymer 1,10¢ $43,12:
Less amount representing inter (749
Present value of net minimum lease paym 1,03¢
Less current portio (360
Capital lease obligations, lo-term $ 674

Total rent expense was $4.9 million, $4.0 milliord&2.4 million for the years ended December 3092@00¢
and 2007, respectively. During the year ended Déeerdl, 2008, the Company agreed with two landlédhe
early termination of their respective office leadasconnection with these terminations, the Conypgaaid
$262,000. This amount is included in expenses foperations for the year ended December 31, 2008.
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In July 2009, the Company entered into a ten yemsd with an existing landlord for its Toronto céfi This
lease renewed existing office space of approximéi#|637 square feet and added approximately Gg3@are feet
of additional office space. The base rent is apiprately $220,000 for years one through three, apprately
$237,000 for years four through six and approxitye®253,000 per year for the remainder of the le@be lease
expires September 2019. This lease includes ataliawance of approximately $452,000 for constiarttosts.
The Company anticipates it will begin constructanthe new office space during the first quarte2@f0 and as a
result will record deferred rent and capitalizedgeds at that time. The deferred rent will be applgerent expense
recognized by the Company over the lease term.

During the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 ompany recorded $333,000 and $9.4 million,
respectively, of deferred rent and capitalized #sa& a result of landlord allowances in conneatiih its Chicago,
Reston, San Francisco and Seattle office leaske,d&ferred rent will be applied to rent expensegeized by the
Company over the lease terms.

During August 2007, the Company paid the $582,0@tcjpal balance of certain capital lease obligagio
resulting in the termination of those lease agregme

Contingencies

On March 31, 2009, the Company renewed its $5.0omitevolving line of credit with Bank of Americayith
an interest rate equal to BBA LIBOR rate plus apliapble margin based upon certain financial ratidgss line of
credit includes no restrictive financial covena@s. February 10, 2010, the line of credit was exéehthrough
May 31, 2010. The Company maintains letters ofitiadieu of security deposits with respect totaar office
leases. During the year ended December 31, 20@% tbtters of credit were reduced by approximabdig0,000.
As of December 31, 2009, no amounts were borrowgethat the line of credit and $3.9 million of let®f credit
were outstanding, leaving $1.1 million available &ditional letters of credit or other borrowing$iese letters of
credit may be reduced periodically provided the @any meets the conditional criteria of each relétade
agreement. In January 2010, one letter of credstneduced by $83,000 leaving $1.2 million availgbleadditional
letters of credit or other borrowings.

The Company has no asserted claims as of Decertb2089, but is from time to time exposed to undsde
potential claims encountered in the normal coufdmusiness. Although the outcome of any legal pedaggs cannt
be predicted with certainty, management believasttte final resolution of these matters will naterially affect
the Company’s consolidated financial position @utts of operations.

9. Income Taxes

The components of income before income tax foyters ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 are as
follows:

2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)
Domestic $12,33. $10,90¢ $11,45(
Foreign (2,424 (615) 344

$ 9,907 $10,297 $11,79¢
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Income tax (expense) benefit is comprised of thleviang:

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Current:
Federa $ (457 $ (285 $(197)
State (24¢€) (74) (11
Foreign (139 (127) (412)
Total (842) (48¢€) (620)
Deferred:
Federa (4,749  13,10¢ 6,83:
State (285) 1,671 1,112
Foreign (67) 601 197
Total (5,09¢) 15,38: 8,14:
Income tax (expense) bene $(5,93¢) $14,89F $7,527

A reconciliation of the statutory United Statesdme tax rate to the effective income tax rate iHhsws:

Year Ended December 31,

2009 2008 2007
Statutory federal tax ra 35.(% 35.(% 35.%
State taxes, net of federal ben 3.5 4.4 6.5
Nondeductible item 8.2 4.5 6.€
Foreign rate difference 2.C 1.6 (0.3
Change in statutory tax rat — 6.3 —
Change in valuation allowan: 6. (196. (111.¢
Stock compensation shortfa 7.7 — —
Tax credits (3.2 — —
Other (0.2 — —
Effective tax rate 59.¢% (144.%% (63.8%

The Company recognized income tax expense of appately $5.9 million during the year ended
December 31, 2009, which is comprised of currenetgpense of $703,000 related to federal alteraatiinimum
tax and state income tax liabilities and $139,00f@i®ign income tax expense, and deferred tax mspef
approximately $5.1 million related primarily to thélization of net operating losses during theryea

The Company recognized an income tax benefit ofapmately $14.9 million during the year ended
December 31, 2008, primarily due to the recordihg meduction in the deferred tax asset valuatiowance of
approximately $20.4 million offset by current tagpense of $486,000 related to federal alternatiirémum tax
expense and state and foreign income taxes anféaatbtax expense of approximately $5.0 milliokated
primarily to the utilization of net operating lossg#uring the year.

The Company recognized an income tax benefit ofa@mately $7.5 million during the year ended
December 31, 2007, primarily due to the recordihg meduction in the deferred tax asset valuatitowance of
approximately $8.1 million offset by federal altative minimum tax expense and state and foreigonmectaxes.
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Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettemporary differences between the carrying amotiassets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposedahe amounts used for income tax purposes. Segmificomponen
of the Company’s net deferred income taxes arelbmifs.

December 31
2009 2008
(In thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $18,99:  $26,90¢
Tax credits 1,30¢ 973
Accrued salaries and benei 45 267
Deferred revenue 1,14z —
Property and equipme 1,18¢ 70¢€
Deferred compensatic 2,752 1,68¢
Deferred ren 51t 34C
Other 90t 1,361
Gross deferred tax ass! 26,84 32,24¢
Valuation allowanct (3,55(0) (2,83))
Net deferred tax asse 23,29:¢ 29,41:
Deferred tax liabilities
Intangibles asse (2,256 (2,289
Other (55) (90)
Total deferred tax liabilitie (2,31 (2,379
Net deferred tax ass $20,98: $27,04(

As of December 31, 2009 and 2008, the Company hagtion allowances of $3.6 million and $2.8 mifijo
respectively, against certain deferred tax asgdtgh consisted primarily of net operating lossrgfrwards.

As of December 31, 2009, the Company concludeditiats not more likely than not that a substargition
of its deferred tax assets in certain foreign flidBons would be realized and that an increagbenvaluation
allowance was necessary. In making that deternainathe Company considered the losses incurrduesetforeign
jurisdictions during 2009, the current overall emanic environment, and the uncertainty regardingptteditability
of the acquired Certifica business. As a resudt,Gompany recorded an increase in the deferreasset valuation
allowance of approximately $719,000.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company concludeditiats more likely than not that a substantialtiporof
its U.S. deferred tax assets and deferred taxsassetrtain foreign jurisdictions would be reatizznd that a
reduction of its valuation allowance was necesdarynaking that determination, the Company consid¢he
profitability achieved during 2008, the succes#itégration of M:Metrics into the base businessl eére continued
maturity of the online marketing industry, balanegginst the current overall economic environmaata result,
the Company recorded a reduction in the deferneddaet valuation allowance of approximately $18ilfion.

The remaining valuation allowance as of Decembe2809 of $3.6 million relates to the acquired defé tax
assets (primarily net operating loss carryforwanodshe M:Metrics UK subsidiary, the deferred taset related to
the value of the auction rate securities, and #ferded tax assets of the foreign subsidiariesat®tn their
start-up phases. To the extent that the Compamyrdates the remaining valuation allowance is ngén
necessary, the Company expects to recognize ammtax benefit in the period such determinatiomégle. The
further reduction of the valuation allowance coléve a material impact on the Company’s resultspefations.
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The following is a summary of activities in the eleed tax asset valuation allowance for the figeals
indicated:

Year Ended December 31
2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)

Deferred Tax Valuation Allowance

Beginning Balanc: $(2,83]) $(21,284) $(33,74¢)
Additions (910 (1,964 (399
Reductions 191 20,41% 12,85t
Ending Balanct $(3,550 $ (2,83) $(21,289)

As of December 31, 2009, the Company had federhktate net operating loss carryforwards for tagppses
of approximately $52.9 million and $39.7 milliomspectively. As of December 31, 2008, the Compauyfaderal
and state net operating loss carryforwards foptayposes of approximately $74.2 million and $44iBion,
respectively. These net operating loss carryforadehin to expire in 2023 for federal and begiexpire in 2014
for state income tax reporting purposes. At Decer8the 2009, the Company had an aggregate net apgiass
carryforward for tax purposes related to its fonesgibsidiaries of $14.0 million, which begins t@eg in 2014. In
addition, at December 31, 2009, the Company hadredtive minimum tax credit carryforwards of $1.Mion
which can be carried forward indefinitely and resbha& development credit carryforwards of $700,0@tich begir
to expire in 2025.

The exercise of certain stock options and the ngsif certain restricted stock awards during theryended
December 31, 2009 and 2008 generated income taixctleds equal to the excess of the fair marketevaler the
exercise price or grant date fair value, as applicarhe Company will not recognize a deferredasset with
respect to the excess of tax over book stock cosgtem deductions until the tax deductions actuatjuce our
current taxes payable. As such, the Company hasootded a deferred tax asset in the accompaffiyiagcial
statements related to the additional net operédtisges generated from the windfall tax deducti@s®eated with
the exercise of these stock options and the vesfitige restricted stock awards. If and when wkzetihese net
operating losses to reduce income taxes payaldéaxhbenefit will be recorded as an increase ditaal paid-in
capital. As of December 31, 2009, the cumulativeanmh of net operating losses related to such opiancises and
vesting events that have been included in the greseperating loss carryforwards above is $11l0ami

During the year ended December 31, 2009, certairestrelated to restricted stock awards vestathastwher
the Companys stock price was substantially lower than thevalue of those shares at the time of grant. Aesalt,
the income tax deduction related to such sharesssthan the expense previously recognized fok bogposes.
Such shortfalls reduce additional paid-in capitate extent windfall tax benefits have been pnesip recognized.
However, as mentioned above, the Company has noégegnized windfall tax benefits because thesdemefits
have not resulted in a reduction of current taxasple. Therefore, the impact of these shortfalisling $785,000
has been included in income tax expense for thegreded December 31, 2009. Looking forward, we exper
income tax provisions for future reporting periodf be impacted by this stock compensation taxutidn
shortfall. We cannot predict the stock compensadiwortfall impact because of dependency upon funagket prici
performance of our stock.

Under the provisions of Internal Revenue Code 8e@B2, certain substantial changes in the Compgany’
ownership may result in a limitation on the amooint).S. net operating loss carryforwards that cadditilized
annually to offset future taxable income and tgp@gable. A portion of the Company’s net operativgs|
carryforwards are subject to an annual limitatioder Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code. @/iead expect
that this limitation will impact our ability to dtze all of our net operating losses prior to theipiration.
Additionally, despite the net operating loss casryfard, the Company may have a future tax liabdifg to
alternative minimum tax, foreign tax or state taguirements.
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The Company intends to indefinitely reinvest thdiatributed earnings from its foreign subsidiarifs.of
December 31, 2009, the Company has not recordedri¢@ne tax expense related to undistributed goreiarning
of approximately $1.5 million.

For uncertain tax positions, the Company uses a#ikzly-than not recognition threshold based an th
technical merits of the tax position taken. Taxifimss that meet the more-likely-than-not recogmitthreshold are
measured as the largest amount of tax benefitsrdigied on a cumulative probability basis, which mm@re likely
than not to be realized upon ultimate settlemetiténfinancial statements. As a result, the Comreasy
unrecognized tax benefits, which are tax beneditsted to uncertain tax positions which have beenilbbe
reflected in income tax filings that have not beerognized in the financial statements due to piatleadjustments
by taxing authorities in the applicable jurisdictio As of December 31, 2009 and December 31, 2868 ompany
had unrecognized tax benefits of $1.2 million a@d000, respectively, all of which would affect tBompany’s
tax rate if recognized. The net increase in theillist for unrecognized income tax benefits sinlce date of adoptic
resulted from the following:

December 31

2009 2008

(In thousands)
Unrecognized tax benefits beginning bala $ 24C $71
Increase related to tax positions of prior ye 29 16¢
Increase related to acquired tax positions recotigiexligh purchase accounti 864 —
Increase related to tax positions of the curreat 65  —
Unrecognized tax benefits ending bala $1,19¢  $24C

The Company recognizes interest and penaltiessrbtatincome tax matters in income tax expenseafAs
December 31, 2009, the amount of accrued interespanalties on unrecognized tax benefits was $O89As of
December 31, 2008, the amount of accrued intexgsrese on unrecognized tax benefits was not mhtétia
Company or one of its subsidiaries files incomert&inrns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, and vas states and
foreign jurisdictions. For income tax returns fileg the Company, the Company is no longer subgett. 8. federal
examinations by tax authorities for years befor@&0r state and local tax examinations by tax aittbs for years
before 2005, although tax attribute carryforwardeearated prior to these years may still be adjuspech
examination by tax authorities.

10. Convertible Preferred Stock

Prior to the completion of the Company’s IPO oryRy12007, the Company’s certificate of incorparati
authorized the issuance of 9,187,500 shares oéSArPreferred Stock (Series A), 3,535,486 shar&€gnes B
Preferred Stock (Series B), 13,355,052 sharesid#<S€ Preferred Stock (Series C), 357,144 shdres o
Series C-1 Preferred Stock (Series C-1), 22,238s04Pes of Series D Preferred Stock (Series D) and
25,000,000 shares of Series E Preferred StockgSEj. Upon the closing of the Company’s IPO oy 2uR007,
all shares of convertible preferred stock were eoted into 17,257,362 shares of common stock.

Prior to the conversion of the Company’s convegtipleferred stock, the Series E ranked seniotl tutfar
classes of capital stock, with the exception ofltteentive Plan (see Note 13), on a distributioasfets upon
liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Coanyy. Upon such event, each share of Series E wie@no a
liquidation preference equal to 1.63 times theinafpurchase price of $2.50 per share. In addigach share of
Series E was entitled to participate in any distiidn pari passu with all classes of stock afte8,3$82,465 (the Cap
Amount) had been distributed to the holders ofe&defi through Series D preferred stock. The assstishadited to
each share of Series E upon liquidation, dissatutiowinding up of the Company shall not have egeedive time
the original purchase price of $2.50 per shareeSd& was convertible into common stock at a casiwarprice
equal to the original issuance price, subject jasithent.
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The holders of Series E were entitled to divideindsreference to any class of capital stock ofGloenpany at
an annual rate of 8.0%. Following payment of arwddinds to holders of Series E, holders of Seriegebe entitled
to dividends in preference to any class of stotieothan Series E at an annual rate of 8.0%. Falpthe payment
of any dividends to the holders of Series D, had#rSeries A, Series B, Series C and Series Cré amtitled to
dividends in preference to common stockholdersatrmual rate of 8.0%. All dividends were noncurtiwéaand
were paid only when, if, and as declared by ther8o0#& Directors. No dividend shall have been paicshbares of
common stock in any fiscal year unless (i) the nomalative preferential dividends of the preferreatk had been
paid in full and (ii) the holders of preferred dtqearticipated in any such dividend on common simtla pro rata
basis assuming conversion of all preferred stottkégommon stock.

The Series A, B, C, C-1 and D (Series A-D) eachdéduidation preference senior to the commonistbt
the event of any liquidation, dissolution, or wingiup of the Company, each Series A-D share waétdeelto a
liquidation preference equal to a portion of thgg@anount. The portion of the Cap Amount to whicleteahare of
Series A, B, C and C-1 was entitled was equalétiiginal purchase price for such share (pludetlared and
unpaid dividends) multiplied by an adjustment factet forth in the prior certificate of incorporati The portion of
the Cap Amount to which each share of Series Demtiied was equal to the original issue price ¢l declared
and unpaid dividends) plus a 25% premium, compodiga@ually (but such total not to exceed 250% efdtiginal
issue price) multiplied by an adjustment factorfeet in the prior certificate of incorporationh& original purchas
price per share for Series A, Series B, Seriese@eSC-1 and Series D was $5.00, $24.50, $11360%nd $4.50
respectively. After the payment of the liquidatipreference to the Series A-D, each share of SArieavas entitlec
to participate in any distribution pari passu wathclasses of stock. The assets distributed th share of Series A-
D upon liquidation, dissolution, or winding up et Company shall not have exceeded 2.5 times thmalr
purchase price of such shares.

Upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event, definsd consolidation, merger, or sale of the Company
Management was entitled to receive the first 10%mf liquidation proceeds pursuant to an Incerfilan (see
Note 13). The distributions of such proceeds wergetto the Incentive Plan participants (senior agament an
Company'’s founders) based on both their respeetiuity ownership in the Company and a variable grgage
which was subject to Board approval.

As a result of the issuance of Series E, the canweiprices of the Series A, Series B, Series @eS€-1 and
Series D were adjusted to the following rates:e&3eA $4.30 per share, Series B $12.35 per shariesSe $7.50 pe
share, Series C-1 $5.90 per share and Series B.@® $er share.

Each share of preferred stock was convertible yatiare into shares of common stock based on theersion
price then in effect. Conversion was automatidhmevent of a public offering of common stock atiae of at least
$12.50 per share with gross proceeds of at ledsttion. Each holder of preferred stock was éaditto the
number of votes equal to the number of whole shafresmmon stock into which the shares held byhibleer were
then convertible at each meeting of the stockhsldéthe Company. All series of preferred stock aati-dilution
protection in the event the Company issued shdragparchase price less than $2.50.

All classes of preferred stock were redeemablénbyhblder on or after August 1, 2008. Series Eeadrdenior
to all other classes of stock and may have beezeradd at 1.63 times its original purchase price pludeclared
but unpaid dividends. The aggregate redemptioneviduthe Series A-Bhares was equal to the Cap Amount. Ir
event that any series of preferred stock was coedénto common stock prior to redemption, the aggte
redemption value of the remaining series of preféstock remained equal to the Cap Amount. Themptien
value for the Series A-D shares was equal to thedation preference in effect on the redempticte dar each
series of preferred stock as adjusted by a forrseddorth in the prior certificate of incorporatiddpon the initiatior
of the Cap Amount, the carrying values of SerieSérjes B, Series C and Series C-1 were in exddhgio
individual redemption values. The carrying valuesefies D was below its individual redemption valliee
differences between the carrying value of eactesari preferred stock and its respective redempigdue (as
adjusted for the Cap Amount for Series A-D) wasigeaiccreted as preferred stock dividends usingnteeest
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method over the period to the redemption date. @achetion amounted to $1.8 million for the yeademh
December 31, 2007.

In connection with the closing of the Company’s IB®July 2, 2007, all outstanding shares of coiiivert
preferred stock were converted into 17,257,362eshaf common stock.

11. Convertible Preferred Stock Warrants

In prior years, the Company issued fully vestedraats to purchase 97,324 shares of preferred stock
connection with a master lease and various equiplaase agreements. The exercise prices of themtarrange
from $2.50 to $24.50 per share and the warrantseegp years from the date of issue. The Compaogrded the
fair value of the warrants totaling $383,000 a®defd financing costs with an offset to warrantpaechase
redeemable preferred stock. The fair value of therants was estimated using the Black-Scholes moptiicing
model. The deferred financing costs were being #imgat to interest expense over the respective aggreon a
straight line basis. For the year ended Decembge2@17 the Company recorded $7,000 in interestresgae

The Company adjusted the warrants to fair valieaah reporting date. Upon the completion of the, WRich
closed on July 2, 2007, liabilities of $2.2 milliarere reclassified to stockholders’ equity (seeeNDt

To reflect the increase in fair value of the preddrstock warrants during the year ended Decemhe2(®?7,
the Company recorded a charge of $1.2 million.

12. Common Stock Subject to Pu

In prior years, the Company issued 347,635 shdr€®mmon Stock Subject to Put. The carrying valtithe
Common Stock Subject to the Put right was accrigtelde put obligation over the three year term gishe effective
interest rate method. For the year ended Decenlhe20®7, the Company accreted a total of $103,D06ing April
2008, the put right associated with 135,635 shexpfred unexercised and the carrying value of baes of
$1.8 million was reclassified to common stock addional paid in capital. During October 2007, the right
associated with 212,000 shares expired unexereisédhe carrying value of the shares of $2.7 mmilikas
reclassified to common stock and additional paidapital.

13. Stockholders’ Equity
1999 Stock Option Plan and 2007 Equity IncentiveaRI

Prior to the effective date of the registratiortestaent for the Company’s IPO on June 26, 2007ibdig
employees and non-employees were awarded optigngthase shares of the Company’s common stodkicted
stock or restricted stock units pursuant to the @amy’s 1999 Stock Plan (the “1999 Plan”). Uponéffective date
of the registration statement of the Company?O, the Company ceased using the 1999 Plahdassuance of ne
equity awards. Upon the closing of the Company@ t July 2, 2007, the Company established its Zifiiity
Incentive Plan (the “2007 Plan” and together with 1999 Plan, the “Plans"fhe 1999 Plan will continue to gove
the terms and conditions of outstanding awardstgdatihereunder, but no further shares are authbfarenew
awards under the 1999 Plan. As of December 31, 2a8@®December 31, 2008, the Plans provided foisgwance
of a maximum of approximately 6.6 million sharesl &4 million shares, respectively, of common stdok
addition, the 2007 Plan provides for annual inoeeas the number of shares available for issudmeetnder on tt
first day of each fiscal year beginning with th&80iscal year, equal to the lesser of: (i) 4%haf butstanding
shares of the Company’s common stock on the Iasbfithe immediately preceding fiscal year;

(i) 1,800,000 shares; or (iii) such other amounttee Company’s board of directors may determihe. Vesting
period of stock-based awards granted under thesP$agetermined by the Board of Directors, althotighvesting
has historically been ratably over a four-yeargarMore recently, 25% of certain grants have imiatetly vested
upon the grant date. Options generally expire Hdg/&om the date of the grant. Effective Januar30D9, the
shares available for grant increased 1,165,205uputg0 the automatic share reserve
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increase provision under the Plans. Accordinglyfd3ecember 31, 2009, 2,446,277 shares were élailar future
grant under the 2007 Plan.

The Company estimates the fair value of stock optiwards using the Black-Scholes option-pricingrioia
and a single option award approach. The Companydh®rtizes the fair value of awards expected &b oa a
ratable straight-line basis over the requisiteiserperiods of the awards, which is generally teeqal from the
grant date to the end of the vesting period. Dutiregyears ended December 31, 2009 and 2007, clo gpdions
were granted.

A summary of the Plans is presented below:

The following are the weighted-average assumptiesl in valuing the stock options granted duriregytbar
ended December 31, 2008, and a discussion of thgp&ay’s assumptions:

Dividend yield 0.0(%
Expected volatility 60.0(%
Risk-free interest rat 2.9%
Expected life of options (in year 4.0C

Dividend yield— The Company has never declared or paid dividendss common stock and has no plans to
pay dividends in the foreseeable future.

Expected volatility— Volatility is a measure of the amount by whicfirancial variable such as a share price
has fluctuated (historical volatility) or is expedtto fluctuate (expected volatility) during a peki The Company
uses a weighted-average volatility based on 75%e#average historical stock volatilities of simitities and
25% of the Company’s actual historical volatiliipee the IPO.

Risk-free interest rate— This is the average U.S. Treasury rate withra tihat most closely resembles the
expected life of the option on the date the opti@s granted.

Expected life of the options- This is the period of time that the options geainare expected to remain
outstanding. This estimate is derived based omalysis of the Company’s historical exercise datalgined with
expected future exercise patterns based on sdaetats including the strike price in relation beetcurrent and
expected stock price, the minimum vest period aedé¢maining contractual period.

The weighted average grant date fair value of ogtgranted during the year ended December 31, @868
$19.34, no options were granted during the yeads@mecember 31, 2009 and 2007. The total fairevafishares
vested during the years ended December 31, 2008, 20d 2007 was $536,000, $853,000 and $319,000,
respectively.
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A summary of the Plans is presented below:

Number of Weighted-Average

Shares Exercise Price
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 2,723,941 $ 2.0C
Options grante: — —
Options exercise 580,72 1.5C
Options forfeitec 95,13: 4.27
Options expire( 8,64¢ 4.21
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 2,039,43 2.01
Options grante: 51,90¢ 6.24
Options exercise 611,73: 1.6C
Options forfeitec 24,58¢ 5.63
Options expire( 1,65( 9.5t
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 1,453,37! 2.2¢
Options grante: — —
Options exercise 420,58: 2.1¢
Options forfeitec 36,68¢ 7.01
Options expirec 2,81¢ 4.87
Options outstanding at December 31, 2 993,27¢ $ 2.11
Options exercisable at December 31, 2 971,700 $ 1.9¢

The following table summarizes information aboutiaps outstanding at December 31, 2009:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Weighted

Weighted Average Weighted Average

Average Remaining Average Remaining
Options Exercise Contractual Options Exercise Contractual
Range of Exercise Price Outstanding Price Life (Years) Exercisable Price Life (Years)
$0.00— $1.37 645,38 $ 0.3t 3.8¢ 645,38 $ 0.3 3.8¢
$1.38— $5.46 222,40: $ 3.8i 5.4: 22191¢ $ 3.8i 5.4z
$5.47— $13.66 125,49 $ 8.1c 6.2¢ 104,40: $ 8.0C 6.5¢
M $ 211 4.54 ﬁ $ 1.9¢ 4.4¢

The intrinsic value of exercised stock optionsakulated based on the difference between the isggpcice
and the quoted market price of our common stoaif #se close of the exercise date. The aggreg#iasit value o
options exercised for the years ended Decembe2(®Q, 2008 and 2007 was $4.3 million, $10.2 millkomd
$8.7 million, respectively. The aggregate intrinsadue for all options outstanding under the Conyfmatock plans
as of December 31, 2009 was $15.3 million. The eggpe intrinsic value for options exercisable uriber
Companys stock plans as of December 31, 2009 was $15libmiThe weighted average remaining contractdie
for all options outstanding and all options exeable under the Comparsystock plans as of December 31, 2009
4.54 years and 4.48 years, respectively. As of Bee 31, 2009, total unrecognized compensationresgeelated
to non-vested stock options granted prior to tl¢ ds estimated at $123,000, which the Compang@spo
recognize over a weighted average period of appratdly 0.77 years. Total unrecognized compensatipense is
estimated and may be increased or decreased e fpéwiods for subsequent grants or forfeitures.
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Our nonvested stock awards are comprised of remtirgtock and restricted stock units. The Compasyah
right of repurchase on such shares that lapseadé af twentyfive percent (25%) of the total shares awardecheab
successive anniversary of the initial award dateyided that the employee continues to provideisesvto the
Company. In the event that an employee terminags ¢mployment with the Company, any shares gratin
unvested and consequently subject to the rightmfinchase shall be automatically reacquired bCtmpany at th
original cash purchase price paid by the employjeay. During the year ended December 31, 2000,423%
forfeited shares of restricted stock have beenrodyased by the Company at no cost and subsequetitisd. A
summary of the status for nonvested stock award$é Becember 31, 2009 is presented as follows:

Total of Shares Weighted
Number Average

Restricted Restricted Underlying Grant-Date
Nonvested Stock Award Stock Stock Units Awards Fair Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 771,78: 63,723 835,51( $ 14.0¢
Granted 540,66 63,79¢ 604,46 23.4¢€
Vested 193,95 17,24: 211,19¢ 14.2¢
Forfeited 75,39: 13,60 88,99¢ 20.3¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 1,043,10. 96,67: 1,139,77. $ 18.5¢
Granted 1,170,38! 138,89! 1,309,27! 10.2:2
Vested 393,76« 27,33¢ 421,10: 16.3i
Forfeited 220,43« 21,41 241 ,84! 17.3¢
Nonvested at December 31, 2( 1,599,28. 186,81¢ 1,786,10. $ 13.11

The aggregate intrinsic value for all non-vestearsh of restricted common stock and restricteckstods
outstanding as of December 31, 2009 was $31.3omillThe weighted average remaining contractuafdifell non-
vested shares of restricted common stock and eesirstock units as of December 31, 2009 was 2a8sy

We granted nonvested stock awards at no cost igieats during the years ended December 31, 20038 2
and 2007. As of December 31, 2009, total unrec@ghcompensation expense related to non-vesteittedtstock
and restricted stock units was $17.8 million, which Company expects to recognize over a weighterthge
period of approximately 1.75 years. Total unrecegdicompensation expense may be increased or dedrea
future periods for subsequent grants or forfeitures

Of the 421,102 shares of the Company’s restridiecksand restricted stock units vesting duringytear ended
December 31, 2009, the Company repurchased 148rés at an aggregate purchase price of appretimat
$1.6 million pursuant to the stockholder’s rightlenthe Plans to elect to use common stock tofgasis
withholding obligations. The repurchased sharesweabsequently retired.

Treasury Stock

Prior to December 31, 2009, the Company repurcha8@®46 shares of common stock as a result ofceest
stock forfeitures due to employee terminations stmares repurchased pursuant to the stockholdghsuihder the
Plans to elect to use common stock to satisfy téixhelding obligations. As of December 31, 2009 caltstanding
treasury stock was retired, and the Company’s Bo&Rirectors has determined to retire treasurglstgoon
repurchase prospectively. The carrying value ofstheres of $2.8 million was reclassified to addaiopaid-in
capital.

Common Stock Warrants

In prior years, the Company had granted an aggeerfat03,368 warrants to purchase common stock. The
common stock warrants began to expire in Febru@®s2hrough to April 2015 with exercise prices riaiggrom
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$3.00 to $24.50. As of December 31, 2009, warrenfairchase 24,375 shares of common stock weréaodisg.
As of December 31, 2008, warrants to purchase B6GB@res of common stock were outstanding.

Shares Reserved for Issuance

At December 31, 2009, the Company had reserveflifore issuance the following shares of commonkstoc
upon the exercise of options and warrants:

Common stock available for future issuances un@ev Zquity Incentive Pla 2,446,27
Common stock available for outstanding options amebsted restricted stock un 1,180,09:
Common stock warran 24,37t

3,650,75!

14. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has a 401(k) Plan for the benefitlafrabloyees who meet certain eligibility requirensehis
plan covers substantially all of the Company’s-fitie employees. Effective January 1, 2009, the Qamy
suspended the employer match and did not makerapioger contributions during the year ended Decerfitie
2009. The Company made $366,000 and $343,000 inilcations to the 401(k) Plan for the years ended
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

15. Related Party Transactions

During 2009, the Company entered into a Licensimd) ervices agreement with a third party for which
director of the Company is also a member of theltparty’s board of directors. The Company recoggi$319,000
of revenue pursuant to such agreement during thegreded December 31, 2009. In relation to thisitzparty,
there was $257,000 included in accounts receiviadliences as of December 31, 2009.

During December 2007, the Company entered into\acgs agreement with an aggregated value of
approximately $150,000 with a third party for whitle Chairman of the Board of the Company is alsteaber of
the third party’s board of directors. As of Decem®g, 2007, no services were provided and no ansouate
payable to the third party. In 2008, this thirdtparovided services with an aggregated value 62$200. This
amount was paid by the Company during 2008. Asexddnber 31, 2008, no amounts were payable to ittte th

party.
16. Geographic Information

The Company attributes revenues to customers lmas#tk location of the customer. The compositiothef
Company'’s sales to unaffiliated customers betwhegd in the United States and those in other loestior each
year is set forth belov

Year Ended December 31

2009 2008 2007
(In thousands)
United State: $108,01° $100,89* $77,02¢
Canade 6,192 5,821 4,674
United Kingdom/Othe 13,53 10,64¢ 5,45(
Total Revenue $127,74( $117,37: $87,15:
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The composition of the Company’s property and eqpaipt between those in the United States and tmose i
other countries as of the end of each year isostt below:

December 31

2009 2008
(In thousands)
United State: $17,02: $17,46¢
Canads 23 66
United Kingdom 25€ 162
Total $17,30: $17,69]

17. Restructuring

During the fourth quarter of 2009, the Company amoed a restructuring program and reduced its toesdc
by approximately forty-six full-time positions. llutled in operating expenses is a $563,000 chatgedeto
severance and other costs directly related togtieation of our workforce. In addition, includedsitock-based
compensation expense for the year ended Decemb208%, was approximately $175,000 due to resttisteck
awards that were modified to accelerate vestingaaisof the restructuring plan. As of DecemberZ1Q9, the
Company had approximately $148,000 in outstandésgructuring liability consisting of employee seamre that
the Company expects to pay during the first quart@010.
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18. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

Three Months Ended

Dec. 31, Sep. 30 Jun. 30, Mar. 31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30 Jun. 30, Mar. 31,
2009 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008 2008
(In thousands, except share and per share dat

Revenue! $ 3382% 3191¢$ 31,37+ $ 3062« $ 3159($ 3066:% 2875($ 26,37(
Cost of revenues(: 9,54 9,45¢ 9,69¢ 10,03¢ 10,27¢ 9,412 7,857 7,017
Selling and marketing(J 10,89¢ 10,24! 10,32¢ 10,48t¢ 10,28: 10,65¢ 9,51¢€ 8,94t
Research and development 4,617 4,677 4,52¢ 4,00 3,99/ 4,131 3,637 3,07(C
General and administrative( 5,351 4,35:% 4,01t 4,507 4,18¢ 4,26¢€ 4,44¢ 3,88¢
Amortization 42F 38t 327 32C 32¢ 34¢€ 122 7

Total expenses from operatio 30,841 29,111 28,894 29,35¢ 29,06¢ 28,81« 25,57¢ 22,92¢
Income from operatior 2,98t 2,80¢ 2,48( 1,27(C 2,521 1,84 3,17¢ 3,44t
Interest and other income, r 62 39 134 17t 28t 267 492 81¢
(Loss) gain from foreign currenc (80) (72) 7 12 (302) 12z (87) (55)
Gain on sale (impairment) of

marketable securitie 89 — — — (1,39¢) (45E) (38€) —
Income before income tax 3,05¢€ 2,77: 2,621 1,457 1,10¢ 1,78z 3,19: 4,20¢
(Provisions) benefit for income

taxes (1,494 (1,82¢) (1,436 (1,180 19,26 (1,207) (1,487) (1,67¢)
Net income $ 1,562 $ 94F $ 1,18t $ 277 $ 20,36¢ $ 57 $ 1,71 $ 2,531
Net income attributable to comm

stockholders $ 1,562 $ 94t $ 1,18t $ 277 $ 20,36¢ $ 57t $ 1,71C $ 2,531

Basic $ 0.0t $ 0.0: $ 0.04 $ 0.01 % 0.7C $ 0.0z $ 0.0¢€ $ 0.0¢

Diluted $ 0.0t $ 0.0: $ 0.04 $ 0.01 $ 0.67 $ 0.0z $ 0.0€ $ 0.0¢
Weighted-average number of

shares used in per share

calculation— common stocl

Basic 30,306,34 30,204,14 30,052,51 29,477,36 29,032,42 28,878,49 28,651,06 28,200,93

Diluted 31,238,73 31,157,22 31,008,67 30,461,97 30,271,52 30,389,51 30,269,94 29,998,49
Net income attributable to comm

stockholders per common sha

subject to put

Basic $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — $ — % 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢

Diluted $ — $ — % — $ — $ — $ — % 0.0€ $ 0.0¢
Weighted-average number of

shares used in per share

calculation — common stock

subject to pu

Basic — — — — — — 2,981 135,63!

Diluted — — — — — — 2,981 135,63!
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Three Months Ended

COMSCORE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)

Dec. 31, Sep.30 Jun.30, Mar.31, Dec. 31, Sep. 30, Jun. 30, Mar. 31,
2009 2009 2009 2009 2008 2008 2008 2008
Cost of revenue $ 26z $ 277 $ 327 $ 32C $251 $26& $204 $141
Selling and marketin 1,04¢ 1,23¢ 1,22¢ 1,11: 78¢€ 797 60% 421
Research and developmt 282 28t 30¢€ 23¢ 19¢ 22t 16¢ 114
General and administratiy 88¢ 75k 672 62¢ 59¢ 617 612 467

19. Subsequent Event:

On February 19, 2009, the Company acquired Indiss@d ARSgroup, a leading technology-driven market
research firm that measures the persuasion of tslmgron TV and multi-media platforms. The Compaayd
approximately $17.0 million of cash to acquire thestanding equity of ARSGroup. The Company hasrired
transaction costs associated with the acquisifisra result of the acquisition, the Company alsuaged facility
leases, certain liabilities and commitments of ARS(p. Management is currently evaluating the pusehaice

allocation following consummation of the transawtio
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURE!
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Finand@ficer, after evaluating the effectiveness of disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Securitieh&nge Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) Rules 134e) and
15d-15(e)) as of the end of the period coverechisyreport (the “Evaluation Date”), have concludeat as of the
Evaluation Date, our disclosure controls and proceslare effective, in all material respects, tsuea that
information required to be disclosed in the reptrét we file and submit under the Exchange Ads(iecorded,
processed, summarized and reported as and wheinegqund (ii) is accumulated and communicated to ou
management, including our Chief Executive Officed £hief Financial Officer, as appropriate, to ailimely
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control dvancial reporting that occurred during the founytharter of
2009 that have materially affected, or are readlyriddely to materially affect, our internal controver financial
reporting.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahcia
reporting, as such term is defined in ExchangeRdes 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)nder the supervision and with
participation of our management, including our Clirecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, wenducted
an evaluation of the effectiveness of our integmadtrol over financial reporting as of December 2109, based on
the guidelines established in Internal Control te¢mated Framework issued by the Committee of Sporg
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSOY.iernal control over financial reporting inclidpolicies
and procedures that provide reasonable assuragardieg the reliability of financial reporting atite preparation
of financial statements for external reporting msgs in accordance with U.S. generally acceptesuating
principles. Based on that evaluation, managemeamtladed that our internal control over financigioging was
effective at December 31, 2009.

Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered pusticounting firm, which audits our consolidatedafinial
statements, has issued an attestation report agffgetiveness of our internal control over finaieeporting
included at the end of this section.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of comScorénc.

We have audited comScore, Inc.’s internal contv@rdinancial reporting as of December 31, 200$glzon
criteria established in Internal Control — Integaframework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the C@8t@ria). comScore, Inc.’s management is respda $dv
maintaining effective internal control over finaalcieporting, and for its assessment of the effeatss of internal
control over financial reporting included in thecampanying ManagemestAnnual Report on Internal Control o
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to exgg@n opinion on the company’s internal controlr dwencial
reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadgdof the Public Company Accounting OversightriBoa
(United States). Those standards require that ame ghd perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout
whether effective internal control over financieporting was maintained in all material respects. &udit included
obtaining an understanding of internal control dugincial reporting, assessing the risk that aemaltweakness
exists, testing and evaluating the design and ¢ipgraffectiveness of internal control based onabsessed risk,
and performing such other procedures as we comsldercessary in the circumstances. We believethaudit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonablesassu
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of financial statements for exaepurposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipfeez A company’s internal control over finanaiaporting
includes those policies and procedures that (Iajpeto the maintenance of records that, in reasiendetail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disgositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideweasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as ngctsparmit preparation of financial statementa@cordance wit
generally accepted accounting principles, andréwdipts and expenditures of the company are beadg only in
accordance with authorizations of management anedtdirs of the company; and (3) provide reasonasdeirance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauitex acquisition, use or disposition of the compaassets that
could have a material effect on the financial stegets.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or dete
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluatibeffectiveness to future periods are subjecheorisk that
controls may become inadequate because of chamgesdlitions, or that the degree of compliance wWithpolicies
or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, comScore, Inc. maintained, in adlterial respects, effective internal control oveanfcial
reporting as of December 31, 2009, based on theCCEOeria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boar
(United States), the consolidated balance sheatsro&core, Inc. as of December 31, 2009 and 20@Bilee relate
consolidated statements of operations, stockhdldgtsty (deficit), and cash flows for each of tieee years in the
period ended December 31, 2009 of comScore, Intoanreport dated March 12, 2010 expressed analifiqd
opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

McLean, Virginia
March 12, 2010
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART IlI

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNXCE

The information required by Item 10 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemantife
2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, anticipatetdediled with the SEC within 120 days after thel efithe fisca
year ended December 31, 2009. Certain informagqguired by this item concerning our executive @ifficis se
forth in Part I, Item 1 of this Annual Report onrfpol10-K under “Executive Officers of the Registfant

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemantife
2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, anticipatetdediled with the SEC within 120 days after thel efi the fisca
year ended December 31, 20

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemamtiie
2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, anticipatetdediled with the SEC within 120 days after thel efi the fisca
year ended December 31, 20

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLANS

The following table summarizes our equity compenonsaplans as of December 31, 2009:

Number of Weighted-
Securities to b Average Number of Securities
Issued Upon Exercise Remaining Available for
Exercise of Price of Future Issuance Under
Outstanding Outstanding Equity Compensation
Options, Options, Plans (Excluding
Warrants and Warrants Securities Reflected ir
Rights and Rights Column (a))
Plan Categor (a) (b) (©
Equity compensation plans approved by security drs 1,180,090 $ 1.7¢ 2,446,27(1)
Equity compensation plans not approved by security
holders — — —
Total 1,180,090 § 1.7¢ 2,446,27

(1) Our 2007 Equity Incentive Plan provides for anrninateases in the number of shares available faaisse
thereunder on the first day of each fiscal yeagiréng with our 2008 fiscal year, equal to thesteaf: (i) 4% of
the outstanding shares of our common stock oratstediay of the immediately preceding fiscal year;

(i) 1,800,000 shares; or (iii) such other amounbar board of directors may determi

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, ANCDIRECTOR
INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemamtiie
2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, anticipatetediled with the SEC within 120 days after thel efi the fisca
year ended December 31, 20
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ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 of Form 10-Krisorporated by reference to our Proxy Statemamtiie
2010 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, anticipatetediled with the SEC within 120 days after thel efi the fisca
year ended December 31, 20

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part é thnnual Report on Form 10-K:

(1) Financial Statements. See Index to Consolidabedncial Statements at Item 8 of this Report on
Form 10-K.

(2) All other schedules are omitted as the requimémrmation is inapplicable or the information is
presented in the Consolidated Financial Statermramdsotes thereto in Item 8 of Part Il of this AahReport

on Form 10-K.

(3) Exhibits. The exhibits filed as part of thipoet are listed under “Exhibits” at subsection ¢b}his
Item 15.

(b) Exhibits
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Exhibit No.
2.1(1)

3.1(2)
3.2(2)
4.1(2)
4.2(2)

43(2)
4.4(2)

10.1(2)
10.2(3)
10.3(2)
10.4(2)
10.5(2)
10.6(4)
10.7(2)
10.8(2)
10.9(2)

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit Document

Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated May 28, 200&umt comScore, Inc., OpinionCounts, Inc.,
M:Metrics, Inc. and Randolph L. Austin, Jr., asctmolder Representative. (Exhibit 2.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatiothe Registrant (Exhibit 3.3

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant (iixBi4)

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (Exhibit <

Fourth Amended and Restated Investor Rights Agraelmeand among comScore Networks, Inc.
and certain holders of preferred stock, dated Augju2003 (Exhibit 4.2

Amendment, Waiver and Termination Agreement by amoéng comScore, Inc. and certain holders
of preferred stock, dated June 8, 2007 (Exhibi2Qx

Warrant to purchase 108,382 shares of Series D&tible Preferred Stock, dated July 31, 2002
(Exhibit 4.10)

Form of Indemnification Agreement for directors anabcutive officers (Exhibit 10.:

1999 Stock Plan (Exhibit 4.

Form of Stock Option Agreement under 1999 Stock PExhibit 10.3)

Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock PurehBgght under 1999 Stock Plan (Exhibit 1C
Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unitslar 1999 Stock Plan (Exhibit 10.

2007 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and resfagd?9, 2009 (Exhibit 10.:

Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option under 2@Xjuity Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.’

Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock und@®2 Equity Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.

Form of Notice of Grant of Restricted Stock Unitelar 2007 Equity Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10

10.10(2 Stock Option Agreement with Magid M. Abraham, dalBstember 16, 2003 (Exhibit 10.1
10.11(2 Stock Option Agreement with Gian M. Fulgoni, dai@ecember 16, 2003 (Exhibit 10.1
10.12(5, Deed of Lease between South of Market LLC (as Lenddlland comScore, Inc. (as Tenant), dated

December 21, 2007 (Exhibit 10.

10.13(6 Summary of 2008 Executive Compensation Bonus P

10.14(7, Summary of 2009 Executive Compensation Bonus P¢layibit 10.22)
10.15(8 Letter Agreement with Kenneth J. Tarpey, dated IApr2009 (Exhibit 10.1
10.16(4 Letter Agreement with John M. Green, dated May2Z2@9 (Exhibit 10.2

211
231
24.1
311

312

321

32.2

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of Ernst & Youn

Power of Attorney (see signature pa

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursudo Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putgaa®ection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursudo Rule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted putgagection 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuantt8 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbar-Oxley Act of 2002

* The Registrant has omitted certain schedules ahibbieidentified therein in accordance with Ite®l@)(2) o
Regulation S-K. The registrant will furnish the dt®d schedules and exhibits to the Securities amthdnge
Commission upon reque:
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(1) Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thgifeant’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed May, 2808
(File No. 000-1158172). The number given in pares#s indicates the corresponding exhibit numbsudh
Form &K.

(2) Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thgiReant's Registration Statement on Form S-1 nasraled,
dated June 26, 2007 (No. 333-141740). The numhendn parentheses indicates the correspondind#xhi
number in suclForm &-1.

(3) Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thgiReant's Registration Statement on Form S-8,nasraled,
dated July 2, 2007 (No. 333-144281). The numbegrgin parentheses indicates the corresponding iexhib
number in suclForm ¢£-8.

(4) Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thgiReant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed Ay 10,
2009 (File No. 000-1158172). The number given ireptheses indicates the corresponding exhibit nammbe
suchForm 1(-Q.

(5) Incorporated by reference to the exhibits to thgifeant's Current Report on Form 8-ed February 5, 200
(File No. 000-1158172). The number given in pares#s indicates the corresponding exhibit numbsudh
Form &K.

(6) Incorporated by reference to the Registrant’s GurReport on Form 8-K, filed December 27, 2007¢Fil
No. 00(-1158172).

(7) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to theiRegnt’'s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed Marc, 2009
(File No. 000-1158172). The number given in paresd#is indicates the corresponding exhibit numbsudh
Form 1(-K.

(8) Incorporated by reference to the exhibit to theiReant's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed Apri),22009
(File No. 000-1158172). The number given in paresd#is indicates the corresponding exhibit numbsudh
Form &K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas
duly caused this report to be signed on its behathe undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

COMSCORE, INC.

By: /sl MAGID M. ABRAHAM, FH.D.

Magid M. Abraham, Ph.D.
President, Chief Executive
Officer and Director

March 12, 2010

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below hereby
constitutes and appoints Magid M. Abraham, Ph.[. Kkenneth J. Tarpey, and each of them acting iddadly, as
his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agenith full power of each to act alone, with full pomseof substitution
and resubstitution, for him and in his name, plkace stead, in any and all capacities, to sign adyal amendmen
to this Annual Report on Form 10-K with all exhgthereto and all documents in connection therewitti the
Securities and Exchange Commission, granting uaitbattorneys-in-fact and agents, with full pow&each to act
alone, full power and authority to do and performateand every act and thing requisite and necessdny done in
connection therewith, as fully for all intents gonatposes as he might or could do in person, hewgifying and
confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and ageor his or their substitutes, may lawfully docause to be done
by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bélpthe
following persons on behalf of the registrant amthie capacities and on the dates indicated.

Signature Title Date
/sl MacGID M. ABRAHAM, FH.D. President, Chief Executive Officer and March 12, 201
Magid M. Abraham, Ph.C Director (Principal Executive Officer)

/sl KENNETH J. TARPEY Chief Financial Officer (Principal March 12, 201
Kenneth J. Tarpe Financial and Accounting Officer)

/sl GIAN M. FULGONI Executive Chairman of the Board of March 12, 201

Gian M. Fulgoni Directors
s/ JEFFREY GANEK Director March 12, 201
Jeffrey Ganel
/s/ BRUCE GOLDEN Director March 12, 201

Bruce Golder

/s/ WILLIAM J. FENDERSON Director March 12, 201
William J. Hendersol
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Signature

/sl WiLLIAM KATZ

William Katz

/s RoNALD J. KORN

Ronald J. Korr

Is/ JARL MOHN

Jarl Mohn
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Title

Director

Director

Director

Date

March 12, 201

March 12, 201

March 12, 201



Name of
Subsidiary

comScore Brand Awareness, L.L.
Creative Knowledge, Inc
Gatesmith Enterprises, In
Marketscore, Inc

TMRG, Inc.

VoiceFive Networks, Inc
comScore Europe, In
comScore Canada, Ir
comScore Japan, K.
comScore Asia Limite:
M:Metrics, Inc.
M:Metrics Limited

Jurisdiction of Incorporation

Exhibit 21.1

Delaware, U.S.A
Delaware, U.S.A
Delaware, U.S.A
Delaware, U.S.A

Delaware, U.S.A
Delaware, U.S.A
Delaware, U.S.A
Ontario, Canad
Japar

Hong Kong
Delaware, U.S./
United Kingdom



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-144p@ttaining to the 1999 Stock Plan and the 20QJitizdncentive Plan of comScore,
Inc.;

(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-15%@5taining to the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan ofmScore, Inc.; and
(3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-159p26taining to the 2007 Equity Incentive Plan ofmScore, Inc.

of our report dated March 12, 2010, with respe¢h®consolidated financial statements of comSdare,and our report dated March 12,
2010, with respect to the effectiveness of inteoaaitrol over financial reporting of comScore, |nocluded in this Annual Report (Form 10-
K) of comScore, Inc. for the year ended Decembe2809.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

McLean, Virginia
March 12, 2010



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Magid M. Abraham, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&f¥K of comScore, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescantain any untrue statement of a material facoit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statetsy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officardal are responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls andgahaies, or caused such disclosure controls an@guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly durihg tperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over finaheporting, or caused such internal control direancial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgadiang the reliability of financial reporting atfie preparation of financial statements
for external purposes in accordance with geneeatepted accounting principles;

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regd’s disclosure controls and procedures and presentais report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proees] as of the end of the period covered by #psit based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change inrdgistrant’s internal control over financial refiiog that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officardal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiafuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and mateviedaknesses in the design or operation of intemmatrol over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regigteaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, tmatilves management or other employees who haygnéisant role in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reporting.

/sIMaGIiD M. ABRAHAM, FH.D.
Magid M. Abraham, Ph. D
President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director

Date: March 12, 2010



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANTT O
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Kenneth J. Tarpey, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on F&f¥K of comScore, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescantain any untrue statement of a material facioit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statetsy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtife periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officardal are responsible for establishing and maintgimisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(&) designed such disclosure controls and piwes, or caused such disclosure controls and gwoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahetporting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramzgdeng the reliability of financial reporting attie preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

(c) evaluated the effectiveness of the regd’s disclosure controls and procedures and presentai report our conclusions about
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

(d) disclosed in this report any change inrdgistrant’s internal control over financial refiiog that occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repod) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intedl control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officardal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiafuof internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and materiedaknesses in the design or operation of intematral over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, tmatilves management or other employees who havgnéisant role in the registrant’s
internal controls over financial reporting.

/s/ KENNETH J. TARPEY
Kenneth J. Tarpe)
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 12, 2010



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT T O
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of com®g¢dnc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the pe&fiending December 31, 2009 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), I, Magid M. Abraham,i€ftExecutive Officer of the

Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 135Qdspted pursuant to 8 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley®2002, that to my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiesiange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Repoitlygpresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of
Company.

/sI MAaGID M. ABRAHAM, FH.D.
Magid M. Abraham, Ph. D

President, Chief Executive Officer
and Director

March 12, 2010



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANTT O
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the annual report of com®g¢dnc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the pe&fiending December 31, 2009 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), Kenneth J. Tarpey, Chief Financial Officer o tGompany
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adoptedyant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2618t to my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securitiesiange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Repoitlygpresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operations of
Company.

/s/ KENNETH J. TARPEY
Kenneth J. Tarpe)
Chief Financial Officer

March 12, 2010



